
 

  

 
 

 
 
 

NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 

DATE: Wednesday, December 17, 2025 

TIME: 6:00 p.m. Closed Session 

 7:00 p.m. Open Session (time approximate) 

LOCATION: Zone 7 Administration Building 

 100 North Canyons Parkway, Livermore 

LIVE STREAMING: Comcast Channel 29 

 AT&T U-Verse Channel 99 (Livermore) 

 Streaming Live at tv29live.org 
 

THERE IS NO HYBRID OPTION AVAILABLE FOR THIS MEETING. 
 

ADDITIONAL TELECONFERENCE LOCATION (Gov’t Code 54953(b)): 
 

     6814 SE 155th Ave. 
        Portland, OR 97236 

 
 

Any member of the public wishing to address the Board on an item under discussion 
may do so upon receiving recognition from the President. If the public wishes to 
provide comment before the meeting, please email publiccomment@zone7water.com 
by 5:00 p.m. on Tuesday, December 16. 
 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the meeting room is wheelchair 
accessible and disabled parking is available at the Zone 7 Administrative Building lot. If 
you are a person with a disability and you need disability-related modifications or 
accommodations to participate in this meeting, please contact the Executive Assistant, 
Donna Fabian, at (925) 454-5000. Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will 
enable Zone 7 to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this 
meeting. {28 CFR 35.102-35, 104 ADA Title II}. 
 

https://www.tri-valleytv.org/?q=node/34
mailto:publiccomment@zone7water.com
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AGENDA 

 
1. Call Zone 7 Water Agency Meeting to Order 
 
2. Closed Session 
 

a. Conference with Real Property Negotiators: Property: APNs 99-525-2, 99-550-2-3, 
99-550-3-2, 99A-2700-2-5, 99A-2700-6-6, 99A-2700-9- 8, 99A-2700-10, 99A-2700-
11-3, 99A-2700-12-6, 99A-2700-12-7, 99A-2420-4-13, 96-420-2, 96-420-3, 96-429-
6, 99A-2701-1, 99A-2701-2, 99A-2701-3.  
Agency Negotiators: Valerie Pryor/Rebecca Smith 
Under negotiation: Price and terms 

 
b. Conference with Labor Negotiators pursuant to Government Code § 54954.5: 

Agency Negotiators: Valerie Pryor/Osborn Solitei/Shelisa Jackson. Employee 
Organizations: Alameda County Management Employees Association; Alameda 
County Building and Construction Trades Council, Local 342, AFL-CIO; International 
Federation of Professional and Technical Engineers, Local 21, AFL-CIO; Local 1021 
of the Service Employees International Union, CTW; Unrepresented Management 

 
c. Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing litigation pursuant to Gov’t Code § 

54956.9(d) (1): (1) State Water Contractors v. California Department of Fish & 
Wildlife (JCCP Case No. 5117), (2) Stark v. Alameda County Flood Control and Water 
Conservation District, Zone 7 (Alameda County Superior Court Case No. 22-CV-
5837), (3) Bautista v. Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation 
District, Zone 7 (Alameda County Superior Court Case No. 22-CV-10679); (4) In re: 
Aqueous Film-Forming Foams Products Liability Litigation (S.D. South Carolina, MDL 
No. 2: 18-mn-2873-RMG); (5) (Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of § 54956.9) Tulare 
Lake Basin Water Storage District v. California Department of Water Resources, 
Sacramento County Superior Court Case No. 24WM000006 and related cases. 

 
d. Conference with Legal Counsel (Anticipated Litigation) – Initiation of litigation 

pursuant to § 54956.9(c) (one case) 
 
3. Open Session and Report Out of Closed Session 
 
4. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
5. Roll Call of Directors 

 
6. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 

The Public Comment section provides an opportunity to address the Board of Directors on 
items that are not listed on the agenda, or informational items pertinent to the Agency's 
business. The Board welcomes your comments and requests that speakers present their 
remarks in a respectful manner, within established time limits, and focus on issues which 
directly affect the agency or are within the jurisdiction of the Agency. The Board will not be 
able to act on matters brought to its attention under this item until a future Board meeting.  
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7. Minutes 
a. Regular Board Meeting Minutes of November 19, 2025 

 
8. Consent Calendar 

a. AB1600 Annual Report on the Collection and Use of Development Fees: Annual 
Report for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 

b. Award a Contract for Water Operations Database and Reporting Support Services 
c. Award a Contract for Chain of Lakes Treatment Plant Hexavalent Chromium Removal 

Study 
d. Authorize a Grant of Easement and Maintenance Use License Agreement to the City 

of Dublin at Alamo Creek 
e. Award a Contract for Fire System and Extinguisher Services 
f. Award a Contract for Janitorial Services 
g. Adopt Revised Legislative Framework and Platform 

 
Recommended Action: Adopt Resolutions 

 
9. Commendation for Retirement of Operations Manager Rich Gould 
 

Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution 
 
10. Independent Auditors’ Report and Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal 

Year Ended June 30, 2025 
 

Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution 
 
11. Temporary Adjournment/Continuance of Zone 7 Water Agency Meeting 
 
12. Call Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority (LVWFA) Regular Meeting to Order 
 
13. Roll Call of LVWFA Board 
 
14. Public Comment 

This is an opportunity for members of the public to speak about an item not listed on the 
agenda. The Board cannot deliberate or act on a non-agenda item unless it is an 
emergency as defined under Government Code § 54954.2. 

 
15. Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority Water Revenue Bonds, 2018 & 2023 Series A 

for the Year Ended June 30, 2025, Update  
 

  Recommended Action: Information Only 
 
16. Adjournment of Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority Regular Meeting 
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17. Call Zone 7 Water Agency Meeting to Order 
 
18. Recommend Approval of a Candidate Statement Funding Policy 
 

Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution 
 
19. Committees 

a. Finance Committee Meeting Notes of November 12, 2025 
 
20. Reports – Directors 

a. Verbal Comments by President 
b. Written Reports 
c. Verbal Reports 

 
21. Items for Future Agenda – Directors 
 
22. Staff Reports 

a. General Manager’s Report 
b. November Outreach Activities 
c. Monthly Water Inventory and Water Budget Update 

 
23. Adjournment 
 
24. Upcoming Board Schedule: (All meeting locations are in the Boardroom at 100 N. Canyons 

Pkwy., Livermore, unless otherwise noted.) 
a. Legislative Committee Meeting: January 8, 2026, 4:00 p.m. 
b. Regular Board Meeting: January 21, 2026, 7:00 p.m. 



ITEM NO. 7a 

 

 
 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

ZONE 7 
 

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

November 19, 2025 
 
Directors Present: Dawn Benson 
 Catherine Brown 
 Sandy Figuers 
 Dennis Gambs 
 Laurene Green 
 Kathy Narum 
 Sarah Palmer 
 
Staff Present: Valerie Pryor, General Manager 
 Chris Hentz, Assistant General Manager – Engineering 
 Osborn Solitei, Treasurer/Assistant General Manager – Finance 
 Carol Mahoney, Government Relations Manager 
 Shelisa Jackson, Human Resources Manager 
 JaVia Green, Financial Analyst 
 Donna Fabian, Executive Assistant/Board Secretary 
 
General Counsel: Rebecca Smith, Downey Brand 
 

 
Item 1 – Call Zone 7 Water Agency Meeting to Order 
 
The Zone 7 Water Agency meeting was called to order by President Narum at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Item 2 – Closed Session 
 
The Board went into Closed Session at 6:00 p.m., Director Figuers arrived at 6:42 p.m., and 
Closed Session was adjourned at 6:49 p.m. 
 
Item 3 – Open Session and Report Out of Closed Session 
 
There was nothing to report out of Closed Session. 
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Item 4 – Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Director Benson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Item 5 – Roll Call of Directors 
 
All Directors were present. 
 
Item 6 – Public Comment 
 
Kelly Abreu gave public comment. 
 
Item 7 – Minutes 
 
Director Palmer moved to approve the minutes of the regular Board meeting held on October 
15, 2025. The motion was seconded by Director Benson and approved unanimously by a voice 
vote of 7–0. 
 
Item 8 – Consent Calendar 
 
Kelly Abreu gave public comment. 
 
President Narum pulled Item 8d, Adopt Revised Legislative Framework and Platform, to allow  
Carol Mahoney, Government Relations Manager, to strengthen the preamble. President Narum 
stated that while the proposed revisions were good, the preamble was somewhat weak and 
should more clearly state that the Agency supports or opposes legislation based on alignment 
with its mission, values, and most importantly, its strategic plan. 
 
Ms. Mahoney stated that she recommends adding language that further clarifies the basis for 
support or opposition. She proposed the following sentence: “Positions will be evaluated for 
support or opposition based on alignment with the agency's mission, vision, values, and 
priorities of the strategic plan." She noted that this would provide clarity regarding how 
positions on potential legislation are determined. 
 
President Narum directed that this item be continued to the December Board meeting. 
 
Director Palmer moved to approve Consent Calendar Items 8a through 8c and 8e. The motion 
was seconded by Director Benson and approved by a roll-call vote of 7–0. 
 
Item 9 – Commendation for Mr. Paul Banke 
 
Valerie Pryor, General Manager, introduced the item and stated that the District wished to 
honor and commend Mr. Paul Banke for his service and dedication in managing the District-
owned 5,000-acre property adjacent to Lake Del Valle. She noted that Mr. Banke recently 
passed away and had been an exceptional steward of the land and watershed. 
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Director Palmer read the full Resolution recognizing Mr. Banke’s decades of service, his 
contributions to watershed and water quality protection, and his innovative land and ranch 
management practices. She also shared her personal admiration for Mr. Banke as an educator 
and community resource. 
 
Several Board members offered comments reflecting their experiences with Mr. Banke, noting 
his knowledge, integrity, community involvement, and long-standing stewardship of the 
property. 
 
Former Director and long-time community member John Greci spoke about Mr. Banke’s 
significant role in managing the ranch, his deep agricultural expertise, and the value he 
brought to Zone 7 and the broader ranching community. 
 
Ms. Kathleen Banke thanked the Board for the recognition and spoke about her husband’s 
lifelong dedication to ranching, land stewardship, and teaching. She expressed appreciation for 
the relationship between the family and Agency staff and affirmed that the family would 
continue his work. 
 
Director Palmer moved to approve the Resolution. Director Benson seconded the motion, and 
it passed unanimously. 
 
Item 10 – Annual Report on Human Resources Activities 
 
Shelisa Jackson, Human Resources Manager, presented the Annual Report on Human 
Resources Activities for the past 12 months (last report: November 2024). She noted HR’s role 
in supporting the Board-adopted five-year Strategic Plan (Goal A, Initiative 1 — be a preferred 
employer and maintain a high-quality workforce) and described HR’s goal to partner with the 
Agency by providing quality services and supporting programs and processes that add value to 
Zone 7 and its employees. 
 
Ms. Jackson highlighted HR communications and engagement efforts, including the HR email 
inbox, surveys, new-employee check-ins, one-on-one meetings on request, the HR suggestion 
box, and office hours at the Del Valle Water Treatment Plant. She said the goal is to develop 
and maintain a healthy and open exchange of information and ideas between HR and 
employees and reported that those efforts are going well. 
 
Key data for the year included: 
 

• 11 position/classification actions (9 new positions and 2 new classifications). 
• 19 completed full-cycle recruitments; 6 recruitments in progress; 8 recruitments in the 

queue (anticipated in Q1–Q2 2026). 
• 20 hires (15 external hires and 5 internal promotions). 
• Over 2,200 employee training hours and approximately $12,000 paid through the 

tuition reimbursement program. 
• Training breakdown: 62% HR & Safety, 16% conferences, 14% job-specific trainings, 

and 8% higher education/tuition reimbursement. 
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Ms. Jackson reviewed employee engagement events hosted during the year (Halloween 
workspace contest and winners’ pizza party, two potluck/grill events, end-of-year celebration, 
Take Your Child to Work Day, Public Service Recognition Day, and Summer Intern Breakfast). 
She noted that in February 2024 the Board adopted a Resolution supporting employee-led 
events and activities, and introduced JaVia Green, chair of the Employee-Led Initiatives (ELI) 
Committee, to provide an update. 
 
JaVia Green, ELI Committee Chair, summarized the program. The Board authorized the ELI 
program in February 2024 to foster employee-led events that build pride, ownership, and 
camaraderie; the Board approved an annual budget of $12,000 for the program. The 
committee is now in its second year and has been successful. In FY 2024–25 the committee 
developed the program mission and framework; once established, it implemented numerous 
events and purchases, including a bocce event in Livermore, an escape room activity, a 
basketball area near the North Canyons carport, volunteer activities in Livermore, bowling, and 
ping-pong tables at the treatment facilities. 
 
In the current fiscal year the committee has already hosted additional events (another bocce 
event and a fall festival with a ping-pong tournament at Patterson Pass Water Treatment 
Plant). The fall festival and tournament promoted interfacility networking by enabling staff 
from North Canyons to meet operators and maintenance staff at Patterson Pass. The 
committee has also purchased new coffee makers/Keurig machines. Committee surveys 
reflected positive feedback: one employee said the events were a great opportunity to meet 
staff from other departments, and another noted the ping-pong tables provided strong team-
building benefits. Ms. Green thanked HR and the Board for supporting the program. 
 
Ms. Jackson echoed those thanks and shared a brief anecdote about staff engagement 
(including a cornhole team). She noted the ELI program is spending its full $12,000 annual 
allocation and that the committee is preparing a grand opening for an employee gym at North 
Canyons (grand opening scheduled for December 11), with light refreshments planned. 
 
Ms. Jackson then reviewed recruitment and retention highlights. The agency filled 20 positions 
since last year, aided by a competitive benefits package, approved contract adjustments to 
keep wages competitive, longevity pay, tuition reimbursement, and alternate work schedules. 
She noted ongoing recruiting needs. 
 
She reported on the summer internship program: four interns were hosted this year (flood 
engineering, groundwater, integrated planning, and water supply engineering). Interns 
included students from UC Merced (Alex Mendoza), Cal State East Bay (Annabelle Stein), Cal 
Poly (Luis Huerta), and UC Berkeley (Titus Zhong). HR will announce the 2026 intern 
recruitment in early March. 
 
Director Green asked whether program activities can be tied to retention or recruitment 
outcomes. Ms. Jackson responded that it is early to show long-term trends but noted that 
recruiting 20 people in a year is a positive indicator. 
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Director Benson asked about recruitment challenges; Ms. Jackson identified procurement and 
mid-level engineering roles as difficult to fill due to niche skills and market competition and 
noted that operator recruitment is ongoing as some operators retire. 

 
Director Gambs asked about participation; Ms. Jackson confirmed broad cross-agency 
participation with committee representation from North Canyons and the treatment plants. 

 
Director Palmer asked whether team-building activities increased productivity; Ms. Jackson 
said she had not observed productivity metrics directly but noted an absence of disciplinary 
actions as a positive sign. 

 
President Narum asked whether the $12,000 annual allocation is sufficient. Ms. Jackson 
confirmed the committee has spent the full $12,000 in the past year. Osborn Solitei, 
Treasurer/Assistant General Manager - Finance, said the program is only in its second year so 
longitudinal data are limited but that the Board may consider the amount during next year’s 
budget process. Ms. Pryor suggested the ELI Committee prepare a proposal summarizing 
outcomes, data, and any request for an increased allocation. 
 
No action was taken. The Board thanked staff for the report. 
 
Item 11 – Proposed Municipal and Industrial Water Connection Fees for Calendar Year 2026 
 
JaVia Green, Financial Analyst, provided a verbal report on the Municipal and Industrial (M&I) 
Water Connection Fee Program. The program was established in 1972 to ensure that new 
development pays its own way. Per Board policy, the fee is updated annually to keep pace 
with inflation. Based on the change in the Engineering News-Record Construction Cost Index 
(ENR-CCI), staff recommends updating the fee for calendar year 2026. The ENR-CCI increased 
by 2.2% from September 2024 to September 2025. 
 
Ms. Green reported that the last comprehensive fee study was completed in 2016–17 and that 
an update is underway, planned for completion by spring 2026. Because 60 days must pass 
between adoption and implementation, the new fees, if approved, would take effect February 
1, 2026. The proposed fees would increase from $34,910 to $35,670 in the Alameda County 
Service Area and from $33,490 to $34,220 in the Dougherty Valley. The item was presented to 
the Finance Committee on November 12, and the committee unanimously recommended 
forwarding the item for adoption. 
 
Director Gambs asked how long the District had been using inflation adjustments in lieu of 
conducting a new study. Ms. Green responded that the practice has been in place for at least 
the past 20 years. Director Gambs asked whether the new study would reevaluate project 
costs and allocations. Ms. Green confirmed that it would. Director Gambs then asked when the 
consultant’s study would be available for use in calculating future fees. Ms. Green stated that 
staff is still developing the Capital Improvement Program (CIP), and the fee study requires 
updated CIP costs. Staff anticipates completing this work by spring 2026. She noted that the 
Board formally resolved in 2002 to keep the fee updated annually based on inflation, although 
the practice pre-dated that Resolution. Director Gambs asked whether there was a policy on 
how often the fee study should be updated. Ms. Green stated that the Board policy requires an 
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update every five years, and the recently updated Mitigation Fee Act now requires studies to 
be updated at least every eight years. 
 
Director Palmer moved to approve the Resolution. Director Benson seconded the motion. The 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
Item 12 – Recommend Approval of a Candidate Statement Funding Policy 
 
Valerie Pryor, General Manager, presented the item. She explained that the Board’s 
longstanding practice has been to not fund candidate statements. Prior to the last election, the 
Board directed the Administrative Committee to review whether a Candidate Statement 
Funding Policy should be developed. The Committee reviewed the matter, acknowledged the 
increased costs for candidate statements, and recommended maintaining the practice of not 
funding statements. 
 
The proposed policy reflects this direction and adds an optional provision allowing indigent 
candidates to request financial assistance. Such candidates would submit a certified statement 
of financial worth and supporting information for Board consideration. 
 
The Committee also asked whether Zone 7 could host candidate statements on its own 
website to avoid Registrar of Voters costs. Rebecca Smith, General Counsel, advised that this 
would not be practical or cost-effective, as translation, preparation, and many other costs 
would still be incurred. 
 
Director Palmer asked how indigency would be defined. Ms. Pryor responded that the 
proposed policy leaves the determination to the Board. Ms. Smith noted that the Elections 
Code already allows agencies to waive costs for indigent candidates. The Board may choose to 
define eligibility more precisely, such as using income thresholds or participation in programs 
like PG&E CARE. 
 
Director Palmer expressed discomfort with leaving the definition too open-ended and preferred 
objective criteria. Ms. Smith confirmed that the Board may refine the criteria. 
 
Director Green suggested the item be returned to the Administrative Committee to explore 
options and provide clearer definitions. She also raised concerns about the disproportionate 
cost burden for candidates running for a two-year seat versus a four-year seat and asked 
whether costs could be combined. 
 
Ms. Smith explained that the County controls cost allocation and such changes cannot be 
made by Zone 7. 
 
Director Gambs asked whether staff had an estimate for future candidate costs. Ms. Pryor 
stated costs are determined by the Registrar of Voters, but the trend is upward. 
 
Directors discussed how Zone 7’s election costs compare to local agencies. Ms. Pryor explained 
that comparisons are not straightforward because Zone 7 elections are at-large and involve far 
more registered voters, resulting in significantly higher printing and translation costs. 
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Director Benson asked whether candidates who do not submit statements are charged. Ms. 
Smith confirmed they are not. 
 
Directors discussed candidate strategy and public expectations. Some emphasized that voters 
rely heavily on candidate statements; others noted that viable campaigns can still succeed 
without them through letters to the editor, League of Women Voters resources, and social 
media. 
 
Directors Green and Gambs expressed interest in partly subsidizing candidate statements 
(e.g., 50/50 cost-sharing). Directors Palmer, Figuers, and Narum expressed concerns about 
ratepayer responsibility, fairness, and fiscal impact. Director Palmer suggested that if indigent 
support remains, it should include a cap and not automatically cover 100%. Board members 
agreed that additional policy options and clearer definitions should be developed. 
 
Director Green moved to send the item back to the Administrative Committee to provide 
clearer definitions of “indigent,” or consider removing the provision; develop a range of policy 
options (e.g., no subsidy, partial subsidy with percentages or caps, and other feasible 
approaches); clarify alternatives and considerations for both candidate and agency costs. 
Director Palmer seconded the motion, recommending the number of options be limited to a 
manageable set. The motion passed 6–1, with Director Figuers opposed. 
 
Staff will return the item to the Administrative Committee. Due to holiday scheduling 
constraints, the revised policy is expected to come to the Board in January 2026, prior to the 
February election call. 
 
Item 13 – Committees 
 
There were no Board comments on the Administrative or the Legislative Committee meeting 
notes. 
 
Item 14 – Reports - Directors 
 
Director Palmer reported on several meetings and activities, including the Delta Conveyance 
Project, noting that the Certification of Consistency has been filed and the CEQA 
documentation is complete. She provided an update on PFAS notification levels and reported 
on ACWA’s ongoing Executive Director search. She attended the Alameda County Special 
Districts Association membership meeting hosted by Hayward Area Recreation and Park 
District and highlighted the district’s extensive community services. She also reported on 
recent legislative updates, including SB 827, and noted that elected officials will now be 
required to complete a new two-hour financial literacy training module in addition to existing 
mandated trainings. 
 
Director Green shared a personal Veterans Day tribute honoring her two brothers, Adam Green 
and Marvin Green III, both of whom recently passed away. She spoke about their military 
service and lifelong commitment to public service and expressed gratitude to all who have 
served in the armed forces. 
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Item 15 – Items for Future Agenda – Directors 
 
No items were requested for consideration at a future Board meeting. 
 
Item 16 – Staff Reports 
 
Valerie Pryor reported that the usual staff reports were included in the packet. Regarding Item 
16a, she noted that the State has established new notification and response levels for several 
PFOS compounds. She confirmed that Zone 7 has consistently met these standards and that 
the District’s water continues to be PFOS-clean and safe to drink. 
 
Ms. Pryor also reported that the October 18 Open House was a great success. She thanked all 
Zone 7 staff who helped organize the event, as well as the partner agencies that participated. 
 
Item 17 – Adjournment 
 
President Narum adjourned the meeting at 8:45 p.m. in memory of Paul Banke. 



ITEM NO. 8a 

 
 
 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Administrative Services 
CONTACT: Osborn Solitei 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025      
 
SUBJECT: AB1600 Annual Report for Development Impact Fees: Annual Report for the Fiscal 

Year Ended June 30, 2025 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
The proposed action is in support of Strategic Plan Goal H – Fiscal Responsibility: Operate the 
Agency in a fiscally responsible manner and Initiative No. 21 – Continue to effectively manage 
financial resources in a prudent manner and demonstrate good stewardship of public funds. In 
carrying out these fiscal responsibilities, the Agency prepares the Annual Report on 
Development Impact Fees as required under the Mitigation Fee Act. 
 
Assembly Bill 1600 (AB1600), commonly known as the Mitigation Fee Act, was enacted by the 
State of California in 1987 and created Section 66000 et seq. of the Government Code. The 
Mitigation Fee Act requires the Agency to report development impact fee information annually 
and every fifth year within 180 days after the last day of each fiscal year.  
 
To ensure continued compliance with the reporting requirements under AB1600, staff 
contracted with Harris & Associates to complete the attached Annual Report for FY 2024-25. 
The report satisfies the annual reporting requirements for FY 2024-25. As the Agency prepared 
its five-year findings report in August 2025, a five-year report is not required for FY 2024–25.  
 
FUNDING: 
 
No funding impact.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution accepting the Annual Report for the Fiscal Year Ended   
June 30, 2025. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
• Resolution 
• AB1600 Annual Report for Development Impact Fees: Annual Report for the Fiscal Year 

Ended June 30, 2025



 

 

ZONE 7 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 25- 

 
INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
SECONDED BY DIRECTOR  

    
AB1600 Annual Report for Development Impact Fees: Annual Report for the 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with Strategic Plan Initiative No. 21 Continue to effectively 
manage financial resources for the Agency in a prudent manner and demonstrates good 
stewardship of public funds, staff provides an annual status report of fees collected for 
development projects to the Board; and   

WHEREAS, Assembly Bill 1600, commonly known as the Mitigation Fee Act, was 
enacted by the State of California in 1987 and created Section 66000 et seq. of the 
Government Code which established certain legal and procedural parameters for the charging 
of development impact fees.  
 

WHEREAS, the Mitigation Fee Act requires the Agency to report development impact fee 
information annually and every fifth year within 180 days after the last day of each fiscal year.  
 
 WHEARES, staff has prepared the required report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 
2025. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the 
Alameda County Flood Control & Water Conservation District hereby accepts the attached 
AB1600 Annual Report for Development Impact Fees for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2025. 

ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:    
 
AYES:  
   
NOES:    
  
ABSENT:    
 
ABSTAIN:   
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
 
By:       
      President, Board of Directors 
 



  
 

AB1600 Annual Report for Development 

Impact Fees 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

 

 

Annual Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 

 

Prepared by: 

 

1401 Willow Pass Road, Suite 500 | Concord, CA | 94520
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Executive Summary 

Development Impact Fees (DIFs) are fees imposed by a local government on new or proposed 

development projects to ensure public services and infrastructure will be sufficient to serve those 

new development projects. California state law requires local agencies, on an annual basis, to 

prepare a report on the status of their DIF program in accordance with California Assembly Bill 

1600 (AB1600). This report will serve as the Zone 7 Water Agency’s (Zone 7 or Agency) AB1600 

report for the fiscal year starting July 1, 2024, and ending June 30, 2025 (FY 2024-25).  

The Water Enterprise Capital Expansion Water Connection Fee (Water Connection Fee) was 

established on January 18, 1972, with the adoption of Ordinance FC 72-1 as amended for Zone 7. 

The ordinance applies to the Zone 7 area which includes Livermore, Pleasanton, Dublin, Sunol, 

and the surrounding communities. The Water Connection Fee Ordinance has been amended 

multiple times since its adoption with Ordinances FC 77-2, FC-86-136, and FC O-91-68. On 

February 7, 2000, Amendment No.1 to the Contract between Zone 7 and Dublin San Ramon 

Services District (DSRSD) for Municipal and Industrial Water Supply was signed. As a result of 

this amendment, DSRSD pays water connection fees at building permit issuance to Zone 7 to 

compensate for Dougherty Valley Service Area’s portion of Zone 7’s Capital Expansion Program.  

The Flood Protection and Storm Water Drainage Development Impact Fee (now named the Flood 

Protection Development Impact Fee) Ordinance was adopted in 2009 with Zone 7 Ordinance No. 

2009-01. The Ordinance adopted the fees described in the March 2009 Development Impact Fees 

for Flood Protection and Storm Water Drainage Report prepared by HDR Consultants, Inc. As of 

May18, 2009, all funds in the Special Drainage Area (SDA) Operations Fund and SDA 7-1 Trust 

Fund were transferred to the Flood Protection Development Impact Fund (Fund 210) and any 

outstanding reimbursement agreements from the SDA 7-1 were reassigned to Fund 210. On March 

7, 2010, the Zone 7 Board of Directors adopted Ordinance 2010-01, which set the fee schedule for 

the Flood Protection Development Impact Fee, including annual escalation of the fee. Ordinance 

2012-01, adopted on January 18, 2012, removed the fee escalations and maintained the fee set in 

2011. 

The Water Connection Fee was most recently updated in 2017 with the FY 2016-17 Municipal 

and Industrial Connection Fee Program Update prepared for Zone 7 by NBS; the fee basis had not 

been updated since 2011 prior to this study, but the fee is escalated annually for inflation. The 

Flood Protection Development Impact Fee has not been escalated or updated since its adoption in 

2011. Zone 7 currently collects the two (2) Development Impact Fees listed in the table below.  

Fee Fund Number 

Water Enterprise Capital Expansion Fund 130 

Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund 210 
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Section 1 – Requirements of the Mitigation Fee Act (AB1600)  

Assembly Bill 1600 (AB1600), commonly known as the Mitigation Fee Act, was enacted by the 

State of California in 1987 and created Section 66000 et. seq. of the Government Code. AB1600 

requires the Agency to report fee information annually and every fifth year. Within 180 days after 

the last day of each fiscal year, the Agency must make available the following information from 

the prior fiscal year: 

1. Brief description of the type of fee in the account or fund 

2. Amount of the fee 

3. Beginning and ending balance in the account or fund 

4. Amount of fees collected and the interest earned during the previous year 

5. Identification of each public improvement for which fees were expended and the amount 

of expenditures, including the total percentage of the cost of the public improvement that 

was funded with fees 

6. An identification of an approximate date by which the construction of the public 

improvement will commence if the local agency determines that sufficient funds have been 

collected to complete financing on an incomplete public improvement and the public 

improvement remains incomplete 

7. Description of each interfund transfer or loan made from the account, including the public 

improvement on which the transferred or loaned fees will be expended, and when each loan 

will be repaid and the rate of interest the account will receive on the loan 

8. Identification of any refunds made once determined that sufficient monies have been 

collected to fund fee-related projects 

 

On October 11, 2023, California Governor Gavin Newsom signed into law AB516 which amended 

certain portions of the Mitigation Fee Act related to the annual and five-year reporting 

requirements. Under AB516, Requirements 6 and 8 have been expanded to include: 

 

6a. Identification of each public improvement identified in the previous report and whether 

construction began on the approximate date noted 

6b. For previously identified projects that did not start construction on the approximate date in 

the previous report, the reason for the delay and a revised approximate date that the local 

agency will commence construction, if applicable 

8a. For any refunds made, the number of persons or entities identified to receive those refunds 

 

The Agency must make this information available for public review and must present it at the next 

regularly scheduled public meeting no less than fifteen (15) days after this information is made 

available to the public. This report is intended to satisfy the annual reporting requirements for FY 

2024-25. As the Agency prepared its five-year findings with the FY 2023–24 annual report that 

was received and filed in August 2025, a five-year report is not required for FY 2024–25. 
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Section 2 – Annual Report 

The following section provides information necessary to meet the legal requirements for each 

impact fee fund.  This includes a brief description of the fee, the amount of the fee, the beginning 

and ending balances, fee revenues collected, interest earned, and the expenditures on each project 

including the percentage that was funded with fees. It also includes a table summary of whether 

sufficient funds have been identified to complete future projects and the approximate date by which 

the construction of the public improvement will commence if sufficient funds have been identified. 

Any transfers or loans are also identified as well as any refunds from the account. 

Fund 130: Water Enterprise Capital Expansion Fund  

Requirement 1. Brief description of the type of fee in the account or fund.  

The Water Connection Fees are used to 

fund water acquisitions and expansion to 

the Zone 7 water supply, treatment, and 

delivery systems.  

 

Requirement 2. Amount of the fee. 

The Water Connection Fees for FY 2024-25 are summarized in Table 1 below. The amount 

of the fee charged is determined by the size of the water meter to be installed. Table 1 lists 

the fee for a 5/8” meter and fee per dwelling unit equivalent (DUE). The fee is charged per 

DUE factor for different meter sizes and is escalated annually on January 1st. The complete 

fee schedules are included in Appendix A. 

Table 1: Water Connection Fees 

 
 

 

 

 

Land Use

Fee charged from  

1/1/2024 - 12/31/2024

Fee effective as of 

1/1/2025

Alameda County Service Area

    Per Dwelling Unit Equivalent (5/8" Meter) 34,530$                           34,910$                             

Dougherty Valley Service Area

    Per Dwelling Unit Equivalent (5/8" Meter) 33,130$                           33,490$                             
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Requirement 3. Beginning and ending balance in the account or fund. 

 

Table 2 summarizes the beginning and ending fund balances for the Water Enterprise 

Capital Expansion Fund for FY 2024-25. 

 

Requirement 4. Amount of fees collected and the interest earned during the previous year. 

 

Table 2 summarizes the fees collected and the interest earned for the Water Enterprise 

Capital Expansion Fund during FY 2024-25. 

Table 2: Water Enterprise Capital Expansion Fund Summary 

   

Fund 130

Water Enterprise Capital Expansion Fund

Beginning Fund Balance as of July 1, 2024 $59,181,047

Revenues

Fees Collected $22,940,367

Interest from Investment $3,832,187

Interest from Other Sources $180,903

Cost Sharing Agreement Revenue $498,394

Department of Water Resources Refunds $3,139,167

Other Revenues $318,001

Total Revenues $30,909,019

Expenses

Project Expenses $18,537,137

Other Expenditures

Administration $537,306

Debt Service Costs $278,304

Financial Planning $73,433

Water Utility Planning $145,615

Pension Expense - GASB 68 Adjustment $19,878

OPEB Expense - GASB 75 Adjustment $5,539

Total Expenses $19,597,212

Transfers In $0

Transfers Out $0

Ending Fund Balance as of June 30, 2025 $70,492,855

Source: Zone 7 Water Agency Financial Documents

Note: Small variances may appear due to rounding. 
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Requirement 5. Identification of each public improvement for which fees were expended and the 

amount of expenditures, including the total percentage of the cost of the public improvement that 

was funded with fees. 

Table 3 summarizes the expenditures this past year on Water Enterprise Capital Expansion 

Fund projects. 

  



_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 6 

 

Requirement 6. An identification of an approximate date by which the construction of the public 

improvement will commence if the local agency determines that sufficient funds have been 

collected to complete financing on an incomplete public improvement and the public improvement 

remains incomplete. Identification of each public improvement identified in the previous report 

and whether construction began on the approximate date noted. For previously identified projects 

that did not start construction on the approximate date in the previous report, the reason for the 

delay and a revised approximate date that the local agency will commence construction, if 

applicable. 

Table 3 summarizes the planned future expenditures for the Water Enterprise Capital 

Expansion Fund projects and the anticipated construction start date for each project. If the 

approximate start date for a project has been revised from the last AB1600 Report, the 

reason is listed. 



 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Annual Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 7 

 

Table 3: Water Enterprise Capital Expansion Fund Projects 

  

 

Project No. Project Name Project Budget
1

Fund Budget
2

Expenditures to 

Date

FY24-25

Actual 

Expenditures

Future 

Expenditures

% Funded 

by Fee

Approx. 

Construction 

Start Date
3

Approx. 

Construction Start 

Date (Revised for 

FY24-25)

Reason for Revised 

Start Date 

(if applicable)

COM0004 2024 Study AMP and CIP Management 1,132,000$             250,000$             54,990$              45,390$                149,620$                  22% 2024 n/a n/a

COM0011 Chain of Lakes Planning 244,551$                85,540$               85,540$              -$                     -$                         35% Ongoing n/a n/a

COM0033 PPWTP Upgrades 65,000,000$           45,500,000$        43,842,645$       158,585$              1,498,770$               70% 2017 Ongoing n/a

COM0034 PPWTP Ozonation 45,000,000$           22,500,000$        21,979,115$       75,201$                445,684$                  50% 2017 Ongoing n/a

COM0038 Chain of Lakes Conveyance System 175,600,000$         82,532,000$        525,251              102,868$              81,903,881$             47% 2032 n/a n/a

SP50 North Canyons Renewal/Replacement and Improvements 285,000$                14,250$               -$                   -$                     14,250$                    5% Ongoing n/a n/a

W42 El Charro Pipeline Phase 2 18,550,000$           18,550,000$        -$                   -$                     18,550,000$             100% 2029 n/a n/a

DS54 Patterson Pass Pipeline Enlargement & Replacement 25,260,000$           16,924,200$        -$                   -$                     16,924,200$             67% 2030 n/a n/a

COL10 Chain of Lakes Facilit ies & Improvements - Water Supply 1,300,000$             910,000$             -$                   -$                     910,000$                  70% 2027 n/a n/a

WP7 Fourth Contractor's Share of the SBA - Payments to DWR 57,000,000$           57,000,000$        33,000,000$       3,000,000$           21,000,000$             100% Ongoing n/a n/a

EXP0002 South Bay Aqueduct Enlargement Project - Payments to DWR 326,000,000$         326,000,000$      210,218,884$     13,594,406$         102,186,710$           100% 2003 Ongoing n/a

EXP0015 Sites Reservoir 176,000,000$         176,000,000$      900,925$            466,569$              174,632,506$           100% 2030 n/a n/a

COM0044 Los Vaqueros Reservoir Expansion
4

48,000,000$           9,600,000$          622,270$            25,255$                -$                         20% 2030 n/a n/a

TBD City Reach Pipeline Mitigation Planning (formerly Walker Ranch) 410,000$                410,000$             -$                     410,000$                  100% 2025 n/a n/a

PP43 PPWTP Centrifuge Facility (formerly Solids Handling Expansion) 5,500,000$             5,500,000$          -$                   -$                     5,500,000$               100% 2026 n/a n/a

COM0046/47 Joint Regional Groundwater Development Project 2,700,000$             1,350,000$          -$                   1,068,863$           281,137$                  50% 2025 Ongoing n/a

TBD Well Master Plan 825,000$                825,000$             -$                   -$                     825,000$                  100% 2025 n/a n/a

W50 Bernal Wells 1 & 2 and Pipeline 28,800,000$           28,800,000$        -$                   -$                     28,800,000$             100% 2029 n/a n/a

TO TAL PRO JECT EXPENSES 977,606,551$         792,750,990$      311,229,620$     18,537,137$         454,031,758$           

WP11 Cawelo Groundwater Banking Program Debt Service Costs (2018 Refunding)
5

3,800,000$          2,027,664           278,304$              1,494,031$               

EXP0001 Miscellaneous Expansion Program Costs:

Administration 537,306$              

Financial Planning 73,433$                

Water Utility Planning 145,615$              

Pension Expense - GASB 68 Adjustment 19,878$                

OPEB Expense - GASB 75 Adjustment 5,539$                  

GRAND TO TAL 977,606,551$         796,550,990$      313,257,284$     19,597,212$         455,525,790$           

1) Budgets identified by Zone 7 Water Agency to represent the projects' lifetime budgets.

2) The total amount that has been appropriated from this Fund to this project through FY 2024/25.

3) Construction start date may be revised pending availability of funds.

4) Future expenditures for project #COM0044 have been removed from this table. The Los Vaqueros Reservoir Expansion project is unlikely to have future expenditures because the JPA for this project was dissolved.

Note: Numbers may appear off due to rounding. 

5) In 2018, the Agency issued the 2018 Water Revenue Bonds, Series A to prepay $15,290,000 of the Agency’s obligations in connection with the Cawelo Water District Certificates of Participation, Series 2006. 
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Requirement 7. Description of each interfund transfer or loan made from the account, including 

the public improvement on which the transferred or loaned fees will be expended, and when each 

will be repaid and the rate of interest the account will receive on the loan. 

There were no transfers to or from this fund in FY 2024-25. 

Requirement 8. Identification of any refunds made once determined that sufficient monies have 

been collected to fund fee-related projects. For any refunds made, the number of persons or entities 

identified to receive those refunds. 

A refund in the amount of $94,772.70 was made from this fund in FY 2024-25 to Learn & 

Play Montessori Dublin, Inc. for a connection fee that was paid to Dublin Ramon Services 

District (DSRSD) for a meter upsize. The upsized meter was not installed, so the amount 

of the connection fee was refunded.   
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Fund 210: Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund 

Requirement 1. Brief description of the type of fee in the account or fund.  

The Flood Protection Development 

Impact Fee is collected to fund 

acquisition, construction, engineering, 

and improvement of flood protection and 

storm water drainage elements such as 

those identified in the Zone 7 Stream 

Management Master Plan (2006) and 

future projects to be identified in the 

Zone 7 Flood Management Plan. The 

Agency completed Phase 1 of the Flood 

Management Plan in 2022, and Phase 2 

of the Plan is currently in progress. 
 

 

Requirement 2. Amount of the fee. 

The Flood Protection Development Impact Fee for FY 2024-25 is summarized in Table 4 below. 

The fee was set in 2011 with Ordinance No. 2010-01 and maintained in 2012 with Ordinance No. 

2012-01. The fee has not been updated or escalated since. The Agency anticipates that updates to 

the fee will occur as the Flood Management Plan is completed.  

Table 4: Flood Protection Development Impact Fee 

 
 

Requirement 3. Beginning and ending balance in the account or fund. 

Table 5 summarizes the beginning and ending fund balances for the Flood Protection 

Development Impact Fee Fund for FY 2024-25. 

 

Requirement 4. Amount of fees collected and the interest earned during the previous year. 

Table 5 summarizes the fees collected and the interest earned for the Flood Protection 

Development Impact Fee Fund during FY 2024-25. 

  

Land Use

Fee effective as of 

July 1, 2011

Fee per Square Foot of  New Impervious Surface 1.00$                              
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Table 5: Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund Summary 

   

 

  

Fund 210

Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund

Beginning Fund Balance as of July 1, 2024 $79,773,870

Revenues

Fees Collected $4,968,521

Interest from Investment $3,421,003

Prior Year Revenue $28,500

Total Revenues $8,418,024

Expenses

Project Expenses $3,217,853

Other Expenditures

Administration $746

Financial Planning $19,007

Water Utility Planning $83,376

Total Expenses $3,320,982

Transfers In
1

$221,105

Transfers Out $0

Ending Fund Balance as of June 30, 2025 $85,092,017

Source: Zone 7 Water Agency Financial Documents

1) Funds transferred back to fund 210 from the State Grant Fund for unavailable 

State Grant revenue at 06/30/2024 that was received in FY 2025. 
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Requirement 5. Identification of each public improvement for which fees were expended and the 

amount of expenditures, including the total percentage of the cost of the public improvement that 

was funded with fees. 

Table 6 summarizes the expenditures this past year on Flood Protection Development 

Impact Fee Fund projects.   

Requirement 6. An identification of an approximate date by which the construction of the public 

improvement will commence if the local agency determines that sufficient funds have been 

collected to complete financing on an incomplete public improvement and the public improvement 

remains incomplete. Identification of each public improvement identified in the previous report 

and whether construction began on the approximate date noted. For previously identified projects 

that did not start construction on the approximate date in the previous report, the reason for the 

delay and a revised approximate date that the local agency will commence construction, if 

applicable. 

Table 6 summarizes the planned future expenditures for the Flood Protection 

Development Impact Fee Fund projects and the anticipated construction start date for 

each project. If the approximate start date for a project has been revised from the last 

AB1600 Report, the reason is listed. 
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Table 6: Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Projects 

Project No. Project Name

Total Project 

Budget
1

Fund Budget
2

Expenditures 

to Date

FY24-25

Actual 

Expenditures

Future 

Expenditures

% Funded 

by Fee
3

Approx. 

Construction 

Start Date
4

Approx. 

Construction Start 

Date (Revised for 

FY24-25)

Reason for Revised 

Start Date 

(if applicable)

COM0011 Chain of Lakes Planning 244,551$              68,474$               68,474$        -$              -$                     28% Ongoing n/a n/a

COM0013 Flow Studies - Steelhead Restoration 305,686$              152,843$             152,843$      -$              -$                     50% 2007 Ongoing n/a

COM0015 Sediment Study - SFE 2010 743,561$              304,860$             304,860$      -$              -$                     41% 2011 Completed n/a

COM0030 Arroyo Mocho Medeiros Project
5

2,248,163$           1,075,283$          1,075,283$   -$              -$                     48% 2016 Completed n/a

COM0043 Flood Management Plan - Phase 2
6

3,798,000$           1,557,180$          498,397$      182,846$      875,937$              41% Ongoing n/a n/a

DIF0001 Camp Parks Detention Basin Developer Reimbursement 3,035,007$           3,035,007$          -$              3,035,007$   -$                     100% 2025 Completed Project has been completed.

R.1-1 Altamont Creek Improvements
8

1,177,595$           200,191$             -$              -$              200,191$              17% 2026 n/a n/a

R.1-3 Springtown Improvements
9

2,897,807$           492,627$             -$              -$              492,627$              17% Ongoing n/a n/a

R.1-4 Springtown Golf Course Improvements
10

646,523$              109,909$             -$              -$              109,909$              17% Ongoing n/a n/a

R.1-5 Arroyo las Positas Habitat Enhancement and Recreation Project 2,528,366$           429,822$             -$              -$              429,822$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.1-6 Arroyo las Positas Multi-Purpose Project
11

4,848,920$           824,316$             -$              -$              824,316$              17% Ongoing n/a n/a

R.1-7 Capacity Improvement at Arroyo las Positas
12

461,802$              78,506$               61,731$        -$              16,775$                17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.2-1 Velocity Control Project 5,206,817$           885,159$             -$              -$              885,159$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.2-2 Arroyo Seco Improvements 2,932,442$           498,515$             -$              -$              498,515$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.3-2 Robertson Park Enhancement Project and Levee Construction 17,052,037$         2,898,846$          -$              -$              2,898,846$           17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.3-3 Parks Floodplain Dedication and Levee Construction 17,144,397$         2,914,547$          -$              -$              2,914,547$           17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.3-4 Holmes St. Sedim. Basin and Granada/Murrieta Prot. and Enh. Prj 11,291,057$         1,919,480$          96,619$        -$              1,822,861$           17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.7-3 Lower Arroyo del Valle Restoration and Enhancement Project 92,360$                15,701$               -$              -$              15,701$                17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.8-1 Tassajara Creek Improvement Project 3,913,771$           665,341$             -$              -$              665,341$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.8-2 Chabot Canal Improvement Project
13

20,954,263$         3,562,225$          -$              -$              3,562,225$           17% Ongoing n/a n/a

R.8-3 Lower Arroyo Mocho Improvement Project 14,754,572$         2,508,277$          -$              -$              2,508,277$           17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.8-4 Upper Arroyo de la Laguna (ADLL) Improvement Project 51,052,204$         8,678,875$          -$              -$              8,678,875$           17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.9-1 Alamo Canal/South San Ramon Creek Erosion Control
14

7,238,745$           1,230,587$          21,670$        -$              1,208,917$           17% Ongoing n/a n/a

R.9-2 Line F-4 Concrete Lining 1,443,131$           245,332$             -$              -$              245,332$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.9-3 Line J-1, J-3,  and J-5 Improvements 9,778,656$           1,662,372$          -$              -$              1,662,372$           17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.9-4 Line T  Crossing Retrofit 3,405,789$           578,984$             -$              -$              578,984$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.9-6 Line G-1-1 Maintenance Plan 334,806$              56,917$               -$              -$              56,917$                17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.9-7 Alamo Canal Flood Control Program 10,055,737$         1,709,475$          -$              -$              1,709,475$           17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.10-1 ADLL Improvement Project 1 1,985,748$           337,577$             -$              -$              337,577$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.10-2 ADLL Improvement Project 2 1,119,870$           190,378$             -$              -$              190,378$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.10-3 ADLL Improvement Project 3
15

7,342,651$           1,248,251$          -$              -$              1,248,251$           17% Ongoing n/a n/a

R.10-4 ADLL Improvement Project 4 2,793,902$           474,963$             -$              -$              474,963$              17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.10-5 ADLL Improvement Project 5
16

14,581,396$         2,478,837$          49,300$        -$              2,429,537$           17% Ongoing n/a n/a

R.11-2 Sinbad Creek Project 311,716$              52,992$               -$              -$              52,992$                17% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.5-2 Airway Improvement Project 16,774,955$         9,561,724$          -$              -$              9,561,724$           57% TBD
7

n/a n/a

R.5-3 Arroyo Las Positas Diversion Project
17

171,871,136$       97,966,548$        5,130,000$   -$              92,836,548$         57% Ongoing n/a n/a

R.6-2 Arroyo Mocho Bypass and Regional Storage at Chain of Lakes 139,464,185$       79,494,585$        -$              -$              79,494,585$         57% TBD
7

n/a n/a

TO TAL PRO JECT EXPENSES 555,832,324$       230,165,507$      7,459,177$   3,217,853$   219,488,477$       

DIF0001 Miscellaneous DIF Program Costs:

Financial Planning 11,277$        103,129$      

GRAND TO TAL 555,832,324$       230,165,507$      7,470,454$   3,320,982$   219,488,477$       

15) This project included removal of the concrete structure for emergency maintenance, which has already been completed. The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

16) This project included installation of a stream flow gauge as part of early warning storm/ flood warning system. The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

Note: Numbers may appear off due to rounding. 

10) This project includes a pedestrian bridge and vegetation management in Arroyo Las Positas between Heather Lane and Bluebell Dr, which was completed by the City of Livermore. The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's 

forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

7) Anticipated construction start date and budgets for this project will be evaluated and updated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management Plan. 

8) This project includes maintenance to address sediment removal, which is planned to occur in Summer 2026. The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

9) This project includes sediment removal, invasive species management, and replanting, which are completed. The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

11) This project includes a trail to Las Colinas Rd constructed from Kohl's to Las Colinas Rd by the City/Developer.  The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

12) Initial study for this project was conducted by Engineering. Further modeling showed minor impacts and the project was postponed for its low priority. This may be re-evaluated as part of the forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

13) Detention basin construction completed. Zone 7 reimbursed $3.035M to developer in 2025. This is shown on the line for Project DIF001. The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

14) This project includes the Alamo Creek stabilization. Figures provided are expenditures for Alamo Creek portions of the project only. The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management Plan.

17) $5.13M has already been paid to City of Livermore for the El Charro Specific Plan Area Flood Protection Improvements (agreement # A11-83-LIV). The remaining elements of this project will be evaluated as part of the Agency's forthcoming Flood Management 

Plan.

6) Project was awarded a $828K grant from the Department of Water Resources  Integrated Regional Water Management Program Prop 1 Round 2 Grant.

1) Budgets identified from the Zone 7 2009 Stream Management Master Plan (SMMP).

2) The total amount that has been appropriated from this Fund to this project through FY 2024/25.

3) The costs of conveyance related projects are 17% eligible for inclusion in the development impact fee, based upon the ratio of future impervious surface area to total impervious surface area at build out conditions. The costs of storage-related projects are 57% 

eligible for inclusion in the development impact fee based upon the storage volume required to offset the additional storm water flows attributed to the impervious surfaces created by future development such that the peak flood wave at the outlet of  Zone 7's service 

area does not increase between now and build out conditions.

4) Construction start date may be revised pending availability of funds. 

5) Project received $500,000 grant through the California River Parkways program to improve the trails along the Arroyo Mocho. 
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Requirement 7. Description of each interfund transfer or loan made from the account, including 

the public improvement on which the transferred or loaned fees will be expended, and when each 

will be repaid and the rate of interest the account will receive on the loan. 

$221,105 was transferred into Fund 210 from the State Grant Fund in FY 2024-25 for 

revenue that was reported as unavailable in FY 2023-24 as this revenue was not received 

soon enough after fiscal year-end in FY 2023-24 to be considered available revenue. These 

are funds received for the Department of Water Resources Integrated Regional Water 

Management Program Proposition 1 Round 2 Grant for the Flood Management Master 

Plan. The funds were transferred into Fund 210 on June 30, 2024. 

Requirement 8. Identification of any refunds made once determined that sufficient monies have 

been collected to fund fee-related projects. 

There were no refunds made from this fund in FY 2024-25.
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Development Impact Fee Summary for FY 2024-25 

Description

Water Enterprise  

Capital Expansion 

Fund

Flood Protection 

Development 

Impact Fee Fund Total

Fund No. 130 210

Starting Balance

As of July 1, 2024 59,181,047$                79,773,870$           138,954,917$     

REVENUES

Fees Collected 22,940,367$                4,968,521$             27,908,888$       

Interest from Investment 3,832,187$                  3,421,003$             7,253,190$         

Interest from Other Sources 180,903$                     -$                        180,903$            

Cost Sharing Agreement Revenue 498,394$                     -$                        498,394$            

DWR Refunds 3,139,167$                  -$                        3,139,167$         

Prior Year Revenue -$                             28,500$                  28,500$              

Other Revenues 318,001$                     -$                        318,001$            

Total Revenues 30,909,019$                8,418,024$             39,327,043$       

EXPENSES

Project Expenditures 18,537,137$                3,217,853$             21,754,990$       

O ther Expenditures

Administration 537,306$                     746$                       538,052$            

Debt Service Costs 278,304$                     -$                        278,304$            

Financial Planning 73,433$                       19,007$                  92,440$              

Water Utility Planning 145,615$                     83,376$                  228,991$            

Pension Expense - GASB 68 Adjustment 19,878$                       -$                        19,878$              

OPEB Expense - GASB 75 Adjustment 5,539$                         -$                        5,539$                

Total Expenditures 19,597,212$                3,320,982$             22,918,194$       

Transfers In
1

-$                             221,105$                221,105$            

Transfers O ut -$                             -$                        -$                    

Net Transfers -$                             221,105$                221,105$            

Ending Balance

As of June 30, 2025 70,492,855$                85,092,017$           155,584,872$     

Source: Zone 7 Water Agency Financial Documents

Note: Small variances may appear due to rounding.

1) Funds transferred back to fund 210 from the State Grant Fund for unavailable State Grant revenue at 06/30/2024 that was 

received in FY 2025. 
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Appendix A: Water Connection Fee Schedules 
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Table A-1: Alameda County Service Area Water Connection Fee Schedule Effective 

January 1, 2024 

 

Meter Size Meter Brand/Type Fee Factor Connection Fee

5/8" & 1" Fire Service Displacement Type 1.0 34,530$              

3/4" Displacement Type 1.5 51,795$              

1" Displacement Type 2.5 86,325$              

5/8" IPERL Electromagnetic 2.5 86,325$              

Diehl Ultrasonic 2.2 75,966$              

Kamstrup Ultrasonic 2.5 86,325$              

IPERL Electromagnetic 3.5 120,855$            

Diehl Ultrasonic 3.2 110,496$            

Kamstrup Ultrasonic 3.5 120,855$            

IPERL Electromagnetic 3.5 120,855$            

Diehl Ultrasonic 5.5 189,915$            

Kamstrup Ultrasonic 5.5 189,915$            

IPERL Electromagnetic 5.5 189,915$            

Displacement Type 5.0 172,650$            

Diehl Ultrasonic 10.0 345,300$            

Kamstrup Ultrasonic 12.0 414,360$            

Omni C2 16.0 552,480$            

Omni T2 16.0 552,480$            

Omni with 50 GPM Restriction 5.0 172,650$            

Displacement Type 8.0 276,240$            

Omni with 80 GPM Restriction 8.0 276,240$            

Mueller MVR 11.5 397,095$            

Omni with 120 GPM Restriction 12.0 414,360$            

Sensus SR/SRII 16.0 552,480$            

Kamstrup Short Ultrasonic 16.0 552,480$            

Kamstrup Long Ultrasonic 16.0 552,480$            

Omni C2 16.0 552,480$            

Diehl Ultrasonic 17.0 587,010$            

Omni T2 20.0 690,600$            

evoQ4 Magnetic 22.0 759,660$            

Notes:

1) This fee schedule is effective as of January 1, 2024. The Agency periodically reviews and modifies these fees.

2) Connection fees for meters 3" and larger and for meters with fee factors not shown above will be determined by the Zone 

7 Water Agency, using the fee factor for Maximum Rate for Continuous Operation as defined by AWWA. These fees are 

based on the Maximum Continuous Flow Rate through a 5/8" meter and are proportional based on flow ratings for the 

various sized meters.  Flow ratings for displacement type meters are defined by AWWA C700 for Cold-Water Meter -- 

Displacement Type, Bronze Case.  Flow ratings for turbine type meters are defined by AWWA C701 for Cold Water Meters 

-- Turbine Type, For Customer Service.  Any changes to meter capacities will affect the above connection fees. 

5/8" x 3/4"

3/4" Short & Long

1"

1 1/2"

2"

3) Per Fee Ordinance Section VI, combined domestic and fire service connections are subject to the connection charge based 

on the meter size for the combined system, except the basid charge shall be collected for combined systems, up to a 

maximum of one-inch (1") meter size, for single family and duplex housing units with fire sprinkler systems approved by 

the appropriate fire department and installed in accordance with applicable building requirements. 

4) At the time this fee schedule is in effect, the Diehl, Kamstrup, and evoQ4 meters are only available in Pleasanton. 
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Table A-2: Dougherty Valley Service Area Water Connection Fee Schedule Effective 

January 1, 2024 

  
 

  

Meter Size Meter Brand/Type

Recommended 

Maximum Rate 

for Continuous 

Use (gpm) Connection Fee Facility Use Fee Total Fee

5/8" & 1" Fire Service Displacement Type 10 33,130$              3,940$               37,070$              

3/4" Displacement Type 15 49,395$              5,910$               55,305$              

1" Displacement Type 25 82,825$              9,850$               92,675$              

Displacement Type 50 165,650$            19,700$              185,350$            

Omni with 50 GPM Restrictor 50 165,650$            19,700$              185,350$            

Omni C2 160 530,080$            63,040$              593,120$            

Omni T2 160 530,080$            63,040$              593,120$            

Displacement Type 80 265,040$            31,520$              296,560$            

Omni with 80 GPM Restriction 80 264,040$            31,560$              295,600$            

Omni with 120 GPM Restriction 120 397,560$            47,280$              444,840$            

Omni C2 160 530,080$            63,040$              593,120$            

Omni T2 200 662,600$            78,800$              741,400$            

Notes:

1 1/2"

2"

1) This fee schedule is effective as of January 1, 2024. The Agency periodically reviews and modifies these fees.

2) Connection fees for meters 3" and larger and for meters with fee factors not shown above will be determined by the Zone 7 Water Agency, using the fee factor for 

Maximum Rate for Continuous Operation as defined by AWWA. These fees are based on the Maximum Continuous Flow Rate through a 5/8" meter and are proportional 

based on flow ratings for the various sized meters.  Flow ratings for displacement type meters are defined by AWWA C700 for Cold-Water Meter -- Displacement Type, 

Bronze Case.  Flow ratings for turbine type meters are defined by AWWA C701 for Cold Water Meters -- Turbine Type, For Customer Service.  Any changes to meter 

capacities will affect the above connection fees. 

3) Per Fee Ordinance Section VI, combined domestic and fire service connections are subject to the connection charge based on the meter size for the combined system, 

except the basid charge shall be collected for combined systems, up to a maximum of one-inch (1") meter size, for single family and duplex housing units with fire sprinkler 

systems approved by the appropriate fire department and installed in accordance with applicable building requirements. 
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Table A-3: Alameda County Service Area Water Connection Fee Schedule Effective April 

29, 2025  

 

 

Fee 

Factor
2

Connection Fee

Amount

Fee 

Factor
2

Connection Fee

Amount

5/8" Displacement Type 10 1.0 34,910$              

3/4" Displacement Type 15 1.5 -$                  

1" Displacement Type 26 2.5 -$                  1.0 -$                   

5/8" IPERL Electromagnetic 26 2.5 -$                  1.0 -$                   

Diehl Ultrasonic 22 2.2 -$                  1.0 -$                   

Kamstrup Ultrasonic 25 2.5 -$                  1.0 -$                   

IPERL Electromagnetic 35 3.5 -$                  2.0 -$                   

Diehl Ultrasonic 32 3.2 -$                  1.7 -$                   

Kamstrup Ultrasonic 35 3.5 -$                  2.0 69,820$              

IPERL Electromagnetic 35 3.5 -$                  2.0 69,820$              

Diehl Ultrasonic 55 5.5 -$                  

Kamstrup Ultrasonic 55 5.5 -$                  

IPERL Electromagnetic 55 5.5 -$                  

Displacement Type 50 5.0 -$                  

Diehl Ultrasonic 100 10.0 -$                  

Kamstrup Ultrasonic 120 12.0 -$                  

Omni C2 160 16.0 -$                  

Omni T2 160 16.0 -$                  

Omni with 50 GPM Restriction 50 5.0 -$                  

Displacement Type 80 8.0 -$                  

Omni with 80 GPM Restriction 80 8.0 -$                  

Mueller MVR 115 11.5 -$                  

Omni with 120 GPM Restriction 120 12.0 -$                  

Sensus SR/SRII 160 16.0 -$                  

Kamstrup Short Ultrasonic 160 16.0 -$                  

Kamstrup Long Ultrasonic 160 16.0 -$                  

Omni C2 160 16.0 -$                  

Diehl Ultrasonic 170 17.0 -$                  

Omni T2 200 20.0 -$                  

evoQ4 Magnetic 220 22.0 -$                  

3" to 10"

Notes:

3) Zone 7’s fire-service exemption applies to combined domestic and fire service connections that are either (a) one-inch (1”) or smaller displacement-type meters 

with capacities up to 25 gpm, or (b) three-quarter-inch (3/4”) or smaller non-displacement-type meters with capacities up to 35 gpm.  In either case, the exemption 

only applies to single family and duplex housing units with fire sprinkler systems approved by the appropriate fire department and installed in accordance with 

applicable building requirements.  For all exempt meters, Zone 7 determines the fee factor by subtracting 15 gpm from the meter’s maximum continuous flow rate, 

then dividing the total by 10 gpm.  The fire-service exemption does not apply to meters with a capacity less than 25 gpm.

4) Contact Zone 7 for connection fee amount for meter sizes three inches (3") and greater.

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A
4

1) Contact your water provider to determine the appropriate meter required.

2) Fee factors are based on the recommended maximum continuous flow rate for that meter, which is the manufacturer-specified maximum flow rate for non-

displacement type meters.

2"

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

1 1/2"

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

5/8" x 3/4"

3/4" Short & Long

1"

N/A

N/A

N/A

Meter Size Meter Brand/Type
1

Capacity 

(gpm)

Domestic Service Combined Fire & 

N/A
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Table A-4: Dougherty Valley Service Area Water Connection Fee Schedule Effective April 

29, 2025 

 

 

Fee 

Factor
2

Connection Fee

Facility 

Use Fee Total Fee

Fee 

Factor
2

Connection 

Fee

Facility 

Use Fee Total Fee

5/8" & 1" Fire Service Displacement Type 10 1.0 33,490$              3,940$    37,430$              

3/4" Displacement Type 15 1.5 50,235$              5,910$    56,145$              

1" Displacement Type 25 2.5 83,725$              9,850$    93,575$              1.0 33,490$       3,940$     37,430$     

Displacement Type 50 5.0 167,450$            19,700$   187,150$             

Omni with 50 GPM Restrictor 50 5.0 167,450$            19,700$   187,150$             

Omni C2 160 16.0 535,840$            63,040$   598,880$             

Omni T2 160 16.0 535,840$            63,040$   598,880$             

Displacement Type 80 8.0 267,920$            31,520$   299,440$             

Omni with 80 GPM Restriction 80 8.0 267,920$            31,560$   299,480$             

Omni with 120 GPM Restriction 120 12.0 401,880$            47,280$   449,160$             

Omni C2 160 16.0 525,840$            63,040$   588,880$             

Omni T2 200 20.0 669,800$            78,800$   748,600$             

3" to 10"

Notes:

2) Fee factors are based on the recommended maximum continuous flow rate for that meter, which is the manufacturer-specified maximum flow rate for non-displacement type meters.

3) Zone 7’s fire-service exemption applies to combined domestic and fire service connections that are either (a) one-inch

(1”) or smaller displacement-type meters with capacities up to 25 gpm, or (b) three-quarter-inch (3/4”) or smaller non-displacement-type meters with capacities up to 35 gpm.  In either case, the exemption only applies to single 

family and duplex housing units with fire sprinkler systems approved by the appropriate fire department and installed in accordance with applicable building requirements.  For all exempt meters, Zone 7 determines the fee factor by 

subtracting 15 gpm from the meter’s maximum continuous flow rate, then dividing the total by 10 gpm.  The fire-service exemption does not apply to meters with a capacity less than 25 gpm.

Combined Fire & Domestic Service
3

N/A
4

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Meter Size Meter Brand/Type
1

Capacity 

(gpm)

Domestic Service

4)  Contact Zone 7 for connection fee amount for meter sizes three inches (3") and greater.

1) Contact your water provider to determine the appropriate meter required.

2"

1 1/2"



ITEM NO. 8b 

 

 
 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Water Quality 
CONTACT: Brian Keil/Angela O’Brien 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Award a Contract for Water Operations Database Management and Reporting 

Support Services 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
To support Zone 7’s mission to deliver a safe and reliable supply of high-quality water, Zone 7 
maintains various water operations databases and produces reports to comply with regulatory 
requirements. The proposed action supports Strategic Plan Goal C – Safe Water, Initiative 7 – 
Meet or surpass all drinking water health and safety requirements. 

 
Zone 7 submits monthly regulatory compliance reports to the State Division of Drinking Water 
for its two surface water treatment plants. These reports are currently generated using a 
custom software tool integrated with Microsoft Office. The consultant who maintains Zone 7’s 
databases is retiring, and Microsoft is phasing out security support for several legacy features 
relied upon by the tool.  

 
Consultant services are required to migrate the reporting functionality to a secure and 
compatible software environment. Zone 7 does not have in-house expertise to perform the 
data management and optimization activities that are essential to prevent system errors and 
maintain data integrity.  

 
Consistent with Zone 7’s Purchasing Policy, a Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued in 
October, and one proposal was received. The selection committee reviewed the proposal and 
determined that Hazen and Sawyer possesses the expertise and resources to perform the work 
and satisfies the requirements set forth in the RFP. 

 
The proposed contract is for a three-year term, with an option to extend the contract for two 
additional one-year terms. Reporting migration will be completed in the first year of the 
contract, while as-needed database management services will be provided throughout the full 
contract term. Annual expenditures for as-needed database management services are 
expected to be comparable to past costs. 
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Staff recommends that the Board authorize the General Manager to:   
 

1. Negotiate, execute, and amend, as needed, a three-year contract with Hazen and 
Sawyer for Water Operations database management and reporting support services in 
an amount not-to-exceed $187,000, which includes a 10% contingency. 

 
2. Amend the contract for up to two additional one-year terms, based on satisfactory 

performance, for a total five-year not-to-exceed contract amount of $257,000, which 
includes a 10% contingency. 

 
FUNDING: 
 
Sufficient funding is available in the FY 2025-26 Board approved budget from Fund 100 – 
Water Enterprise Operations. Funding for future services will be requested in subsequent 
budget requests. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 
Resolution 



 

 

ZONE 7 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
RESOLUTION NO.  

 
 INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
 SECONDED BY DIRECTOR  

 
Award a Contract for Water Operations Database Management 

and Reporting Support Services 
 

WHEREAS, in support of Strategic Plan Goal C – Safe Water, Initiative 7 – Meet or 
surpass all drinking water health and safety requirements, Zone 7 maintains various water 
operations databases and produces reports to maintain compliance with regulatory 
requirements; and 

 
WHEREAS, Zone 7 currently utilizes a custom software tool for regulatory and internal 

reporting, and the independent consultant who developed and maintains this tool is retiring; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the custom tool relies on legacy security features that Microsoft is phasing 

out, creating a need to migrate to a secure and compatible software environment; and 
 
WHEREAS, Zone 7 does not have in-house expertise and requires consultant services to 

prevent system errors and maintain the integrity of reporting data; and 
 
WHEREAS, in accordance with Zone 7’s Purchasing Policy, a competitive procurement 

process was completed to select a consulting firm to provide database management and 
reporting support services; and 

 
WHEREAS, the selection committee determined that Hazen and Sawyer possesses the 

expertise and resources to provide the requested services; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the 

Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District does hereby authorize the 
General Manager to negotiate, execute, and amend, as necessary a three-year contract with 
Hazen and Sawyer for Water Operations Database Management and Reporting Support 
Services in an amount not-to-exceed $187,000, which includes 10% contingency. 
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BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager be authorized to extend the 

contract, based on satisfactory performance, for two additional one-year terms, for a total 
five-year not-to-exceed contract amount of $257,000, which includes 10% contingency. 

 
ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  

 

I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
 
By:                 
      President, Board of Directors 
 



ITEM NO. 8c 

 

 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Water Quality 
CONTACT: Angela O’Brien 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Award a Contract for Chain of Lakes Treatment Plant Hexavalent Chromium 

Removal Study 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
To support Zone 7’s mission to deliver a safe and reliable supply of high-quality water, Zone 7 
conducts ongoing water quality monitoring and system optimization for the Agency’s water 
production facilities. The proposed action supports Strategic Plan Goal C – Safe Water, 
Initiative 7 – Meet or surpass all drinking water health and safety requirements.  

 
In October 2024, the State of California established a Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) of 
10 parts per billion for hexavalent chromium (Cr6). Zone 7 is proactively monitoring water 
quality to optimize its treatment strategy and maintain compliance with the new standard.  

 
The Chain of Lakes Treatment Plant (COLTP), which began operations in May 2025, removes 
per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) from the COL wellfield source water and has also 
been effective in removing Cr6. The COLTP’s ion exchange (IX) resins have consistently 
reduced Cr6 concentrations in the treated water to levels below the new Cr6 MCL.    

 
To ensure long-term, cost-effective compliance, Zone 7 requires bench-scale testing services 
to evaluate the IX resins and potential treatment modifications, with the goal of optimizing 
removal efficiency for both Cr6 and PFAS while minimizing long-term replacement costs. 

 
Consistent with Zone 7’s Purchasing Policy, a Request for Proposals (RFP) was issued in 
November, and one proposal was received. The selection committee reviewed the proposal 
and determined that Water Quality and Treatment Solutions, Inc., possesses the requisite 
expertise and resources to perform the work and satisfies the requirements set forth in the 
RFP. 

 
Staff recommends the Board appropriate $110,000 in the Fiscal Year (FY) 2025-26 budget to 
fund the COLTP Cr6 Removal Study. Because these needs were identified after the FY 2025-26 
budget was adopted, this study was not included in the original budget. 

 
Staff recommends that the Board authorize the General Manager to negotiate, execute, and 
amend, as needed, a contract with Water Quality and Treatment Solutions, Inc., for 
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professional engineering services to conduct the COLTP Cr6 Removal Study, in an amount not 
to exceed $110,000, which includes a 10% contingency. 
 
FUNDING: 
 
An appropriation of $110,000 in the FY 2025-26 budget from Fund 100 – Water Enterprise 
Operations is requested to fund the contract.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 
Resolution 



 

 

ZONE 7 
 

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  
 

 INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
 SECONDED BY DIRECTOR  

 
Award a Contract for Chain of Lakes Treatment Plant 

Hexavalent Chromium Removal Study 
 

WHEREAS, in support of Strategic Plan Goal C – Safe Water, and Initiative 7 – Meet or 
surpass all drinking water health and safety requirements, Zone 7 conducts ongoing water 
quality monitoring and system optimization for its water production facilities; and  
 

WHEREAS, in October 2024, the State of California established a new Maximum 
Contaminant Level for hexavalent chromium (Cr6); and  
 

WHEREAS, consultant services are required to perform bench-scale testing to assess 
the effectiveness of Cr6 removal through the ion exchange resins used at the Chain of Lakes 
Treatment Plant (COLTP), and to identify potential treatment modifications and alternative 
resin options to optimize Cr6 removal efficiency; and 

 
WHEREAS, an additional appropriation of $110,000 in the Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget 

from Fund 100 – Water Enterprise Operations is needed for this study; and 
 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Zone 7’s Purchasing Policy, a competitive procurement 
process was completed to select a consulting firm to provide these services; and 
 

WHEREAS, the selection committee evaluated the proposal and determined that Water 
Quality and Treatment Solutions, Inc., possesses the requisite expertise and resources to 
provide the requested services. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District hereby authorize the General 
Manager to negotiate, execute, and amend, as needed, a contract with Water Quality and 
Treatment Solutions, Inc., for professional engineering services to conduct the Chain of Lakes 
Treatment Plant Hexavalent Chromium (Cr6) Removal Study, in an amount not-to-exceed 
$110,000, which includes a 10% contingency; and 
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BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the Alameda 

County Flood Control and Water Conservation District hereby appropriates an additional 
$110,000 in the Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget from Fund 100 – Water Enterprise Operations. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  

 

I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
 
By:                 
      President, Board of Directors 
 



ITEM NO. 8d  

 

 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Flood Protection Engineering 
CONTACT: Jeff Tang/Edward Reyes 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Authorize a Grant of Easement and Maintenance Use License Agreement to the 

City of Dublin at Alamo Creek 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
To support Zone 7’s mission to deliver safe, reliable, efficient, and sustainable flood protection 
services, Zone 7 manages its real property and collaborates with other agencies in the Tri-
Valley. The proposed action supports Strategic Plan Goal E – Effective Flood Protection, 
Initiative 13 – Continue to repair and maintain the flood protection facilities. 
 
Zone 7 owns and operates a flood protection facility, Line F – Alamo Creek, located in the City 
of Dublin. 

 

As part of its Green Stormwater Infrastructure Project, the City of Dublin (City) constructed a 
new storm drain pipeline and drainage inlet within Zone 7’s Line F - Alamo Creek facility. The 
City requires a storm drain easement to access their facilities for future maintenance and 
repairs.  

 

During construction inspections, staff identified that the City’s drainage inlet did not conform 
to Zone 7’s standard design. While Zone 7 typically assumes maintenance of storm drain inlets 
constructed to Agency standards, it does not assume maintenance of structures that deviate 
from these requirements. 
 
Consequently, the City has agreed to assume responsibility for maintaining the non-standard 
storm drain inlet located within the Alamo Creek right-of-way through a Maintenance Use 
License Agreement. Under this agreement, the City will be responsible for ongoing 
maintenance of the storm drain inlet and piping, as well as any damages to the Line F – Alamo 
Creek facility resulting from inlet failures or inadequate maintenance.  

 

The City will pay $5,000 to Zone 7 to cover the administration costs for the grant of easement, 
with a total area of approximately 1,752 square feet.  
 
Zone 7 has determined that the easement and storm drain pipeline and drainage inlet will not 
interfere with the use of the property by Zone 7 for flood protection purposes.  
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District holds legal title to the property, 
which requires its Board of Supervisors to approve the easement. Zone 7 Board must first 
request and authorize the Board of Supervisors to approve the easement. 
 
Staff recommends that the Board: 

 
1. Approve the granting of the easement to the City of Dublin for the new storm drain 

pipeline and drainage inlet; and 
2. Authorize the General Manager to negotiate and finalize grant of easement documents, 

for the Board of Supervisors consideration, for granting the easement to the City of 
Dublin; and 

3. Authorize the General Manager to negotiate, execute, and amend, as necessary, a 
Maintenance Use License Agreement with the City of Dublin; and 

4. Request and recommend that the Board of Supervisors of the Alameda County Flood 
Control and Water Conservation District approve granting of the easement to the City of 
Dublin. 

 
FUNDING: 
 
The City will pay a $5,000.00 administrative fee to Zone 7, which will be deposited into Fund 
200 – Flood Protection Operations Fund.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
1. Resolution 
2. Vicinity and Location Map 
3. Draft Grant of Easement and attachments 
4. Draft Maintenance Use License Agreement 



 

 

ZONE 7 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 25- 

 
 INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
 SECONDED BY DIRECTOR  

 
Authorize a Grant of Easement and Maintenance Use License Agreement 

to the City of Dublin at Alamo Creek  
 

WHEREAS, in support of Strategic Plan Goal E – Effective Flood Protection, Initiative 13 
– Continue to repair and maintain the flood protection facilities, Zone 7 manages its real 
property and collaborates with other agencies in the Tri-Valley; and  

 
WHEREAS, Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 is 

the owner of the real properties known as Alamo Creek (Line F) and granted the City of Dublin 
an encroachment permit for construction of a storm drain system and that includes a storm 
drain pipeline and drainage inlet within Zone 7’s Alamo Creek facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Dublin has requested a storm drain easement for the storm drain 
system within Zone 7’s Alamo Creek facility and will pay $5,000 to Zone 7 to cover 
administration costs; and 
 

WHEREAS, a grant of easement document has been prepared conveying a storm drain 
easement to the City of Dublin on the lands more particularly designated and described in the 
attached Exhibit A (R/W Nos. 70216) and Exhibit B (RF-10164); and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Dublin is responsible to maintain their storm drain facilities 

through a Maintenance Use License Agreement with Zone 7. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District does hereby approve the 
granting of the easement to the City of Dublin for the new storm drain pipeline and drainage 
inlet; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the Alameda 
County Flood Control and Water Conservation District does hereby authorize the General 
Manager to negotiate and finalize grant of easement documents, for the Board of Supervisors 
consideration, for granting said easement to the City of Dublin; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the Alameda 

County Flood Control and Water Conservation District does hereby authorize the General 
Manager to negotiate, execute, and amend, as necessary, a Maintenance Use License 
Agreement with the City of Dublin; and 
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BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the Alameda 

County Flood Control and Water Conservation District does hereby request and recommend 
that the Board of Supervisors of the Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation 
District approve granting of said easement and authorize the President of the Board of 
Supervisors to execute same. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  

 
I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 

Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
 
By:       
      President, Board of Directors 
 





RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND 
 

WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
 

City Clerk 

City of Dublin 
100 Civic Plaza 

Dublin, CA  94568 

 

 

 
 

 

                                                                            ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE   
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EASEMENT DEED 
(Storm Drain) 

 
 

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT, 
ZONE 7, hereinafter designated “GRANTOR”, in consideration of value paid, the 
adequacy and receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, hereby grants to the CITY 
OF DUBLIN, hereinafter designated “GRANTEE”, its successors and assigns, a 
perpetual, exclusive Public Storm Drain EASEMENT for the purpose of excavating, 
installing, inspecting, constructing, reconstructing, repairing, replacing, relocating, 
renewing, removing, maintaining and operating improvements, including but not limited 
to storm drain lines, storm drain manholes, storm drain inlets, storm drain outfalls, and 
all appurtenances thereto, together with the right of ingress and egress therefore, in, 
upon, under, over, along, through and across that certain real property (“EASEMENT 
AREA”) in the City of Dublin, County of Alameda, State of California, said easement 
being more particularly described as follows:  

 

A portion of Assessor’s Parcel Number: 941-2765-295 and more particularly described in 
Exhibit “A” and shown on Exhibit “B” incorporated by reference hereto.  

 

This EASEMENT is executed and delivered to GRANTEE upon the following terms and 
conditions to wit: 



 

 

 

 

 
1. GRANTEE acknowledges and agrees that the primary purpose of GRANTOR’s 

property is for flood protection and water management and that the operations 
in furtherance of said purpose must take precedence over any and all other uses 
of the subject Easement Area.   
 

a. GRANTOR acknowledges and agrees that GRANTEE’s above-stated use 
and purposes of the Easement Area are consistent and compatible with 
GRANTOR’s primary purpose of GRANTOR’s property, as of the time of the 
execution of this Easement Deed.  
 

b. If GRANTEE’s above-stated use and purposes of the Easement Area 
become inconsistent and/or incompatible with GRANTOR’s primary 
purpose of GRANTOR’s property, GRANTOR shall provide 30-days written 
notice to GRANTEE before:  

 
i. revoking any rights granted herein;  
ii. taking any action that interferes with GRANTEE’s use and/or 

operation of any sanitary sewer lines, potable water lines, or 
recycled water lines; and 

iii. taking any action that causes an interruption in any of GRANTEE’s 
services. 
 

c. If GRANTEE’s above-stated use and purposes of the Easement Area 
become inconsistent and/or incompatible with GRANTOR’s primary 
purpose of GRANTOR’s property, the parties shall work cooperatively and 
in good faith to bring their respective uses back into compatibility to the 
extent practicable. 

 
2. GRANTEE or their designee, shall have the non-exclusive right of ingress and 

egress to and from the EASEMENT AREA across the lands of GRANTOR for all 
purposes useful or convenient in connection with or incidental to the exercise of 
rights granted herein, at locations which shall not interfere with GRANTOR’s 
reasonable use and enjoyment of its remainder property. Except for 
emergencies, prior to entering upon GRANTOR’s property or engaging in 
excavating, installing, inspecting, constructing, reconstructing, repairing, 
replacing, relocating, renewing, removing, maintaining, or operating the 
improvements, GRANTEE or their designee, shall first obtain the standard form 
encroachment permit from GRANTOR.  GRANTOR shall issue said permit within 
three (3) working days, if possible, at no cost to GRANTEE.  

 
3. GRANTEE shall only construct improvements with at least a minimum vertical 

clearance of five (5) feet and a minimum horizontal clearance of five (5) feet 
from GRANTOR’s facilities. 
 



 

 

 

 

4. GRANTEE agrees that upon the completion of any of work performed by 
GRANTEE or designee within GRANTOR’s property, to restore the surface of the 
ground to the condition in which it was prior to the commencement of said work 
or to a condition as agreed upon by GRANTOR and GRANTEE.  GRANTEE shall, 
at GRANTEE’s sole cost, promptly repair any damage to GRANTOR’s real and 
personal property, arising out of or in connection with GRANTEE’s excavating, 
installing, inspecting, constructing, reconstructing, repairing, replacing, 
relocating, renewing, removing, maintaining and operating its improvements.  
GRANTEE shall maintain the EASEMENT AREA and GRANTEE’s improvements in 
good repair and prevent the EASEMENT AREA and GRANTEE’s improvements 
from causing any nuisance.    
 

5. Grantor reserves the right to convey easement rights to others so long as such  
easement(s) do not conflict or interfere with Grantee’s easement rights herein 
conveyed, but prior to making such a conveyance, Grantor will provide written 
notice to Grantee. 
 

6. GRANTEE or their designee agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless 
GRANTOR against all damages, expenses, costs and charges, including attorney’s 
fees, and to save GRANTOR harmless from any and all loss, liability, and claims 
for damages by third parties (together “Claims”) arising from the act or omission 
of GRANTEE, its agents, employees, contractors or subcontractors, arising from 
or relating to GRANTEE’s use of the EASEMENT AREA, including the excavating, 
installing, inspecting, constructing, reconstructing, repairing, replacing, 
relocating, renewing, removing, maintaining and operating of sanitary sewer, 
potable water, and/or recycled water lines. 

 
7. Any notice which GRANTOR or GRANTEE is required to provide related to this 

EASEMENT shall be given in writing and may be personally served, sent by 
overnight courier delivery, or deposited in the United States Mail as certified 
mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the other party at the following address: 

 
 
  GRANTOR:   Alameda County Flood Control & Water Conservation  

District, Zone 7 
Attn: General Manager 
100 North Canyons Parkway 
Livermore, CA 94551 

 
  GRANTEE:  City of Dublin      

Attn: City Manager 
     100 Civic Plaza 

Dublin, CA 94568      



 

 

 

 

     
This instrument contains the entire agreement between the parties relating to the rights 
herein granted and the obligations herein assumed.  Any oral representations or 
modifications concerning this instrument shall be of no force and effect except by a 
subsequent modification in writing, signed by the party to be charged. 
 
The provisions of this EASEMENT DEED shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 
upon the heirs, successors, assigns, and personal representatives of the respective 
parties and this EASEMENT shall run with the land. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument is duly executed pursuant to Alameda County 
Flood Control and Water Conservation District Resolution No. _______________, 
adopted _____________________, 20_____, a certified copy of which is attached 
hereto and made a part hereof. 
 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND 
WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 
 
 
 
By:          Dated:      
David Haubert, President 
Board of Supervisors 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District 
 
  



 

 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
State of California                 ) 
                                          ) ss      
County of ___________        ) 
 
 
On                                    , before  
 
me,___________________________________________,  
          (Deputy Clerk) 
 
Deputy Clerk, personally appeared 
_________________________________________________ who proved to me on the 
basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to 
the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in 
his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the 
instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, 
executed the instrument. 
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 
foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
                                                   
      (Deputy Clerk Signature) 
 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the 
identity of the individual who signed the document to which this certificate is 

attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document. 
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MAINTENANCE USE LICENSE AGREEMENT 
 
 

THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT (hereinafter “LICENSE”) is made and entered into this 
____ day of _____________, 2025, by and between Zone 7 of Alameda County Flood Control 
and Water Conservation District, a body corporate and politic (hereinafter “ZONE 7”) and the 
City of Dublin, a Municipal Corporation (hereinafter “CITY”).  ZONE 7 and CITY may be 
collectively referred to as PARTIES or individually as PARTY. 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Both parties are authorized by the acts governing them to plan, improve, maintain and 
operate facilities;  

 
B. ZONE 7 has certain rights of way located on non-City property (hereinafter “LICENSED 

AREAS”), which are not part of City’s public drainage system; the LICENSED AREAS 
can be used for storm drainage purposes in accordance with this LICENSE 
AGREEMENT and amendments thereto; 

 
C. CITY has indicated its desire to construct, improve, operate, and maintain storm 

drainage improvements, which may include, but are not limited to, storm drainage 
pipeline, drainage ditch, drainage inlet, and landscaping (hereinafter “STORM DRAIN 
FACILITIES”). that these rights of way can support within and about the LICENSED 
AREAS; and 

 
D. ZONE 7 is agreeable to such use by CITY on the LICENSED AREAS and hereby grants 

a non-exclusive LICENSE for said use upon the following terms and conditions. 
 

AGREEMENTS 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT MUTUALLY AGREED as follows: 

  
1. Recitals.  The above Recitals are incorporated herein as if set forth in full.  

2. Permitted Use.  Subject to the terms of this LICENSE, the CITY is permitted to 
construct, improve, maintain, and operate the STORM DRAIN FACILITIES and operate 
the LICENSED AREAS for storm drainage purposes, including storm drainage into said 
STORM DRAIN FACILITIES (hereinafter the “USE”).  Nothing herein obligates CITY to 
maintain private or non-City facilities outside the LICENSED AREAS.  

3. Licensed Areas.  The LICENSED AREAS are identified in Exhibit A (Location Map) and 
more particularly described and delineated in Exhibit B, which are attached hereto and 
made a part hereof. 

4. Additional Licensed Areas.  Additional LICENSED AREAS, as mutually agreed upon 
by CITY and ZONE 7, may be added by written amendment to this LICENSE. 

5. License Fee.  This LICENSE shall not require payment of any rent or other charges to 
ZONE 7 by CITY for the use of the LICENSED AREAS for the purposes for which it is 
permitted. 
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6. Term of License. 

a. The term of this LICENSE shall be for twenty-five (25) years from the date of 
execution of this LICENSE with an option to CITY of renewal for additional 
periods of twenty-five (25) years thereafter upon application accompanied by a 
showing of faithful exercise according to the covenants herein; either this original 
LICENSE or any renewal thereof to be subject to termination under the 
covenants provided herein to govern such termination. Renewals shall be subject 
to updating the conditions on use of the LICENSED AREAS. 

b. CITY’s obligations under Section 12 (“Indemnity”) and Section 14 (“Waiver of 
Claims”) shall survive the termination of this LICENSE. 

7. Limitations. 

a. This LICENSE is granted solely for the purpose of authorizing CITY to perform 
the USE.  

b. It is understood and agreed by CITY that the primary purpose for which ZONE 7 
has acquired and owns the LICENSED AREAS is for flood protection and water 
management and that operations in furtherance of said purpose must take 
precedence over any and all other uses of the subject LICENSED AREAS. 

c. ZONE 7 shall have all reasonable and necessary rights of entry to the subject 
LICENSED AREAS, including the right to alteration or repair and maintenance 
and operation for flood protection and water management purposes.  The CITY’S 
USE, shall be at all times subject to the primary use of the aforesaid LICENSED 
AREAS for flood protection and water management purposes. 

d. CITY shall obtain and comply with all required permits, agreements and/or 
regulatory approvals relating to the USE, including all federal, state, or local 
government requirements.  This requirement includes compliance with CEQA as 
well as any necessary construction, building or use permits, including any 
progress inspections that may be required by any regulatory body. 

e. Prior to installation of any permanent facilities or landscape improvements, CITY 
shall submit plans and specifications and any related approvals required in 6.d. 
to ZONE 7 for review.  The facility or improvements shall not be installed by CITY 
without first obtaining written approval from ZONE 7’s General Manager.  Written 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld and said approval shall be given 
unless ZONE 7, in its sole discretion, determines that such structures, facilities or 
improvements would interfere with the primary use of said areas for flood 
protection and water management purposes.  Zone 7 hereby acknowledges that 
all permanent facilities and landscape improvements on the Licensed Areas as of 
September 2025 have been approved by Zone 7 and do not require further 
approvals under this subsection 7.e. 

f. Should ZONE 7, in its sole discretion, reasonably determine that any of CITY’s 
activities, or lack thereof, or improvements interfere with any ZONE 7 activities or 
operations, ZONE 7 may require CITY to eliminate said interference, by providing 
CITY with written notice of ZONE 7’s requirement and the reasons, therefore.  
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Within 30 days of its receipt of such notice, CITY shall proceed forthwith to 
remedy the problem, as directed by ZONE 7.  In the event CITY fails to remedy 
or correct the problem within such thirty-day period, ZONE 7 may take such 
action as ZONE 7 deems reasonably necessary to remedy such interference, all 
at CITY’s sole expense.  

g. CITY agrees to abide by any future LICENSED AREAS Rules and Regulations 
which may be adopted by ZONE 7’s Board of Directors after ZONE 7 provides 
CITY with notice of the same. 

h. CITY agrees to accept this LICENSE to the LICENSED AREAS on an “as-is” 
basis, and ZONE 7 has no obligation for maintenance or repair of LICENSED 
AREAS during the term of this LICENSE.  

i. CITY shall be solely responsible for any damage or loss to ZONE 7 rights of way 
due to negligence of CITY to properly operate and maintain STORM DRAIN 
FACILITIES within said LICENSE AREAS. CITY shall be solely responsible for 
any loss or damage suffered by ZONE 7 (including direct or indirect loss or 
damage, or incidental or consequential loss or damage) resulting from the of 
CITY’s USE. 

j. CITY shall be solely responsible for any damage or loss to STORM DRAIN 
FACILITIES resulting from theft or vandalism or resulting from any other cause.  
ZONE 7 shall not provide security for STORM DRAIN FACILITIES nor 
LICENSED AREA in general.  ZONE 7 shall not be responsible for any loss or 
damage suffered by CITY (including direct or indirect loss or damage, or 
incidental or consequential loss or damage) resulting from any damage to 
STORM DRAIN FACILITIES or loss of use thereof suffered in connection with 
this LICENSE. 

k. Suspension or Limitation of Use: ZONE 7 shall have the right, without liability to 
CITY, to suspend any of the USE temporarily or to limit this LICENSE and the 
USE during such periods of time as ZONE 7 determines that such suspension or 
limitation is necessary in the interest of public safety, national security, or the 
operation or maintenance of its flood or water facilities.  Zone 7 will provide 
notice of its determination to suspend or limit use to CITY pursuant to Section 17 
of this License Agreement.  

8. Maintenance and Operation. 

a. CITY shall cause any STORM DRAIN FACILITIES to be constructed, 
maintained, and operated in an orderly, safe, and sanitary manner, at all times.  

b. The removal of vegetation including tree limbs/branches that may interfere with 
the USE shall be the responsibility of the CITY. Removal of large debris illegally 
dumped in the streams and flood protection channels shall be the responsibility 
of ZONE 7. 

c. The LICENSED AREA may be subject to slides, erosion, subsidence, flooding, 
and other damages. In the event that the USE is impacted by such damages, 
ZONE 7 will make its best efforts to repair ZONE 7’s facilities to Zone 7 
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standards; however, such repairs will be subject to available funding and other 
maintenance priorities as determined by ZONE 7 in its sole discretion.  Repair of 
damage to STORM DRAIN FACILITIES shall be the responsibility of CITY and at 
CITY’s sole cost.  CITY shall perform such repair, as CITY may deem necessary 
for proper and safe operation of the LICENSED AREA. 

d. In the performance of routine and/or emergency repair activities ZONE 7 will 
exercise reasonable care to avoid removal or damage to existing STORM DRAIN 
FACILITIES, and CITY, at its sole cost, shall be responsible for any reinstallation, 
repair or reconstruction work. 

e. CITY agrees to give Zone 7 reasonable notice of its major maintenance activities 
that may conflict with ZONE 7’s maintenance of its flood protection channel. 
Major maintenance activities include but are not limited to work on any 
permanent structure, facility and/or vegetation work that may conflict with ZONE 
7’s maintenance of its flood protection channel properties.   

9. Violations of Permitted Use.  Should the CITY, its employees, contractors, 
subcontractors, agents, or the general public construct, install, operate or maintain any 
storm drainage improvements in violation of the terms of this LICENSE, or in violation of 
any of the approvals granted, ZONE 7 may direct CITY, at CITY’s sole cost, to remove 
the improvements from the LICENSED AREAS or to take other remedial action, as 
ZONE 7 may, in its sole discretion, determine to be appropriate.  CITY shall be afforded 
a period of fifteen (15) days, within which to cure any such violations and comply with 
ZONE 7’s directive.  In the event CITY fails to cure within the above stated period, ZONE 
7 shall have the right to take any and all actions to remediate the LICENSED AREAS 
and CITY shall reimburse ZONE 7 for all costs associated therewith.  Zone 7, as it 
reasonably determines, may extend the period as may be necessary to cure the default, 
provided that the City has commenced the cure within the fifteen (15) day period.  

10. Assignment.  CITY may assign all of its rights, duties and liabilities under this LICENSE 
to another public agency provided that such assignment is agreeable to ZONE 7 and 
provided further that such agency gives written notice to ZONE 7 that it accepts all of the 
rights, duties and liabilities imposed upon CITY under this LICENSE. 

11. Acknowledgment of Title.  It is understood and agreed that CITY, by the acceptance of 
this LICENSE and by the use or occupancy of said LICENSED AREAS, has not 
acquired and shall not acquire hereafter any property rights or interest in or to said 
LICENSED AREAS through this LICENSE, and that CITY may use the LICENSED 
AREAS only as herein provided.  ZONE 7 shall retain the right to sell or change areas, 
but in the event that CITY is damaged by such action, CITY shall be compensated for 
any damage to facilities which it has installed based on an agreed upon value. 

12. Indemnity. CITY shall indemnify, defend, reimburse and hold harmless Zone 7, its 
officers, agents, contractors and, employees  (collectively, “Indemnitees”)  from and 
against any and all demands, claims, legal or administrative proceedings, losses, costs, 
penalties, fines, liens, judgments, damages and liabilities of any kind (collectively, 
"Liabilities"), arising in any manner out of: (a) any injury to or death of any person or 
damage to or destruction of any property occurring in, on or about the LICENSED 
AREAS, or any part thereof, whether the person or property of CITY, its officers, agents, 
employees, contractors and subcontractors (collectively, "Agents"), its invitees, guests or 
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business visitors or third persons (collectively, "Invitees”), relating in any manner to any 
use or activity under the LICENSE and modifications thereto; (b) any failure by CITY to 
faithfully observe or perform any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this LICENSE 
or (c) the USE of the LICENSED AREAS or any activities conducted thereon by CITY, its 
Agents or Invitees. This provision applies except to the extent of Liabilities resulting 
directly from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of ZONE 7 or ZONE 7’s 
authorized representatives. 

The foregoing indemnity shall include, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' and 
consultants' fees, investigation and remediation costs and all other reasonable costs and 
expenses incurred by the Indemnitees, including, without limitation, damages for 
decrease in the value of the LICENSED AREAS and claims for damages or decreases in 
the value of adjoining property. CITY shall have an immediate and independent obligation 
to defend ZONE 7 from any claim which actually or potentially falls within this indemnity 
provision even if such allegation is or may be groundless, fraudulent or false, which 
obligation arises at the time such claim is tendered to CITY by ZONE 7 and continues at 
all times thereafter. CITY’s obligations under this Condition shall survive the expiration or 
termination of the LICENSE and modifications thereto. 
 

13. Minimum Insurance Requirements. CITY shall procure and maintain for the duration 
of the use of the LICENSED AREAS, insurance against claims for injuries or death to 
persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the USE and 
the connected activities of CITY, guests, agents, representatives, employees or sub- 
contractors.  CITY shall provide and maintain the following commercial general liability, 
automobile liability, and workers’ compensation: 

Coverage – Coverage shall be at least as broad as the following: 
 

a. General Liability - Insurance Services Office (ISO) Commercial General Liability 
Coverage (Occurrence Form CG 00 01) including property damage, bodily injury 
and personal injury with limits of at least two million dollars ($2,000,000) per 
occurrence or the full per occurrence limits of the policies available, whichever is 
greater.  If Commercial General Liability Insurance or other form with a general 
aggregate limit, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to the 
project/location (with the ISO CG 25 03, or ISO CG 25 04, or insurer's equivalent 
endorsement provided to ZONE 7) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice 
the required occurrence limit.      

 
b. Automobile Liability – Insurance Services Office (ISO) Business Auto Coverage 

(Form CA 00 01), covering Symbol 1 (any auto) with limit of one million dollars 
($1,000,000) for bodily injury and property damage each accident.    

 
c. Workers' Compensation Insurance – CITY shall provide workers’ compensation 

coverage as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and 
Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident 
for bodily injury or disease. Waiver of Subrogation: The insurer(s) named above 
agree to waive all rights of subrogation against ZONE 7, its directors, officers, 
employees, and authorized volunteers for losses paid under the terms of this 
policy which arise from work performed by the Named Insured for the Agency, 
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but this provision applies regardless of whether or not ZONE 7 has received a 
waiver of subrogation from the insurer.     

 
d. Property Insurance – with limits of no less than $250,000. The policy shall cover 

all risks of direct physical loss, damage, or destruction to the gates, signage and 
other improvements installed by CITY to insure against such losses, and at least 
against the perils of fire and extended coverage, theft, vandalism and malicious 
mischief.   The Policy shall be endorsed with ZONE 7 of Alameda County Flood 
Control and Water Conservation District, Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District, the County of Alameda, their officers, agents and 
employees named as loss payee, as their interest may appear. 

 
If CITY maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown above, 
ZONE 7 requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or higher limits 
maintained by CITY. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified 
minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to ZONE 7. 

Required Provisions – The Commercial General Liability policies are to contain, or be 
endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

 
a. Additional Insured Status – ZONE 7 of Alameda County Flood Control and Water 

Conservation District, Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation 
District, the County of Alameda, their officers, agents and employees are to be 
given insured status (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 12), as respects: 
liability arising out of the use of the facilities, work or activities performed by or on 
behalf of CITY including materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection 
with such work or operations, and automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed 
by CITY.  The coverage shall contain no special limitations on the scope of 
protection afforded to ZONE 7, its directors, officers, employees, and authorized 
volunteers. 

 
b. Primary Coverage – For any claims related to this facilities use, CITY’s insurance 

coverage shall be primary at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects 
to ZONE 7, its directors, officers, employees, and authorized volunteers. Any 
insurance or self-insurance maintained by ZONE 7, its directors, officers, 
employees, and authorized volunteers; shall be excess of CITY’s insurance and 
shall not contribute with it.   

Notice of Cancellation:  Each insurance policy required above shall provide that coverage 
shall not be canceled, except with notice to ZONE 7. 
 
Acceptability of Insurers – Insurance is to be placed with insurers having a current A.M. 
Best rating of no less than A:VII or as otherwise approved by ZONE 7. CITY has the right 
and option to self-insure the requirements under this Section upon written notice to ZONE 7 
that CITY assumes the obligations in the place and stead of any insurance carrier, any 
reference to failure to coverage notwithstanding.  In the event that CITY elects to self-
insure, CITY shall provide to ZONE 7 a certificate or other evidence of self-insurance 
acceptable to ZONE 7. 
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CITY agrees and he/she will comply with such provisions before commencing the event.  
All of the insurance shall be provided on policy forms and through companies satisfactory 
to ZONE 7.  ZONE 7 reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required 
insurance policies, including policy Declaration pages and Endorsement pages. Failure to 
continually satisfy the Insurance requirements is a material breach of contract. 
 
Verification of Coverage – CITY shall furnish ZONE 7 with certificates and amendatory 
endorsements effecting coverage required by the above provisions.   
 

14. Waiver of Claims. CITY fully releases, waives, and discharges forever any and all 
claims, demands, rights and cause of action against, and covenants not to sue, 
Indemnities, under any present or future laws, statutes, or regulations: (a) for any claim 
or event relating to the condition of the LICENSED AREAS or the USE; or (b) in the 
event that ZONE 7 exercises its right to suspend, revoke or terminate the LICENSE.  

15. Duties of ZONE 7. ZONE 7 agrees to give CITY reasonable notice of flood protection 
and water management operations and maintenance which would affect storm drainage 
facilities  operations of CITY and keep CITY informed of any conditions which might 
result in such operations and maintenance.  ZONE 7 further agrees to furnish any plans 
for improvements to the LICENSED AREAS to the CITY for review and comments.  
ZONE 7 will maintain the LICENSED AREAS to the extent necessary for flood protection 
and water management purposes.  Repairs to flood and water facilities/structures shall 
be the responsibility of ZONE 7 except when such repairs arise from damage caused to 
these facilities/structures by CITY, its officers, agents, employees, contractors and 
subcontractors, its invitees, guests or business visitors or third persons.  Such ZONE 7 
responsibilities shall not relieve the CITY from its Liabilities as described in Section 12. 

16. Property Taxes.  Pursuant to California Revenue and Taxation Code section 107.6, 
notice is hereby given that CITY is responsible for any possessory interest taxes that 
may be imposed as a result of, or related to, this LICENSE. 

 
17. Notice.  Any demand or notice which either party shall be required, or may desire to 

make upon or give to the other shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally upon 
the other or be sent by prepaid certified mail to the respective parties as follows: 

 

ZONE 7: General Manager 
 

Zone 7, Alameda County Flood Control 
And Water Conservation District 
100 North Canyons Parkway 
Livermore, CA  94551 

 
CITY:  City Manager 

City of Dublin 
100 Civic Plaza 
Dublin, CA 94568 

 



 

5134386.3  8 

Either party may, from time to time, designate any other address for this purpose by 
written notice to the other party with notice of ten (10) business days. 

 

18. Miscellaneous. 

a. Entire Agreement; Amendments. This LICENSE constitutes the entire LICENSE 
and understanding between the PARTIES, and supersedes all offers, 
negotiations and other agreements concerning the subject matter contained 
herein.  Any amendments to this LICENSE must be in writing and executed by 
both PARTIES. 

b. Severability; No Waiver.  If any provision of this LICENSE is invalid or 
unenforceable with respect to any party, the remainder of this LICENSE or the 
application of such provision to persons other than those as to whom it is held 
invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected and each provision of this 
LICENSE shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extents permitted by law.  

c. Governing Law; Venue. This LICENSE shall be governed by the laws of the 
State of California. The exclusive venue for any action or proceeding arising out 
of this LICENSE shall be the Superior Court of California, County of Alameda, 
and the parties hereby consent to that court’s jurisdiction.  

d. Counterparts. This LICENSE may be executed in one or more 
counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original and all of which will 
constitute the complete LICENSE. 

e. No Agency or Partnership.  Nothing in this LICENSE shall be deemed or 
construed by any person to create the relationship of principal and agent, 
or of limited or general partnership, or of joint venture, or of any other 
association between or among any of the PARTIES.  No part of this 
LICENSE shall be construed as creating any rights in the general public, 
nor shall any party be deemed to be a gift or dedication for public use of 
any portion of the properties described in this LICENSE. 

f. Authorizations.  Each PARTY represents and warrants that the person signing 
this LICENSE is duly authorized to sign this LICENSE on that PARTY’S behalf.  

 
[signatures on following page] 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this LICENSE on the dates 
appearing below their respective authorized signatures. 
 
 
 

 
ZONE 7:      CITY: 
 
Zone 7 of Alameda County Flood Control  City of Dublin     
 and Water Conservation District  

 
 
 

By: ______________________________  By: ______________________________ 
Valerie L. Pryor, General Manager Colleen Tribby, City Manager 

 
 
Date:____________________________  Date:______________________________ 
 
        
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Rebecca Smith, General Counsel   John Bakker, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  ITEM NO. 8e 
 

 

 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Maintenance 
CONTACT: Jon Nicolaus 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Award a Contract for Fire System and Extinguisher Services 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
The proposed action supports Zone 7’s mission to deliver safe, reliable, efficient, and 
sustainable water services, as well as Strategic Plan Goal B – Reliable Water Supply and 
Infrastructure. 
 
In accordance with the Purchasing Policy, a Request for Quote (RFQ No. 2025-116) was issued 
to qualified vendors to solicit bids for Fire System and Extinguisher Services. Firecode Safety 
Equipment, Inc. was determined to be the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, with a 
three-year contract bid amount of $170,025 ($56,675 per year). This bid is generally 
consistent with spending in previous years, which averaged approximately $48,000 per year. 
 
The Fire Systems and Extinguishers Services contract provides annual servicing of all Agency 
fire extinguishers and periodic inspection of fire sprinklers and fire hydrants to maintain safety 
and ensure regulatory compliance. 
 
Staff recommends that the Board: 
 

1. Authorize the General Manager to execute a three-year contract with Firecode Safety 
Equipment, Inc., in an amount not to exceed $187,027, which includes 10% 
contingency; and 

 
2. Authorize the General Manager to extend the contract for up to two (2) additional one-

year terms, based on satisfactory performance, for a total five-year not-to-exceed 
contract amount of $311,712, which includes a 10% contingency. 

 
FUNDING: Funding is available in the FY 2025-26 Two-Year Adopted Budget for Fund 100 – 
Water Enterprise Operations. Funding for additional years will be requested in subsequent 
budget cycles. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt the attached Resolution. 
 
ATTACHMENT: Resolution



 

 

ZONE 7 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
RESOLUTION NO.  

 
INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
SECONDED BY DIRECTOR  

 
Award a Contract for Fire System and Extinguisher Services 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed action is in support of Zone 7’s mission to deliver safe, 

reliable, efficient, and sustainable water services and Strategic Goal B – Reliable Water Supply 
and Infrastructure; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Fire Systems and Extinguisher Services contract provides annual 
servicing of all Agency fire extinguishers and periodic inspection of fire sprinklers and fire 
hydrants to maintain safety and regulatory compliance; and, 
 

WHEREAS, a Request for Quote (RFQ No. 2025-116) was issued to qualified vendors to 
solicit bids for Fire System and Extinguisher Services, and Firecode Safety Equipment, Inc. was 
determined to be the lowest responsive and responsible bidder. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District hereby authorize the General 
Manager to negotiate, execute, and amend a three-year contract with Firecode Safety 
Equipment, Inc., for Fire System and Extinguisher Services in an amount not to exceed 
$187,027, which includes a 10% contingency; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the General Manager is authorized to extend the 
contract for up to two (2) additional one-year terms, based on satisfactory performance, for a 
total five-year not-to-exceed contract amount of $311,712, which includes a 10% contingency. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN: 
 

 
I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
      President, Board of Directors 
 



ITEM NO. 8f 

 

 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Operations 
CONTACT: John Brixie 
 
AGENDA DATE:  December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Award a Contract for Janitorial Services 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
To support Zone 7’s mission to deliver safe, reliable, efficient, and sustainable water and flood 
protection services, and consistent with Goal A – Professional Workforce, Zone 7 ensures 
professional, sanitary conditions are maintained for the employees of Zone 7 at Del Valle 
Water Treatment Plant, Patterson Pass Water Treatment Plant, Mocho Groundwater 
Demineralization Plant, and the Parkside Office. 
 
In accordance with the Zone 7’s Purchasing Policy, a competitive procurement process was 
completed. In December 2024 the Board authorized a one-year contract with Universal 
Building Services, with the option to renew for four additional one-year terms with 
subsequent-year prices adjusted for inflation. Universal Building Services notified Zone 7 that 
that they will not honor the agreed upon pricing for the second year; therefore, their contract 
will not be renewed. 
 
P&D Ventures, Inc. doing business as (dba) JAN-PRO Franchise Development of the Greater 
Bay Area (JAN-PRO) was the next lowest responsive, responsible bidder. JAN-PRO is proposed 
to be awarded the janitorial services contract for calendar year (CY) 2026 in an amount of 
$105,000, which includes 10% contingency, with the option to extend the contract for up to 
three additional one-year periods with the prices adjusted for inflation each subsequent year. 
 
Staff recommends that the Board: 
 

1. Authorize the General Manager to negotiate, execute, and amend as necessary a one-
year contract with JAN-PRO in an amount not to exceed $105,000, which includes 10% 
contingency for janitorial services at Del Valle Water Treatment Plant, Patterson Pass 
Water Treatment Plant, Parkside Offices, and Mocho Demineralization Plant; and 

 
2. Authorize the General Manager to extend the contract for up to three additional one-

year periods (CY 2027 through CY 2029), based on satisfactory performance, for a four-
year total amount not to exceed $440,000, which includes 10% contingency. 

 
  



 

FUNDING: 
 
Funding is available in the FY 2025-26 budget in Fund 100 – Water Enterprise Operations. 
Funding for additional years will be proposed in subsequent budget requests. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 
Resolution



 

ZONE 7 

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 25- 
 

INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
SECONDED BY DIRECTOR  

 

Award of Contract for Janitorial Services 

  
WHEREAS, janitorial services are needed to support the Zone 7 Mission to deliver safe, 

reliable, efficient, and sustainable water and flood protection services and in support of 
Strategic Plan Goal A – Professional Workforce; and 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Zone 7’s Purchasing Policy, a competitive procurement 
process was completed to select a contractor to provide these services; and 
 

WHEREAS, in December 2024 the Board awarded a contract to Universal Building 
Services, with the option to renew for four additional one-year terms with subsequent-year 
prices adjusted for inflation for the first year; and 
 

WHEREAS, Universal Building Services notified Zone 7 that they will not honor the 
agreed upon pricing for the second year and their contract will not be renewed; and, 
 

WHEREAS, P&D Ventures, Inc. dba JAN-PRO Franchise Development of the Greater Bay 
Area was the second lowest responsive, responsible bidder. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors authorizes the General 
Manager to negotiate and execute a Janitorial Services contract with P&D Ventures, Inc. dba 
JAN-PRO Franchise Development of the Greater Bay Area, for the term commencing January 
1, 2026, and ending December 31, 2026, in the amount not-to-exceed $105,000, which 
includes 10% contingency; and 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors authorizes the General Manager 
to execute adjustments each year to the contract prices for up to three (3) additional one-year 
periods (CY 2027 through CY 2029), based on satisfactory performance, for a four-year total 
not-to-exceed contract amount of $440,000, which includes 10% contingency. 
 

ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 
 

AYES:  
 

NOES:  
 

ABSENT:  
  
ABSTAIN:  
 

 
I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
By:                
      President, Board of Directors 
  



ITEM NO. 8g 

 

 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Office of the General Manager 
CONTACT: Carol Mahoney/Valerie Pryor  
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Adopt Revised Legislative Framework and Platform 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
The original Legislative Framework was adopted by the Board in December 2021, acting as a 
guide to the Board, Legislative Committee, and staff on matters pertaining to Agency interests 
with respect to federal, state, and local government legislative actions. A Legislative Platform 
was added to the document for 2025 and has been updated for 2026 to identify areas of focus 
where the Agency may take specific positions on pending legislation. The Platform focus areas 
remain tied to the goals identified in the 2025-2029 Strategic Plan.  
 
The Legislative Framework and Platform was reviewed by the Legislative Committee on 
October 9, 2025, reviewed and recommended for changes by the Board on November 19, 
2025. With the incorporation of the edits discussed by the Board of Directors, staff 
recommends adopting the attached Legislative Framework and Platform. This action supports 
Strategic Plan, Goal G – Stakeholder Engagement and Goal H – Fiscal Responsibility. 
 
FUNDING: 
 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
• Resolution 

• Legislative Framework and Platform



 

 

ZONE 7 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 25- 

 
INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
SECONDED BY DIRECTOR  

 
Adopt Revised Legislative Framework and Platform 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board created a Legislative Committee to review and recommend 
positions on key legislative actions; and  

 
WHEREAS, the adoption of a legislative framework supports Strategic Plan, Goal G – 

Stakeholder Engagement, and Goal H - Fiscal Responsibility; and  
 
WHEREAS, to provide a roadmap in supporting the goals of the Strategic Plan and to 

guide the Board, Legislative Committee, and staff on matters pertaining to Agency interests 
with respect to federal, state, and local government legislative actions, the Legislative 
Framework and Platform was last adopted in January 2025; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Legislative Platform has been updated for the upcoming legislative 
session to concisely describe under what circumstances positions may be considered by the 
Agency related to Goals identified in the 2025-2029 Strategic Plan, and Agency need. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Zone 7 Board of Directors of the Alameda 
County Flood Control and Water Conservation District does hereby adopt the attached 
Legislative Framework and Platform. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  
  

I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
      President, Board of Directors 
 



 

 

ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY 
Legislative Framework and Platform 

DRAFT (January 2026) 
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Docusign Envelope ID: F079A54B-75BC-4891-8196-C63538A8636F 
 

ZONE 7 

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-06 

 
INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR NARUM 
SECONDED BY DIRECTOR BENSON 

 
Adopt Revised Legislative Framework and New Platform 

WHEREAS, the Board created a Legislative Committee to review and recommend 
positions on key legislative actions; and 

 
WHEREAS, the adoption of a legislative framework supports Strategic Plan, Goal G – 

Stakeholder Engagement, and Goal H - Fiscal Responsibility; and 
 

WHEREAS, to provide a roadmap in supporting the goals of the Strategic Plan and to 
guide the Board, Legislative Committee, and staff on matters pertaining to Agency interests 
with respect to federal, state, and local government legislative actions, the Legislative 
Framework was first adopted in December 2021 and revised in March 2023; and 

 
WHEREAS, a Legislative Platform has been developed as a companion document to the 

Legislative Framework to concisely describe under what circumstances positions may be 
considered by the Agency related to Goals identified in the 2025-2029 Strategic Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Legislative Committee plans to review the Legislative Framework and 

Platform annually, with updates as needed. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Zone 7 Board of Directors of the Alameda 
County Flood Control and Water Conservation District does hereby adopt the attached 
Legislative Framework and Platform. 

 
ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 

AYES: DIRECTORS BENSON, BROWN, FIGUERS, GAMBS, GREEN, NARUM, PALMER 

NOES: NONE 

ABSENT: NONE 

ABSTAIN: NONE 

 
I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on January 15, 2025. 

 
 
 
By:    

President, Board of Directors 

TO BE UPDATED UPON APPROVAL 
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PURPOSE AND GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
 
The purpose of the Legislative Framework (Framework) is to provide the Board, Legislative 
Committee (Committee), staff, and the public with an understanding of what actions may be 
taken by Zone 7 Water Agency (Agency) to address legislative concerns. Additionally, this 
Framework explains the process for engagement and contains guiding principles, goals, focus 
areas, strategies for engagement, position definitions, and the Legislative Platform – which will 
be reviewed and updated annually to reflect changing conditions and needs. 
 
The guiding principles for legislative engagement by the Agency, its staff and Board are 
representative of adopted policies/plans, and frames the legislative interests with respect to 
the Agency’s mission, vision, and values. In addition to these, the other primary guiding 
document for evaluating legislation is the 2025-2029 Strategic Plan, which was updated and 
approved by the Board on November 20, 2024. Legislative action may also be considered for 
topics that were not known at the time of adoption provided they fall within the broader goals. 
Staff routinely review and comment on regulatory matters separately. 
 
 

    GOALS  

 
 

  

the Agency’s legislative interests at the:Advocate
• State

• Region

• Federal Levels

by providing information to:Inform
• Legislators, Board of Directors, other elected officials and staff on key issues and legislation 

that could have an impact on the Agency

by actively participating with:Serve
• Other water purveyors and special districts, the Association of California Water Agencies 

(ACWA), California Special Districts Association (CSDA), California Municipal Utilities 
Association (CMUA) and regional agencies on legislative/regulatory issues that are important 
to the Agency
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STRATEGIES FOR LEGISLATIVE ENGAGEMENT 
Communication: 
Communicate legislative positions on proposed federal, state, county and local legislation, 
measures, initiatives, and governmental regulations. 

  
Advocate and Seek Funding: 

 

  

• Work with legislative advocates to develop positions on proposed legislative 

measures. 
 

• Review positions taken and analysis produced by the Association of California 

Water Agencies (ACWA), California Special Districts Association (CSDA), 

California Municipal Utilities Association (CMUA), and others in formulating 

Agency’s position. 
 

• The Agency will only take positions on proposals that clearly impact our 

Agency or state water policy. 
 

• Actively track key bills through the legislative process. 
 

• Communicate the Agency’s position through correspondence, meetings, and 

testimony, if necessary. 
 

• Meet with legislators and their representatives to discuss issues, proposed 

legislation, and educate them on Agency services. 
 

• Develop an Annual Legislative Communications Plan. 

• Seek federal, state, regional, and county funding for Agency projects. 
 

• Advocate and request letters of support for Agency projects and grant 

applications. 
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PROCESS 
Government Relations Manager will monitor and review legislation in conjunction with 
membership organizations, the Agency’s advocacy consultant, and the General Manager. Bills 
that clearly fall within the purview of the major legislative reference documents – the Strategic 
Planning priorities, Agency mission, and Legislative Platform – will be evaluated for Agency 
positions and actions. Bills that have more tenuous ties to the reference documents or may 
warrant more extensive political action, will be presented to the Legislative Committee for 
consideration of a formal recommendation to the Board for positions. If the Agency’s position 
includes a request for bill amendments, the Board approval will include the position that the 
agency would move to should amendments be adopted. Letter outlining the Agency’s position 
will be signed by either the Board President or in their absence, the General Manager.  
 
Membership organizations often request immediate action to join with them in advocating a 
position on a specific bill. In these instances, staff will use the Legislative Platform to 
determine if the Agency’s logo should be added to the position letter. Other agencies and 
membership organizations may have slightly different positions or may include rankings in 
their positions to indicate the level of effort that will be employed in their advocacy. When 
joining with membership organizations, staff will review the positions for consistency in spirit 
with those adopted by the Agency. The following describes positions the Agency make 
consider and encompasses those most frequently used by membership organizations. 
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POSITIONS  
 

• Support (S) — Agency actively supports the proposed legislation.  

• Support if Amended (S/A) — Agency will actively support the proposed legislation, if 

it is amended to address specific shortcomings identified by the Agency.  

• Favor (F) —Agency will join with other organizations in support but will not engage 

separately in advocacy for the measure.  

• Favor, if Amended (F/A) — Agency will join with other organizations in support, if 

legislation is amended to address specific shortcomings identified by the Agency, but 

will not engage actively in advocacy for the measure.  

• Watch (W) — Measures or general issues have not been sufficiently defined for a 

formal position.  

• Neutral (N) – Agency determines that a formal position no longer meets the Agency 

objectives. 

• Not Favor (NF) — Agency will join with other organizations in opposition, but will not 

engage actively in advocacy against the measure.  

• Not Favor Unless Amended (NF/A) – Agency will join with other organizations in 

opposition, unless the legislation is amended to address shortcomings identified by the 

Agency, but will not engage actively in advocacy against the measure. 

• Oppose Unless Amended (O/A) — Agency will actively oppose the proposed 

legislation unless it is amended to address specific shortcomings.  

• Oppose (O) — Agency actively opposes the proposed legislation. 
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Zone 7 Water Agency 2025 Legislative Platform 
The purpose of the Legislative Platform (Platform) is to define interests and concerns of the 
Agency for evaluating legislation. The priorities identified in the Platform mirror the goals of 
the 2025-2029 Strategic Plan. Positions will be evaluated for support or opposition based on 
alignment with the Agency’s Mission, Vision, Values, and priorities of the Strategic Plan.  
 

Reliable Water Supply and Infrastructure/Safe Water/Groundwater Management:  
• Join membership organizations or separately take positions on legislation that may 

impact the Agency’s ability to provide customers with a reliable, sustainable, or 
affordable water supply, manage and protect the groundwater basin, meet the goals of 
the Agency’s Water Quality Policy, and provide adequate infrastructure.  

• Join membership organizations or separately take positions on legislation that may 
impact the Agency’s ability to operate as the Groundwater Sustainability Agency (GSA) 
or impacts local control.  

 

Effective Operations/Flood Protection:  

• Join membership organizations or separately take positions on legislation that may 

impact Zone 7’s operational functionality – including energy, infrastructure, agency 

administration, governance, construction, maintenance, permitting, project delivery, 

safety and security.  

• Join membership organizations or separately take positions on legislation that may 

impact Zone 7’s ability to operate as a special district, water supplier, flood protection 

manager and government organization.  

Fiscal Responsibility/Workforce Excellence:  
• Join membership organizations or separately take positions on legislation that impacts 

Zone 7’s ability to manage revenue, administer financial accounts, achieve fiscal 
stability, and maintain a skilled, motivated, professional workforce. 

• Joint membership organization or separately take positions on legislation that may 
impact the affordability of Zone 7’s water or flood protection services. 

 

Energy Planning and Investment: 
• Join membership organizations or separately take positions on legislation that may 

impact energy projects and programs, including agreement structures, funding, 
financing, permitting, construction, maintenance, and accessibility. 
 



ITEM NO. 9 

 

 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Office of the General Manager  
CONTACT: Carol Mahoney/Valerie Pryor 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Commendation for Retirement of Operations Manager, Rich Gould 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
Zone 7 would like to recognize and commend Operations Manager, Mr. Richard Gould, for his 
service and dedication to fulfilling Zone 7’s mission to deliver safe, reliable, efficient, and 
sustainable water. He has faithfully performed his duty for Zone 7’s customers for over 45 
years, setting a record for length of service at Zone 7 Water Agency. Mr. Gould began his 
career with Zone 7 as an Operator Trainee in August 1979 and was promoted to Water Plant 
Operator that same year. In 2005, he was promoted to Water Facilities Supervisor and 
assumed the role of Operations Manager in 2022. He holds the highest-level certificates for 
both treatment and distribution. 
 
Throughout his career, Mr. Gould has received numerous accolades and commendations. He 
was recognized early in his career journey for actions he took in June of 1985. A memo to Mun 
Mar, Zone 7’s founding General Manager, explained how Mr. Gould responded to a failed 
circuit breaker that took plant instrumentation offline during peak production and noted his 
commitment to reporting to management and remaining on site to assist the next two shifts to 
bring the plant back into balance. In 2009, he was recognized as Employee of the Month and 
in 2011, he received the distinguished “Bernard A. Miller, Jr. Outstanding Operator Award” 
from the American Water Works Association. In addition to his personal accolades, Zone 7 as 
an organization has received commendations that were influenced by Mr. Gould’s forward-
thinking leadership. For example, Zone 7 received the 2024 American Water Works Association 
“25-Year Directors Award” from the Partnership for Safe Water for the Del Valle Water 
Treatment Plant – underscoring the hard work, expertise, and commitment of the Zone 7 team 
in delivering high-quality drinking water to our community. Under his leadership in 
groundwater treatment, Zone 7 received the 2012 “Membrane Plant of the Year” award from 
the Southwest Membrane Operator Association for the Mocho Groundwater Demineralization 
Plant. Of this award, he stated, “We are excited to be able to successfully provide all of our 
communities with high-quality and safe drinking water. We look forward to increasing our 
efficiency at the Mocho Groundwater Demineralization Plant and to continue using cutting-
edge techniques to effectively manage water resources."  
 
Mr. Gould has a deep understanding of our customers’ needs and their water systems and is 
dedicated to providing the service and water supply they rely upon. Zone 7’s customers 
describe him as a trusted resource for his knowledge, experience, responsiveness and 
collaboration, and as a retail customer operations supervisor expressed, for his 
“professionalism, leadership, teacher’s mindset, and true public servant’s heart.” In one of the 
many communications received regarding his interactions with the community at large, Las 
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Positas Community College praised Mr. Gould for his in-depth knowledge and courteous nature 
while explaining inner workings of the water treatment process to Las Positas students. 
 
Mr. Gould’s knowledge and approach have been critical to meeting the challenges of providing 
uninterrupted, reliable water supply, including during planned and unplanned facility 
shutdowns, changing water quality, droughts, power shutdowns and other emergencies. Mr. 
Gould’s knowledge of distribution system operations led to improvements like the relocation of 
the Airway Pump Station to Kitty Hawk Road, which helps to maintain water service in the face 
of surface water curtailment to Patterson Pass Water Treatment Plant. During the 2022 
drought and reduced surface water supplies, exacerbated by emerging contaminants in the 
groundwater, he collaborated with Zone 7 staff and his extensive understanding led to the 
adoption of innovative blending and supply operations that met all water quality standards and 
customer demands. 
 
Throughout his years of service, Mr. Gould has been an invaluable asset and guiding voice 
during the planning and design of capital projects, large and small, to ensure their success, 
which included the addition of ozonation and other upgrades at both treatment plants and the 
Mocho Groundwater Demineralization Plant, as well as the addition of treatment facilities at 
the Chain of Lakes and Stoneridge wells to remove Per- and Poly-fluoroalkyl Substances 
(PFAS). 
 
Mr. Gould is committed to teamwork and collaboration throughout Zone 7 and is a resource, a 
mentor and a teacher who sets the standards for how Zone 7 operates. Through his 
leadership, Zone 7 has created a pipeline of skilled operations staff who have reached the 
highest certifications for distribution and water treatment. He developed and implemented a 
systematic training regimen that enables Zone 7 to hire operators of various skill levels and 
develop them to be highly effective. He leaves a lasting legacy of operations proficiency 
through creation of detailed Standard Operating Procedures that guide the work of the 
operators, which are routinely updated as part of the operator training program. He constantly 
shares his knowledge of the system and its history in order to inform smart decisions and to 
capture lessons learned for the future. Over the last few months, Mr. Gould guided over 16 
informational tours at the treatment plants and transmission system to pass along his 
institutional knowledge to over 55 Agency staff. Employees benefited from this learning 
opportunity, which will serve the Agency moving forward. 
 
Mr. Gould’s fingerprints are evident in the successful operation of Zone 7’s mission to deliver 
safe and reliable drinking water and his legacy of high standards for customer service will 
continue through the procedures and employees that he fostered; therefore, it is staff’s 
recommendation to commend Mr. Rich Gould for his 45 years of service and wish him well in 
his retirement. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 
Resolution



 

 

ZONE 7 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 25- 

 
INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
SECONDED BY DIRECTOR 

 
Commendation for Mr. Richard Gould 

 
WHEREAS, Mr. Richard Gould served the Zone 7 Water Agency service area with 

distinction since beginning his employment in August 1979 as an Operator Trainee; and 
 
WHEREAS, through progressive promotions he assumed the responsibilities of higher 

levels of Water Treatment Plant Operator until his promotion to Water Facilities Supervisor in 
2005; and 

 
WHEREAS, through his desire to continually apply and advance his skills, he achieved 

the highest certifications for treatment and distribution in 2007 and 2014, respectively; and 
 

 WHEREAS, upon his transition to Operations Manager in 2022, Mr. Gould successfully 
navigated many water supply challenges, including changing regulations, facility upgrades, 
droughts, challenging water quality, and a pandemic; and  
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Gould exemplifies the very best of what a public servant should be 
through his high standards, experience, responsiveness, collaboration, clear communication, 
self-learning and teaching others; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Gould’s contributions in water operations at the Agency led to many 
important accomplishments, including: 

 
• Creation of Standard Operating Procedures that guide consistent operations; 
• Development and implementation of a systematic training regimen to create a 

pipeline of highly skilled operations staff; 
• Drought and emergency planning, including the construction and relocation of 

critical facilities like the Kitty Hawk Pump Station and changes in distribution that led 
to improved water quality; 

• Promoting an understanding of transmission system operations that led to projects 
like the Dougherty Reservoir and the Valley Pump Station; 

• Operating the Mocho Groundwater Demineralization Plant to standards that were 
recognized by the Southwest Membrane Operator Association in their 2012 
Membrane Plant of the Year award; 

• Operating the Del Valle Water Treatment Plant to standards that led to Zone 7 being 
awarded the 2024 American Water Works Association 25-Year Directors Award; 
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• Major upgrades of both water treatment plants to implement capacity increases, 
new treatment processes and electrical upgrades; 

• Construction of treatment plants at Chain of Lakes and Stoneridge wells to remove 
Poly-fluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS); and 

 
WHEREAS, in addition to these important accomplishments and projects, Mr. Gould also 

provided critical reviews of planning documents for water supply, safety, operations, facilities, 
capital improvements, and asset management that are too numerous to list; and 
 

WHEREAS, with over 45 years of experience, Mr. Gould became the Agency’s 
institutional knowledge base for facilities and a vital resource in the evaluation and review of 
projects and programs; and 

 
WHEREAS, Mr. Gould dedicated time to transfer his extensive knowledge to Zone 7 staff 

through daily interactions, project workshops and an intense program of facility tours offered 
to all staff; and 

 
WHEREAS, Mr. Gould will retire from Zone 7 service effective January 31, 2026.  

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that this Board does hereby acknowledge, 
commend, and thank Mr. Richard Gould for his fine public service to the people of the Zone 7 
Water Agency service area. 
 

Adopted by Unanimous Vote on December 17, 2025. 
 
 

  _____   
Kathy Narum, President 

Board of Directors 
 



ITEM NO. 10 

 

 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Administrative Services 
CONTACT: Osborn Solitei 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Independent Auditors’ Report and Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 
 
SUMMARY: 

 
Maze and Associates, the Agency’s external auditor, recently completed its audit of the 
Agency’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 and issued an 
unmodified opinion. The auditors’ unmodified opinion letter for the ACFR affirms that the basic 
financial statements contained therein accurately represent the financial condition of the 
Agency as of June 30, 2025. The auditor expressed an opinion that the Agency’s financial 
statements are fairly stated and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States. 

 
The auditor presented the results to the Finance Committee on December 9, 2025 and the 
committee voted unanimously to refer the ACFR to the full Board for acceptance. The auditor 
will provide a supplemental presentation during the Board meeting. Acceptance of the Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report will help meet the Agency’s Strategic Plan Goal H – Fiscal 
Responsibility: Operate the Agency in a fiscally responsible manner, and Strategic Plan 
Initiative No. 21 – Continue to effectively manage financial resources for the Agency and 
continue to conduct an annual audit. 

 
The audit was conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the 
United States of America and the standards for financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller of the United States. Those standards require 
that the auditor plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

 
The audit concluded that: (1) the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of governmental activities, business-type activities and the 
major funds of the Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District - Zone 7 at 
June 30, 2025, and the respective changes in the financial position and cash flows for the 
year; (2) the accounting is in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States of America; and (3) the internal controls and communications are adequate. 
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DISCUSSION: 
 
As demonstrated by the results reported in the Fiscal Year 2024-25 ACFR, the Agency 
continues to meet its financial objectives. Financial highlights for Fiscal Year 2024-25 include: 
 

• The Agency’s total net position was $666.1 million as of June 30, 2025. Of this amount, 
$130.1 million is available to meet the Agency’s ongoing obligations to residents, 
customers, stakeholders, and creditors.  
 

• The Agency’s total net position increased for fiscal year 2025 by $47.9 million or 7.8 
percent from $618.2 million to $666.1 million. The net position for governmental 
activities increased by $10.9 million or 7.8 percent. Net position for business-type 
activities increased $37 million or 7.8 percent 
 

• Total revenues increased by $30.3 million or 20.2 percent from $149.2 million to $179.4 
million and total expenses also increased by $14.5 million or 12.4 percent from $117 
million to $131.5 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. 
 

• The Agency’s total assets increased $42.2 million or 5.7 percent from $742.1 million to 
$784.3 million while total liabilities decreased $5 million or 4 percent from $125.2 
million to $120.2 million.  

 
The Audit Report contains the following documents for Board’s review:  
 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report:  This report provides information on the Agency’s 
operating and financial activities for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2025. 

 
• The Introductory Section – provides an overview of the Agency and describes 

significant events and accomplishments for the last fiscal year.  
 
• The Financial Section – provides an analysis of the Agency’s financial performance 

during the previous two fiscal years and presents the Agency’s audited financial 
statements, including Statements of Net Position (balance sheet), Statements of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (income statement) and Statements 
of Cash Flows for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2025. This section also includes the 
management’s discussion and analysis, notes to the financial statements, which provide 
supplementary information regarding the Agency and its financial standing.  

 
• Statistical Section – provides ten years of key historical financial data and demographic 

data and economic data. 
 

Independent Auditors’ Report:  This letter is included in the ACFR on page 1 and 
communicates the auditors’ unmodified opinion. The auditors expressed an opinion that the 
Agency’s financial statements for FY 2024-25 are fairly stated in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States. This is the most favorable conclusion and is 
commonly known as an "unmodified" or "clean" opinion. 
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Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters:  
This letter is included in the ACFR on page 135. This is a required report that auditors provide 
for audits performed under Government Auditing Standards (standards in addition to generally 
accepted auditing standards). It describes the scope of the auditors’ testing of the Agency’s 
internal control and compliance. 

 
Report to the Board of Directors:  This is an internal report for the Board of Directors and is a 
required communication and recommendation by Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 
114. The letter outlines the Auditors’ responsibility, planned scope and timing of the audit, 
provides advice on accounting policies, evaluates accounting estimates, proposes audit 
adjustments, significant audit findings, status of prior years’ recommendations, corrected and 
uncorrected misstatements, disagreement with management, management representation, 
and outlines any major difficulties encountered in performing the audit. 

 
The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) follows the guidelines recommended by 
the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) and the 
Agency will be submitting the FY 2024-25 ACFR to GFOA for review and certification.  
 
Based on the Finance Committee recommendation, the Independent Auditors’ Report and the 
FY 2024-2025 ACFR are being presented to the Board for acceptance. 
 
FUNDING: 
 
There is no funding impact. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution accepting the Independent Auditors’ Report and the Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
• Resolution 
• ACFR – For the year ended June 30, 2025 

• Memorandum of Internal Control and Required Communications for the Year Ended June 
30, 2025 



 

 

ZONE 7 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 25- 

 
INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
SECONDED BY DIRECTOR 
     

Independent Auditors’ Report and Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 
WHEREAS, In accordance with Strategic Plan Goal H – Fiscal Responsibility: Operate the 

Agency in a fiscally responsible manner, and Strategic Plan Initiative No. 21 – Continue to 
effectively manage financial resources for the Agency and continue to conduct an annual 
audit, Maze and Associates performed an independent audit of the financial statements and 
prepared the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2025 for the Agency; and 

WHEREAS, Maze and Associates opined that the basic financial statements present fairly 
in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, 
business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District - Zone 7 at June 30, 2025 and 
the respective changes in the financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for 
the year then ended, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
States of America. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of Alameda 
County Flood Control & Water Conservation District hereby accepts the attached Independent 
Auditors’ Report and Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025.  

ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE:    
 
AYES:  
   
NOES:    
  
ABSENT:    
 
ABSTAIN:   
 
 
 
 

 

 
I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
 
By:       
      President, Board of Directors 
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November 25, 2025 

To the Board of Directors, Customers, and Residents of Eastern Alameda County: 

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the  
Zone 7 Water Agency   

We are pleased to present the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) of the 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7, California 
(Zone 7 or the Agency), for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 (with summarized 
information for the year ended June 30, 2024).   

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is prepared in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America (GAAP) as 
promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).   

The intended purpose of the financial report is to provide the Board of Directors, the 
customers of the Agency, and other interested parties with reliable information on the 
finances of the Agency. Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness 
and reliability of the information contained in this report, based upon a 
comprehensive internal control framework it established for this purpose.  Because 
the cost of internal control should not surpass its benefits, the objective is to provide 
reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the financial statements are free of 
material misstatements. 

Maze and Associates, a firm of licensed certified public accountants, has issued an 
unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the Agency financial statements for the year ended 
June 30, 2025. The purpose of the independent audit was to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, are 
free of material misstatement. The independent auditors’ report is located at the front 
of the financial section of this report. 

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent 
auditors’ report and provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the 
basic financial statements. This transmittal letter is designed to complement and be 
read in conjunction with the MD&A. 

The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report follows the guidelines recommended by 
the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 
and the Agency is submitting this ACFR to GFOA for review and certification. 
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Agency Profile 

Zone 7 Water Agency is a dependent 
special district established under the 
Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District Act.  The 
Act (Chapter 55 of the California Water 
Code Appendix) was passed by the 
State Legislature in 1949.  The Agency 
was established by a vote of the 
residents of the Livermore-Amador 
Valley area in 1957, with its own 
independent elected board to provide 
local control of integrated water 
resources.  The Agency’s Administrative Office is in the City of Livermore in Alameda 
County.  Livermore was founded in 1869 and is one of California’s oldest wine regions.  
The Agency currently serves an estimated population of 265,000 people and is 
responsible for providing wholesale treated (drinking) and untreated (agricultural) 
water, flood control, and groundwater management throughout eastern Alameda 
County.  

The Agency provides wholesale potable (treated) water to retail water suppliers, 
untreated irrigation water, and flood protection services.  Its territory includes 425 
square miles of eastern Alameda County.  The Agency has broad power to finance, 
construct, and operate a system for the transportation, storage, treatment, and 
distribution of water.     

The Agency imports water into the Valley from the State Water Project (SWP), 
operated by the Department of Water Resources (DWR) of the State of California. The 
State issued bonds to finance the SWP.  The Agency is one of 29 water contractors 
who share the cost of the debt service for the SWP bonds.  

The Agency’s four retail water customers are the City of Livermore, the City of 
Pleasanton, Dublin-San Ramon Services District, and California Water Service 
Company – Livermore District. These retailers distribute the water to municipal and 
industrial customers in Dublin, Livermore, Pleasanton, and through a special 
agreement with Dublin-San Ramon Services District, the Dougherty Valley portion of 
San Ramon.  
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History and Services 

Since long before the Agency was created, the critical issues of water supply, water 
quality, and flood protection have shaped the region’s ability to prosper.  Although the 
Tri-Valley was far less populated during the first half of the 20th Century than it is 
today, a declining groundwater table and periods of drought had local farmers, 
vintners, and residents alike worried about their livelihoods, according to reports 
published in 1948.  There was frequent flooding, particularly in northern Pleasanton, 
where Hacienda Business Park and various residential developments are now located.  

Since being established in 1957 by local 
voters demanding local control over local 
water-resource planning, flood protection, 
and financing, the Agency has taken the Tri-
Valley a long way in resolving many of its 
most pressing water supply, water quality, 
and flood protection problems.  The locally 
elected, seven-member Board of Directors 
has continually formulated and 
implemented needed programs for flood 
protection and water resource 
management, incorporating co-benefits of 
recreation, and environmental protection 
and enhancements where feasible.  Many 
issues have persisted over the decades, and their implications on local land use, local 
control, and local financing continue to surface.  Indeed, challenges continue as the 
Agency works to improve water reliability and quality, along with flood protection, in 
the most economical and environmentally sound ways possible, and to 
accommodate new development approved by Tri-Valley cities and/or the County at 
no cost or harm to existing residents. The Agency has long been known for its 
proactive groundwater basin stewardship. Continuing in that tradition, on December 
21, 2016, the Agency Board of Directors adopted a resolution officially accepting the 
role of Groundwater Sustainability Agency (GSA) for the Livermore Valley 
Groundwater Basin under the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA). 
The Agency was one of several agencies recognized in the legislation as being a 
trusted groundwater basin manager and identified as the exclusive local agency 
eligible to perform the GSA role within its service area.     

Through coordination with other local agencies in the region and neighboring 
groundwater basins, the Agency was able to notify the State that it will continue 
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sustainable groundwater management for the entire portion of the Livermore Valley 
groundwater basin that is within the Agency’s service area as well as a small portion 
that lies within Contra Costa County 

Since its formation, the Agency has continued to take steps to expand its level of local 
control and autonomy.  In 2003, state legislation granted the Agency more authority 
over issues and projects of exclusive interest to the Agency, allowing the Board to 
improve economic efficiencies and reduce administrative duplication with the 
county. 

Local control has allowed the Agency to develop master plans that sustainably 
integrate and optimize water supply reliability, water quality, flood management and 
environmental stewardship.  Meanwhile, the Agency has participated with other 
water, recycled water, sewer, and storm water utilities in the greater Bay Area to 
explore potential opportunities to pool services/equipment for increased efficiency. 

Service Area 

The Agency supplies treated 
drinking water to retailers serving a 
population of 265,000 people and 
businesses in Pleasanton, Livermore, 
Dublin, and through a special 
agreement with the Dublin-San 
Ramon Services District, the 
Dougherty Valley area in San Ramon.  
The Agency also supplies untreated 
irrigation water to local vineyards, 
farms, and golf courses, and provides 
both flood protection and 
groundwater management in 
eastern Alameda County.   

 

Agency-Wide Strategic Overview 

On November 20, 2024, the Board adopted the 2025-29 Five-Year Strategic Plan and 
refined a vision, mission, and set of goals for the five-year period. Twenty-two key 
initiatives were identified to achieve each of the goals.  These goals drove initiatives in 
FY 2024-25 and will guide activities through calendar year 2029. 
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Mission 

We deliver safe, reliable, efficient and sustainable water and flood protection services. 

Vision  

We provide excellent water and flood protection services to enhance the quality of 
life, economic vitality and environmental health of the communities we serve. 

Values 

• Team – We collaborate and are inclusive, valuing all perspectives to improve 
our services, systems, and organization. 

• Service – We are responsive, respectful, and professional. 

• Fiscal Responsibility – We are committed to ensuring the responsible and 
transparent management of public funds, adhering to the highest standards 
of accountability and efficiency. 

• Safety – We are committed to public and employee safety. 

• Transparency - We carry out our mission ethically and transparently, and with 
integrity. 

• Environmental Responsibility – We deliver our services in an environmentally 
responsible manner considering the energy, climate, people, and natural 
resource stewardship. 

• Leadership – We cultivate leaders and expect our agency to proactively lead 
and innovate. 
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Organization-Wide Goals 
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Economic Condition and Fiscal Outlook 

The Agency’s administrative office is in the City of Livermore, in Alameda County, 
which is part of the Tri-Valley area of Dublin-Livermore-Pleasanton.  The Tri-Valley is 
located 35 miles east of San Francisco, California and 28 miles north of Silicon Valley. 
This area is a crossroads, not only literally (for commuters traveling from the Central 
Valley to Silicon Valley and other employment destinations) but also figuratively (for 
major employers including both vineyards and high-tech firms). With a combined 
population now of 265,000 residents, the Tri-Valley area continues to be one of the 
fastest growing areas in the Bay Area.  

DUBLIN The City of Dublin was incorporated in 1982 and is 
located in the East Bay of the San Francisco Bay Area and is 
approximately 30 miles east of San Francisco and 30 miles 
northeast of the Silicon Valley. In 2011 Dublin was named an “All-
America City” by the National Civic League, and in 2018 it was 
named one of the best places to live in the United States, 
according to Money Magazine.  

 

LIVERMORE The City of Livermore is the 
easternmost city in the San Francisco Bay Area 
situated in the growing Tri-Valley area.  Livermore 

Valley Wine Country is one of the oldest wine regions in California. The picturesque 
canyons and ridges welcome locals and visitors to the valley’s vineyards and tasting 
rooms, which are an integral part of Livermore’s quality of life.  Popular wine bars, 
tasting rooms and boutique wine shops thrive in downtown Livermore as well.  
Livermore is the home of two world-renowned national laboratories: Lawrence 
Livermore National Laboratory and Sandia National Laboratories.   The presence of the 
laboratories attracts other technological and industrial companies as well as 
professional services businesses. In addition, one of the largest retail outlet malls in 
California is in the city.  
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PLEASANTON The City of Pleasanton was incorporated 
on June 18, 1894. Pleasanton’s history has been shaped 
largely by its geographic location, from its days as a stop 
on the transcontinental railroad to its modern-day 

position as a center of commerce at the intersection of interstate freeways 580 and 
680. Pleasanton enjoys a rich blend of historic turn-of-the-century charm and vital 
modern facilities that provide the quality of life and economic well-being desired by 
residents and businesses. This successful balance has been achieved through 
Pleasanton’s active and involved citizenry, strong community leadership and 
committed City government.  

Service Area Economic Base: 

The Agency’s service area lies within the County of Alameda, which possesses a large 
and diverse economic base, consisting of research and high technology, professional 
services, agriculture, finance, retail trade, medical and health services, government 
services, and many others. The 2024-25 local roll included assessments of 521,307 
taxable properties within Alameda County. The assessed value of these properties 
totaled $435.8 billion - a $21.0 billion or a 5.06% increase above the previous year’s 
assessment roll.  The growing economy, sales of existing real estate, new construction, 
and increase in business personal property are responsible for this increase.   Other 
factors leading to this year’s assessment growth included the mandatory inflation 
index of 2% being applied to all property’s assessed values that were not affected by 
assessment declines in prior years. This inflation index, roll corrections, base value 
restorations, increase in business personal property, and other miscellaneous factors 
added $7.9 billion. Reassessments due to sales/transfers of real estate added $8.3 
billion, new construction activity added $3.1 billion and increases in business personal 
property added $1.6 billion.  The 2024-25 annual report is available on  the Alameda 
County Assessor Office website.  

The Agency’s service area had a slight decrease in population from 2024 to 2025. The 
city of Pleasanton saw the highest decline in population of 0.4%, followed by city of 
Livermore with a slight decrease in population of 0.2%. The city of Dublin experienced 
a population increase of 1.2%.   

As of June 2025, the Alameda County median home value was reported at $1.08M, a 
3.6% decrease compared to the same time last year. As of June 2025, the Alameda 
County unemployment rate was reported at 5.0%, an increase from 4.6% in June 2024.  

Facing rising inflation, the Federal Reserve—tasked with maintaining stable price 
growth—cut interest rates by a total 0.5% in 2024.    On October 29, 2025, the Federal 

https://www.acassessor.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/2024-25-Annual-Report_Final.pdf
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Reserve approved an interest rate cut of 0.25% as the Committee seeks to achieve 
maximum employment and inflation at the rate of 2% over the longer run. 

Long-Term Financial Planning / Strategic Planning 

Bond Ratings: 

The Agency operates in a productive, cost-effective and efficient manner as reflected 
in the Agency’s recent bond ratings from Standard and Poor’s and Fitch Ratings.  

Water Rates: 

The Agency’s largest revenue source is the sale of water, acting as a wholesaler for four 
water supply retailers in Livermore, Pleasanton, Dublin and by a special agreement 
with the Dublin San Ramon Services District, the Dougherty Valley area in San Ramon.  
On November 16, 2022, the Board approved 5.5% annual rate revenue adjustment for 
wholesale water services for calendar years (CYs) 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026. The CY 
2023 increase went into effect February 1, 2023, and the remaining increases for years 
2024-2026 are effective January 1 of each year. The rates resolution directed a revisit 
of the rate schedule for calendar years 2025 and 2026, through a public process, with 
any changed rates adopted by November 2024. The rate review was performed in 
October 2024. The review determined the CY 2025 and CY 2026 rates are sufficient to 
meet the revenue requirements, with no additional adjustments needed.  The Agency 
will conduct another rate study in Fall 2026 to set treated wholesaler water rates for 
CYs 2027 - 2030 and untreated water rates for CY 2027.  
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Capital Improvement Plan:   

To maintain reliable operations, the Agency continues to effectively implement 
infrastructure projects in its Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). The CIP serves as an 
implementation and funding plan for projects required to meet the Agency’s mission 
and goals.  

The Asset Management Plan (AMP) includes the asset inventory and long-term (40-
year) renewal and replacement plan for the water system assets. It determines total 
funding needed over the planning horizon and documents the Agency’s funding plan. 

For purposes of the CIP, capital outlay is distinguished from capital projects.  Capital 
outlay includes only those projects, or equipment purchases between $5,000 and 
$50,000 having more than one year of useful life. Capital outlay is funded through the 
operating budget.  All capital projects or equipment purchases of at least $50,000 or 
over, and having five years of useful life, are included in the capital improvement 
planning process.  

The Agency is currently updating the AMP and developing the Ten-Year Water 
System CIP, with completion expected in Winter 2025/Early 2026. 

Zone 7 is currently planning a third per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) 
treatment plant for the Mocho wellfield.  Additional major capital projects in process 
include the Silver Oaks Pump Station, the Del Valle Water Treatment Plant HVAC, the 
Patterson Pass Water Treatment Plant HVAC and Improvements, the Regional 
Groundwater Development Project, and the Chain of Lakes Conveyance System 
project. 

Significant Accomplishments  

Water Supply:  

The 2024 water year began with below-average hydrologic conditions for California, 
with the State Water Project (SWP) allocation initially set at 10%.  However, due to an 
increase in storage levels, and anticipated late snow runoff, the water year ended with 
a 40% final allocation.   
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Water year 2024 followed the 
first water year with a 100% SWP 
allocation since 2006.  Given 
average precipitation conditions 
in 2024, and a substantial 
amount of water from 2023, the 
Agency met demands in 2024 
without the need for water 
transfers.   

On April 29, 2025, the 
Department of Water Resources 
announced the 2025 SWP final 
allocation to be 50% due to 
California’s snowpack beginning 
to melt and flow into the State’s 
watersheds and further filling up 
the reservoirs.  Based on total 
water supplies available, the 
Agency is well-positioned to 
meet demands in 2025 without 
the need for water transfers. 

 

Sustainable Groundwater Management:  

SGMA is historic legislation that requires local agencies to adopt groundwater 
management plans and monitor 
and manage groundwater 
resources in a sustainable way.  In 
2014, the State of California’s SGMA 
recognized the Agency’s 
sustainable groundwater 
management program by naming 
the Agency the exclusive Agency 
to continue this role in its service 
area.  At the end of 2016, the 
Agency officially accepted the new 
role and filed an Alternative 
Sustainable Groundwater 
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Management Plan. Early in 2017, the Agency’s Board of Directors adopted a 
Sustainable Groundwater Management Ordinance to clarify the Agency’s 
responsibilities related to groundwater management for the Livermore-Amador 
Valley groundwater basin, as well as a small portion that lies within Contra Costa 
County.  

The Agency is developing a new groundwater model that incorporates data collected 
to fill gaps identified in the previous model. This new groundwater model can be used 
to evaluate impacts of future drought scenarios, potential PFAS mobilization, and 
future basin salt loading.    

Water Quality: 

Zone 7 operates two surface water treatment plants (Del Valle Water Treatment Plant 
and Patterson Pass Water Treatment Plant), the Mocho Groundwater 
Demineralization Plant, two PFAS Treatment Plants (Stoneridge PFAS Treatment 
Plant and Chain of Lakes PFAS Treatment Plant), nine groundwater supply wells and 
a state-of-the-art water quality testing laboratory. Water treatment facilities are 
staffed by talented and committed experts in their fields who make a world of 
difference when it comes to bringing safe water to the Tri-Valley community. 

All Zone 7 water supplied in 2024 met the regulatory standards set by the state and 
federal governments and, in almost all cases, the quality was significantly better than 
required. 

PFAS: 

Zone 7 has been actively monitoring PFAS since late 2018.  No PFAS has been detected 
in its treated surface water, which makes up most of the water delivered to customers. 
Although PFAS has been detected in some Zone 7 groundwater wells, these wells 
were treated to levels below the State’s recommended response levels before 
entering the distribution system.  Groundwater is typically used for meeting peak day 
demand or when surface water supply is limited.  Immediately after the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) announced the final PFAS regulations in April 
2024, Zone 7 adjusted operations to ensure all delivered water met the new federal 
PFAS standards prior to the required compliance deadline in 2029.  In May 2025, EPA 
announced its intent to rescind the PFAS regulations and propose a new rule in Fall 
2025. This new rule would extend compliance deadlines for perfluorooctanoic acid 
(PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) from 2029 to 2031 and reconsider 
regulatory determinations for the other four PFAS.  
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Zone 7 has also taken proactive steps to plan, design, and construct new PFAS 
treatment facilities in preparation for compliance with the new federal standards. The 
Agency utilizes specialized Ion Exchange resins to remove PFAS from two of our 
groundwater treatment facilities. The Stoneridge PFAS Treatment Plant became 
operational in September 2023, and the Chain of Lakes Treatment Plant became 
operational in April 2025.   

 

In addition, Zone 7 is currently planning a third PFAS treatment plant for our Mocho 
Wells. The existing reverse osmosis membrane treatment facility already removes 
PFAS at these wells, but additional treatment capacity is required to meet the new 
PFAS standards. The project is in the planning and preliminary environmental review 
phase.  The award of the contract to design the facility is anticipated for early 2026.  
Construction is anticipated to begin in late 2026. 

Flood Protection: 

The following are some of the key activities related to the Flood Protection Program 
in FY 2024-25:  

• Executed a Cooperation Agreement with USACE for assistance to repair 48 
storm damage sites from 2022-2023 storms. 

Chain of Lakes PFAS Treatment Facility 
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• Awarded construction contract for the 2023 High Priority Storm Repair
Project.

• Completed the Vineyard Pipeline emergency repair project.
• Received a $383,000 grant from DWR through the CalSIP program.
• Launched new StreamTracker web portal.
• Completed design phase for Alamo Creek Bank Stabilization Pilot Project

and awarded the construction contract.
• Completed the design phase and put out to bid the 2023 Storm Damage

Repair project to address 50 storm damage sites.
• Issued a Request for Proposals for the Flood System Asset Management

Plan.

Long-Term Water Supply Reliability:  

In FY 2024-25, the Agency continued its investment in planning activities and 
evaluating participation in water supply reliability projects, such as the Delta 
Conveyance Project and Sites Reservoir Project, as part of its mission to deliver safe, 
reliable, efficient, and sustainable water. 

The Agency took additional steps toward establishing long-term water supply 
reliability in FY 2024-25.  

• Initiated the 2025 Water Demand Assessment to forecast future municipal and
industrial water demands.

• Continued development of a robust water transfer program to meet water
supply needs and manage available transfer water supply and costs.  The
Agency executed a multi-year water transfer agreement with Sutter Extension
Water Agency on March 25, 2025.

• Worked with the City of Pleasanton to evaluate the feasibility of new water
supply wells to diversify local groundwater sources.

Communications and Outreach 

To deliver on the Agency’s Strategic Plan Goal F, which strives to engage our 
stakeholders to foster mutual understanding, staff implements and oversees a multi-
faceted outreach and communications program to connect with and engage 
stakeholders. Through an open and transparent approach, the Agency seeks to deliver 
effective customer-centric communications, reaching constituents where, when, and 
how they prefer. Effective communication builds confidence, trust, and awareness 
among constituents, increases participation to help with effective decision-making, 
and helps strengthen Zone 7’s commitment to its mission and vision.  
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Stakeholder Engagement Highlights for FY 2024-25: 

Chain of Lakes PFAS Treatment Facility: The opening of the 
second Ion Exchange Treatment Facility at Chain of Lakes in 
March 2025—now the largest of its kind in Northern 
California—was promoted via a multi-phase campaign to 
proactively educate the community about PFAS management 
and infrastructure investment. The outreach included a well-
attended ribbon-cutting event with elected officials, project 
page updates, and digital promotion utilizing educational 
videos. This effort generated 20,158 total gross impressions, 
with two key YouTube videos amassing over 5,300 views and 
the agency’s LinkedIn channel reaching 4,250 impressions, driving public 
understanding of this critical water quality milestone. 

Interactive Online Annual Report: The Online Annual Report 
continued to be a highly effective tool for transparently 
sharing agency information, enhanced with charts, videos, and 
infographics to help the community easily explore key topics. 
The site’s engaging design resulted in significant growth in 
readership, including a 32.3% increase in total sessions (2,000), 
a 64% increase in individual page views (6,627), and a dramatic 
119% jump in engaged sessions (1,779) compared to the 
previous fiscal year. This commitment to digital excellence was 
recognized with multiple industry accolades, including: 

• Award of Excellence from the 2025 Communicator Awards for Overall Design 
Features 

• Gold Award from the 2025 AVA Digital Awards for Government Website 
• Silver Award from the 2025 BETTER FUTURE GOV Design Awards for 

Publication Graphic Design 
• Silver Circle Award from the 2025 3CMA (City & County Communications & 

Marketing Association) Savvy Awards for Issue Specific Website 
• Silver Award from the 2025 Muse Creative Awards for Government Website 
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Financial Policies 
 
Financial Reserve Policy:   

In FY 2024-25, the Board adopted revisions to the reserve policy to proactively prepare 
for future water supply and reliability investments and future volatile SWP capital 
costs. The revised policy allows the Agency to proactively address future cost increases 
and reduce sudden impacts on ratepayers. 

Revision 1 - State Water Facilities Fund - On December 18, 2024, the Board 
adopted an amended Reserve Policy via Resolution No. 24-106, removing the 
maximum level from the State Water Facilities Reserve. This change allows the 
reserve to accumulate funds to offset future volatile increases in SWP capital 
costs. 

Revision 2 - Water Enterprise Operations Fund - On June 18, 2025, the Board 
established the Water Reliability Reserve via Resolution No. 25-47.  The Water 
Reliability Reserve provides flexibility and agility to address water supply 
challenges and opportunities. The Board may designate the use of this reserve 
during the budget development process.  

Investment Policy:  

The Agency’s Investment Policy was adopted by the Board on June 18, 2025 
(Resolution No. 25-48). The Agency’s Investment Policy is in compliance with the 
California Government Code, Section 53600 et seq. The investment of idle funds is 
delegated by the Agency's Board to the Assistant General Manager – Finance as the 
Treasurer who assumes full responsibility for the transactions of the investment 
program. The objectives of the Investment Policy are safety of principal, liquidity, 
return on investment or yield, and diversity. The Investment Policy applies to the 
Agency's pooled investment fund which encompasses all monies under the direct 
oversight of the Agency Treasurer and is reviewed on an annual basis.  

Debt Management Policy:  

An update to the Agency’s Debt Management Policy was by the Board in May 2023 
(Resolution No. 23-35). The Debt Management Policy provides guidelines under which 
specific projects outlined in the biennial planning process and documented in the CIP 
may be best financed.  Per the policy, debt issuance should be evaluated on a case-
by-case basis as well as within the Agency’s general debt management program. The 
Agency recognizes that changes in the capital markets and other unforeseen 
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circumstances may require action deviating from this Debt Management Policy.  In 
cases requiring any exception to this policy, approval from the Board will be required. 
The Debt Management Policy is not applicable to intra-agency borrowing.    

Budget Controls:  

The Agency has a two-year budget cycle for governmental funds and proprietary 
funds and maintains budgetary controls, the objectives of which are to ensure 
compliance with legal provisions embodied in the two-year budget approved by the 
Board. The Agency’s operating and capital 
budgets are reviewed and approved by the 
Board of Directors. The budget includes the 
projects, services, and activities to be carried 
out during the two fiscal years and the 
estimated revenue available to fund these 
operating and capital costs. The legal level of 
budgetary control (that is the level at which 
expenditures cannot legally exceed the 
appropriated amount) is established at the 
fund level, further delineated by two 
categories, the operating budget 
(consisting of total operations and 
operating projects) and the capital budget 
(consisting of capital project expenditures).  

The Agency also maintains an encumbrance accounting system as one process to 
accomplish budgetary control.  Budget adjustments that increase or decrease 
revenue projections, appropriations, or reserves of any fund at the fund level require 
Board approval. Budget and actual comparisons are provided in this report for the 
Governmental Fund (Flood Protection Operations and Flood Protection Development 
Impact Fee Fund). The guidelines used by the Agency in developing the formal 
budget process are those recommended by the Government Finance Officers 
Association United States and Canada (GFOA). 

Internal Controls:  

The Agency management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate 
internal controls to assure the Agency operations are effective and efficient, that 
applicable laws and regulations are followed, and financial reports are reliable. 
Existing internal controls are monitored, and changes are implemented as needed. 
These controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that 
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(1) assets are safeguarded against waste, fraud, and inefficient use; and (2) the
Agency’s financial records can be relied upon to produce financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of control
should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived, and that cost-benefit analyses
require estimates and judgments by management. We believe that the Agency’s
internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable
assurance of proper recording of financial transactions.

Other Information 

Independent Audit  

An independent audit by certified public accountants is important in determining the 
reliability of the Agency’s financial statements. The importance of such verification has 
been recognized by the federal and state governments, and the general public. The 
Agency contracted with the accounting firm of Maze & Associates for this audit. The 
audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. The firm’s report has been included in the financial section 
of this report. 

Awards 

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in 
Financial Reporting:  

GFOA awarded a “Certificate of Achievement for 
Excellence in Financial Reporting” to the Agency for its 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2024. To be awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement, a government must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report. This report must 
satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles 
and applicable legal requirements. A Certificate of 
Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We 
believe that our current Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement 
Program’s requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its 
eligibility for another certificate. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Board of Directors 
Alameda County Flood Control and 

Water Conservation District, Zone 7 – Zone 7 Water Agency 
Livermore, California  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Alameda County Flood Control 
and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 – Zone 7 Water Agency (Agency), as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Agency’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the Table of Contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Agency, as of June 30, 2025, and the respective changes in financial position 
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison listed in the Table of 
Contents for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are required to be 
independent of the Agency and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirement relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Agency’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that 
may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements 
are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

 
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 

raise substantial doubt about the Agency’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period 
of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and other Required Supplementary Information as listed in the Table of Contents be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the Agency’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying Supplementary Information, as listed in the Table of 
Contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In 
our opinion, the Supplementary Information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole.   

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

The financial statements of the Agency as of for the year ended June 30, 2024, were audited by other auditors 
whose report has been furnished to us, dated December 5, 2024, expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
statements. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report.  The other information 
comprises the Introductory Section and Statistical Section listed in the Table of Contents, but does not include the 
basic financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not 
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial 
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based on the work performed, 
we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe 
it in our report.  

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 25, 2025, 
on our consideration of the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of 
that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Agency’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
November 25, 2025 
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

The Government Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 34 requires that management prepare a 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) section as a component of the audited Financial Statements. 

The Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 Water Agency (“Agency”) MD&A 
presents management’s analysis of the Agency’s financial condition and activities for the year ended June 30, 2025, 
and 2024.  The MD&A is intended to serve as an introduction to the Agency’s basic Financial Statements.  This 
information should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements that follow this section.  A 
narrative overview and comparative analysis of fiscal year 2025 to 2024 is presented in this report.  Readers are 
encouraged to consider the information presented here as complementary to the information contained in the 
accompanying financial statements.  All amounts, unless otherwise indicated, are expressed in whole dollars.  

The information in this MD&A is presented in the following order: 

 Financial Highlights
 Overview of Financial Statements
 Government-wide Financial Analysis
 Capital Assets
 Debt Administration and Bond Rating
 Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget and Rates
 Request for Information

Financial Highlights 

 The Agency’s total net position was $666.1 million as of June 30, 2025.  Of this amount, $130.1 million
is available to meet the Agency’s ongoing obligations to residents, customers, stakeholders, and creditors.

 The Agency’s total net position increased for fiscal year 2025 by $47.9 million or 7.8 percent from $618.2
million to $666.1 million. The net position for governmental activities increased by $10.9 million or 7.8
percent.  Net position for business-type activities increased $37 million or 7.8 percent.

 Total revenues increased by $30.3 million or 20.2 percent from $149.2 million to $179.4 million and total
expenses also increased by $14.5 million or 12.4 percent from $117 million to $131.5 million for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2025.

 The Agency’s total assets increased $42.2 million or 5.7 percent from $742.1 million to $784.3 million
while total liabilities decreased $5 million or 4 percent from $125.2 million to $120.2 million.

Overview of Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis serve as an introduction to the Agency’s basic financial statements.  The basic 
financial statements are comprised of three components: (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund 
financial statements, and (3) notes to the financial statements.  The report also contains other required 
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements. 
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Agency-wide financial statements 
The Agency-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with an overview of the Agency’s finances. 
The Agency-wide financial statements present the financial picture of the Agency from the economic resources 
measurement focus using the accrual basis of accounting.   

The statement of net position presents information on all of the Agency’s assets and liabilities, with the difference 
between the two reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the financial position of the Agency is improving or deteriorating.  

The statement of activities presents information showing how the Agency’s net position changed during the most 
recent fiscal year.  All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash 
is received or paid.   

Both of the government-wide statements distinguish functions of the Agency that are principally supported by taxes 
(governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs 
through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities include the Flood Protection 
Fund and Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund.  The business-type (proprietary) activities include the 
Water Enterprise System. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found in the financial section of this report. 

Fund financial statements 
The fund financial statements are designed to report information about groupings of related accounts, which are 
used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The Agency, 
like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.  The Agency’s two kinds of funds - governmental and proprietary - use different 
accounting approaches.  

Governmental funds 

The Agency’s governmental funds consist of three funds: Flood Protection Operations, Flood Protection 
Development Impact Fee and Non-Major Governmental Fund.  These funds are reported in governmental funds, 
which focus on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for 
spending.  These funds are reported using the modified accrual accounting method which measures cash and all 
other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash.  The governmental fund statements provide a detailed 
near-term view of the Agency’s general government operations and the basic services it provides.  Governmental 
fund information helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent 
in the near future to finance the Agency’s programs.  

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in 
the Agency-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the Agency-wide financial statements, governmental fund 
statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as the balances of spendable 
resources available at the end of the year.  A reconciliation of both the governmental funds balance sheet and the 
governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and change in fund balances to the Agency-wide 
statements are provided to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.  

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found in the financial section of this report. 
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Proprietary funds 

The Agency’s proprietary funds consist of four enterprise funds: Water Enterprise Operations, State Water 
Facilities, Water Enterprise Capital Expansion, and Water Facilities.  Proprietary funds are generally used to 
account for services for a government’s business-type activities (activities supported by fees or charges). 
Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private 
business enterprises – where the intent of the governing body is that costs (including depreciation) of providing 
goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user rates, 
charges, and fees.  Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions as business-type activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all activities are reported 
in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, using the accrual method of accounting. 

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found in the financial Section of this report. 

Notes to the basic financial statements 

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a complete 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the 
financial statements can be found in the financial section of this report. 

Other information 

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required 
supplementary information concerning the Agency’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension and other 
post-employment healthcare benefits to its employees.  Such required supplementary information can be found in 
the financial section of this report. 

Government-wide Financial Analysis 

The Statements of Net Position and the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position provide an 
indication of the Agency’s financial condition and indicate whether the financial condition of the Agency improved 
during the last fiscal year.  The Agency’s net position reflects the difference between assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources. An increase in net position over time typically indicates an 
improvement in financial condition.  A summary of the Agency’s Statement of Net Position is presented below: 
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Statement of Net Position 
    June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Governmental 
Activities

Business-Type 
Activities Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
Assets:
Current and other assets 121,239,604$ 112,336,724$  286,884,892$ 256,802,090$ 408,124,496$ 369,138,814$  
Capital assets 33,265,825      32,807,289       342,882,652    340,136,836    376,148,477    372,944,125    
TOTAL ASSETS 154,505,429    145,144,013    629,767,544    596,938,926    784,272,973    742,082,939    

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension related 387,288           469,480            3,702,338        5,473,297        4,089,626        5,942,777         
OPEB related 156,694           141,586            1,497,941        1,650,649        1,654,635        1,792,235         
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 543,982           611,066            5,200,279        7,123,946        5,744,261        7,735,012         

Liabilities:
Current liabilities 2,566,769        3,852,610         14,421,454      15,375,298      16,988,223      19,227,908       
Noncurrent liabilities 1,583,638        1,370,219         101,666,150    104,636,172    103,249,788    106,006,391    
TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,150,407        5,222,829         116,087,604    120,011,470    120,238,011    125,234,299    

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Lease related - 399,347 - 412,242 - 811,589 
Pension related 251,995           343,279 2,408,985        4,002,025 2,660,980        4,345,304 
OPEB related 96,942              96,276 926,731           1,122,408 1,023,673        1,218,684 
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 348,937           838,902            3,335,716        5,536,675        3,684,653        6,375,577         

Net Position:
Net Investment in capital assets 33,265,825      32,807,289       264,397,075    281,764,763    297,662,900    314,572,052    
Restricted for:
  Capital projects and water expansion 85,092,017      79,773,869       150,848,774    148,375,441    235,940,791    228,149,310    
  Pension trust 224,776           196,482            2,140,123        1,846,268        2,364,899        2,042,750         
Unrestricted 31,967,449      26,915,708       98,158,531      46,528,255      130,125,980    73,443,963       
TOTAL NET POSITION 150,550,067$ 139,693,348$  515,544,503$ 478,514,727$ 666,094,570$ 618,208,075$  

As the above table indicates, the Agency’s total net position in fiscal year 2025 increased by $47.9 million or 7.8 
percent from $618.2 million to $666.1 million.  During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, the total assets 
increased by $42.2 million or 5.7 percent from $742.1 million to $784.3 million.  Capital assets increased by $3.2 
million or 1 percent from $372.9 million to $376.1 million.  Current and other assets increased $39 million or 10.6 
percent from $369.1 million to $408.1 million mainly due to an increase in cash and investments of $30.8 million 
or 9.1 percent.  This increase was due to increases in connection and development fee revenue, investment 
earnings, settlement proceeds, and water sales revenue. Account receivables also increased by $6.6 million or 22.8 
percent due to water connection fee revenue and water sales accrued at fiscal year-end.  Total liabilities decreased 
$5 million or 4 percent from $125.2 million to $120.2 million mainly due to debt service retirements of $2.1 million, 
a $1.5 million decrease in Net Pension Liability due to a favorable investment experience, and a decrease in 
accounts payable of $2.8 million due to construction projects nearing completion. The decrease is offset by an 
increase of $1.9 million in compensated absences due to the implementation of GASB 101 in which recognition 
thresholds were lowered. 

The government-wide statement of net position for the Agency’s governmental and business-type activities 
indicates that as of June 30, 2025, total assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources by $666.1 million compared to $618.2 million at June 30, 2024.  
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

The largest portion of the Agency’s net position, $297.7 million or 44.7 percent, reflects its investment in capital 
assets (e.g., land, buildings, equipment, and infrastructure).  These capital assets are used to provide services to 
citizens; therefore, these assets are not available for future spending.   

Deferred outflows of resources is the amount of the effect of pension and Other Postemployment Benefits Other 
than Pension (OPEB) accounting that defers the contributions made after the measurement date until the next fiscal 
year as a subsequent offset to the net pension and OPEB liability among other pension and OPEB related deferrals. 
The deferred outflows of resources due to pensions (GASB Statement No. 68) at June 30, 2025, and 2024 were 
$4.1 million and $5.9 million, respectively.  The deferred outflows of resources due to OPEB (GASB Statement 
No. 75) at June 30, 2025, and 2024 were $1.7 million and $1.8 million, respectively.    

Deferred inflows of resources is the result of pension and OPEB accounting and is comprised of changes in 
assumptions and differences between expected and actual investment returns in the ACERA pension plan and 
OPEB plan, which will be amortized as a component of pension expense over time.  The deferred inflows of 
resources due to pensions (GASB Statement No. 68) at June 30, 2025, and 2024 were $2.7 million and $4.3 million, 
respectively.  The deferred inflows of resources due to OPEB (GASB Statement No. 75) at June 30, 2025, and 
2024 were $1 million and $1.2 million, respectively.   

Statement of Net Position 
 June 30, 2024, and 2023 

Governmental 
Activities

Business-Type 
Activities Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Assets:
Current and other assets 112,336,724$ 103,893,110$  256,802,090$ 211,291,869$ 369,138,814$ 315,184,979$  
Capital assets 32,807,289      33,188,061       340,136,836    330,831,805    372,944,125    364,019,866    
TOTAL ASSETS 145,144,013    137,081,171    596,938,926    542,123,674    742,082,939    679,204,845    

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension related 469,480           618,261            5,473,297        7,506,060        5,942,777        8,124,321         
OPEB related 141,586           164,905            1,650,649        2,002,044        1,792,235        2,166,949         
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 611,066           783,166            7,123,946        9,508,104        7,735,012        10,291,270       

Liabilities:
Current liabilities 3,852,610        3,672,237         15,375,298      10,230,040      19,227,908      13,902,277       
Noncurrent liabilities 1,370,219        1,559,906         104,636,172    80,171,507      106,006,391    81,731,413       
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,222,829        5,232,143         120,011,470    90,401,547      125,234,299    95,633,690       

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Lease related 399,347           423,308            412,242           452,647           811,589           875,955            
Pension related 343,279           428,071            4,002,025        5,197,048        4,345,304        5,625,119         
OPEB related 96,276              100,813            1,122,408        1,223,931        1,218,684        1,324,744         
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 838,902           952,192            5,536,675        6,873,626        6,375,577        7,825,818         

Net Position:
Net Investment in capital assets 32,807,289      33,188,061       281,764,763    276,759,129    314,572,052    309,947,190    
Restricted for:
  Capital projects and water expansion 79,773,869      75,844,802       148,375,441    117,661,201    228,149,310    193,506,003    
  Pension trust 196,482           163,767            1,846,268        1,488,488        2,042,750        1,652,255         
Unrestricted 26,915,708      22,483,372       46,528,255      58,447,787      73,443,963      80,931,159       
TOTAL NET POSITION 139,693,348$ 131,680,002$  478,514,727$ 454,356,605$ 618,208,075$ 586,036,607$  
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

As the above table indicates, the Agency’s total net position in fiscal year 2024 increased by $32.2 million or 5.5 
percent from $586 million to $618.2 million.  During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, the total assets increased 
by $62.9 million or 9.3 percent from $679.2 million to $742.1.  Capital assets increased by $8.9 million or 2.4 
percent from $364 million to $372.9 million.  Current and other assets increased $53.9 million or 17.1 percent 
from $315.2 million to $369.1 million mainly due to an increase in cash and investments of $42 million or 14.1 
percent.  This increase was mainly due to the issuance of the 2023 Water Revenue Bonds, Series A in the amount 
of $28.8 million.  Account receivables also increased by $14.2 million or 97.3 percent due to the Sustainable 
Groundwater Management Act (SGMA) implementation grant of $11.5 million received from the State of 
California Department of Water Resources (DWR) for the Stoneridge Well and Chain of Lakes Ion Exchange (IX) 
Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) treatment facilities.  Total liabilities also reflect an increase of $29.6 
million or 31 percent from $95.6 million to $125.2 million mainly due to a $27.9 million increase in long-term debt 
as a result of the 2023 Water Revenue Bonds Series A, a $4.7 million increase in accounts payable and accrued 
expenses, and a slight increase in OPEB liability of $0.2 million. The increase is offset by a decrease in the pension 
liability of $3.2 million and $2.2 million retirement of bonds payable. 

The government-wide statement of net position for the Agency’s governmental and business-type activities 
indicates that as of June 30, 2024, total assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources by $618.2 million compared to $586 million at June 30, 2023.  

The largest portion of the Agency’s net position, $314.6 million or 50.9 percent, reflects its investment in capital 
assets (e.g., land, buildings, equipment, and infrastructure).  These capital assets are used to provide services to 
citizens; therefore, these assets are not available for future spending.   

Deferred outflows of resources is the amount of the effect of pension and Other Postemployment Benefits Other 
than Pension (OPEB) accounting that defers the contributions made after the measurement date until the next fiscal 
year as a subsequent offset to the net pension and OPEB liability among other pension and OPEB related deferrals. 
The deferred outflows of resources due to pensions (GASB Statement No. 68) at June 30, 2024, and 2023 were 
$5.9 million and $8.1 million, respectively.  The deferred outflows of resources due to other postemployment 
benefits (OPEB) (GASB Statement No. 75) at June 30, 2024, and 2023 were $1.8 million and $2.2 million, 
respectively.    

Deferred inflows of resources is the result of pension and OPEB accounting and is comprised of changes in 
assumptions and differences between expected and actual investment returns in the ACERA pension plan and 
OPEB plan, which will be amortized as a component of pension expense over time.  The deferred inflows of 
resources due to pensions (GASB Statement No. 68) at June 30, 2024, and 2023 were $4.3 million and $5.6 million, 
respectively.  The deferred inflows of resources due to other postemployment benefits (OPEB) (GASB Statement 
No. 75) at June 30, 2024, and 2023 were $1.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively.  The deferred inflows of 
resources due to leases (GASB Statement No. 87) at June 30, 2023, and 2022 were $0.8 million and $0.9 million, 
respectively. 
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 Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

 

 
 

Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Position 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

 
Governmental 

Activities
Business-Type 

Activities Total
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Revenues:
Charges for services 5,181,695$      2,387,743$      122,133,839$   103,898,726$   127,315,534$   106,286,469$   
Grants and other contributions 403,173           753,675           8,557,183         6,137,284         8,960,356         6,890,959         
Capital grants and contributions 50,000             241,193           2,902,194         11,497,801       2,952,194         11,738,994       
General revenues:

Property taxes 12,536,110      12,182,791      -                      -                      12,536,110       12,182,791       
Investment earnings and others 5,034,389        3,823,510        22,636,078       8,251,972         27,670,467       12,075,482       
Total revenues 23,205,367      19,388,912      156,229,294     129,785,783     179,434,661     149,174,695     

Expenses:
Flood Protection Operations 8,650,032        10,431,196      -                      -                      8,650,032         10,431,196       
Flood Protection Development Impact Fee 3,320,980        68,043             -                      -                      3,320,980         68,043             
Flood Protection Grants 359,365           864,437           -                      -                      359,365           864,437           
State Water Project -                     -                     28,627,763       27,290,867       28,627,763       27,290,867       
Water Enterprise -                     -                     90,590,025       78,348,684       90,590,025       78,348,684       
Total expenses 12,330,377      11,363,676      119,217,788     105,639,551     131,548,165     117,003,227     

 Change in net position before transfers   10,874,990      8,025,236        37,011,506       24,146,232       47,886,496       32,171,468       
Transfers, net (18,270)           (11,890)           18,270             11,890             -                      -                      
Change in net position  10,856,720      8,013,346        37,029,776       24,158,122       47,886,496       32,171,468       
Net position at beginning of year 139,693,348    131,680,002    478,514,727     454,356,605     618,208,075     586,036,607     
Net position at end of year 150,550,068$   139,693,348$   515,544,503$   478,514,727$   666,094,571$   618,208,075$   

 
The statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position identify the various revenue and expense items 
which impact the change in net position.  The Agency’s overall net position increased $47.9 million from the prior 
year.  The table above indicates the Agency’s total revenues increased by $30.3 million or 20.3 percent to $179.4 
million from $149.2 million in the prior year.  Charges for services increased $21 million or 19.8 percent due to a 
$14.5 million increase in connection and development fees, primarily development in the City of Livermore for the 
Triad Place and Serenity homes, Arroyo Crossing Development, and Oaks Business Park; $4 million increase in 
water sales; $1.3 million reimbursement for the now-defunct Los Vaqueros Reservoir Expansion Project; and a $1 
million cost share agreement with City of Pleasanton for the joint regional groundwater development project. 
Investment earnings increased $4.8 million due to favorable investment experience. Grants and other contributions 
increased $2 million due to DWR refunds which vary year by year as it’s based on the level of prior year 
expenditures. Other revenues increased $10.8 million due to a class action settlement in the Aqueous Film-Forming 
Foams (AFFF) Product Liability Multidistrict Litigation (MDL) due to PFAS contamination in Public Water 
System’s Drinking Water. These increases were offset by a $8.8 million decrease in capital grants and other 
contributions due to the State of California Department of Water Resources (DWR) Sustainable Groundwater 
Management Act (SGMA) implementation grant of $11.5 million the Agency received last fiscal year.  

Total expenses increased by $14.5 million or 12.4 percent from $117 million to $131.5 million.  Water Enterprise 
Operations increased $12.2 million mainly due to a $4.8 million increase in salaries and wages due to cost-of-living 
adjustments effective June 2024; $7.1 million retirement of the Del Valle Water Treatment Plant (DVWTP) 
Dissolved Air Floatation system; $2.8 million increase in legal expenses primarily related to the AFFF MDL class 
action settlements. This was offset by a decrease of $1.4 million in participation expenses for the Sites Reservoir 
Project and Los Vaqueros Reservoir Project. The State Water Project expenses increased $1.3 million due to an 
increase in State Water Project pass-through payments to DWR.  Flood Protection Operations decreased $1.8 
million due to permitting delays that have slowed down 2022-23 high priority storm repair site projects as these 
efforts will continue into fiscal year 2026. The Flood Protection Development Impact Fee expenses increased $3.3 
million mainly due to the one-time $3 million payment for a developer reimbursement for the construction of a 
detention basin in Camp Parks Reserve Forces Training Area in the City of Dublin. 
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Position 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2024, and 2023 

Governmental 
Activities

Business-Type 
Activities Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revenues:
Charges for services 2,387,743$      1,384,402$      103,898,726$   99,389,690$     106,286,469$   100,774,092$   
Grants and other contributions 753,675           90,914             6,137,284         9,752,717         6,890,959         9,843,631         
Capital grants and contributions 241,193           486,234           11,497,801       - 11,738,994 486,234           
General revenues:

Property taxes 12,182,791      11,647,326      - - 12,182,791 11,647,326       
Investment earnings and others (loss) 3,823,510        1,464,877        8,251,972         1,612,299         12,075,482 3,077,176         
Total revenues 19,388,912      15,073,753      129,785,783     110,754,706     149,174,695     125,828,459     

Expenses:
Flood Protection Operations 10,431,196      8,811,830        - - 10,431,196       8,811,830         
Flood Protection Development Impact Fee 68,043             176,869           - - 68,043             176,869           
Flood Protection Grants 864,437           228,936           - - 864,437           228,936           
State Water Project - - 27,290,867       25,703,191       27,290,867       25,703,191       
Water Enterprise - - 78,348,684       71,877,411       78,348,684       71,877,411       
Total expenses 11,363,676      9,217,635        105,639,551     97,580,602       117,003,227     106,798,237     

 Change in net position before transfers   8,025,236        5,856,118        24,146,232       13,174,104       32,171,468       19,030,222       
Transfers, net (11,890)           (11,890)           11,890             11,890             - - 
Change in net position  8,013,346        5,844,228        24,158,122       13,185,994       32,171,468       19,030,222       
Net position at beginning of year as restated 131,680,002    125,835,774    454,356,605     441,170,611     586,036,607     567,006,385     
Net position at end of year 139,693,348$   131,680,002$   478,514,727$   454,356,605$   618,208,075$   586,036,607$   

The statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position identify the various revenue and expense items 
which impact the change in net position.  The Agency’s overall net position increased $32.2 million from the prior 
year.  The table above indicates the Agency total revenues increased by $23.4 million or 18.6 percent to $149.2 
million from $125.8 million in the prior year.  The increase is mainly due to a $11.3 million increase in capital 
grants and contributions from DWR for the SGMA implementation grant for the Stoneridge Well and Chain of 
Lakes PFAS treatment facilities, $5.5 million net increase for charges for services as a result of a $9.0 million 
increase in water sales offset by a $5.2 million decrease in connection fees, $8.8 million increase in investment 
earnings from the previous year as a result of favorable market conditions and a $0.5 million increase in property 
tax due to increased property assessed valuations. These increases were offset by a $3.0 million decrease in 
operating grants and other contributions due to DWR refunds of our State Water Project pass-through payments.   

Total expenses increased by $10.2 million or 9.5 percent from $106.8 million to $117.0 million mainly due to a 
$6.5 million increase in Water Enterprise water contractual services, chemical purchases, and interest expense and 
fiscal charges on long-term debt, a $1.6 million increase in the State Water Project pass-through payments to DWR 
and $1.8 million increase in capital asset depreciation.  Flood Protection Operations projects increased $1.6 million 
mainly due to emergency flood projects, multi-year projects such as the Alamo Creek Project planning, design 
services to repair damages to flood protection facilities and other routine maintenance repair project activities.  The 
increase was offset by a decrease in water purchases of $0.4 million, water storage of $1.1 million, and utilities of 
$1.2 million.  
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Governmental Activities 
The net position for the Agency’s governmental activities increased by $10.9 million from $139.7 million to $150.6 
million.  The net position’s increase from the prior year is mainly due to a $9.4 million increase in total assets and 
$1.1 million decrease in total liabilities, $0.5 million in pension and OPEB-related deferred inflows, which 
contributes to the increase in net position.  Total revenues were $23.2 million and total expenses (including 
transfers) were $12.3 million.  

Revenues: Significant changes in revenue are as follows: 

Total revenues increased by $3.8 million from the prior year or 19.7 percent. 

 Charges for services increased by $2.8 million or 117 percent mainly due to Development Impact Fees
from the City of Livermore.

 Property tax revenue increased by $0.4 million or 2.9 percent due to the higher total assessed value.

 Investment earnings and others increased by $1.3 million due to favorable market conditions this fiscal
year.

Expenses: Total expenses increased by $1 million, or 8.5 percent, in the governmental activities mainly due to the 
developer reimbursement for the construction of a detention basin, offset by decreases in services and supplies as 
permitting delays have deferred many projects into fiscal year 2026.  In August 2022, the Board adopted the Flood 
Management Plan Phase 1 which will direct the Agency’s future maintenance activities and capital projects for 
flood protection.  Phase 2A commenced in February 2023 and will be the basis for the development of planning 
alternatives to be considered by the Board.  
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Business-Type Activities    
The net position for the Agency’s business-type activities increased by $37 million from $478.5 million to $515.5 
million during the current year.  The net position increased from the prior year mainly due to a $30.1 million 
increase in current and other assets.  Total revenues were $156.2 million and total expenses (including transfers) 
were $119.2 million.   

Revenues: Significant changes in revenues are as follows: 

 Charges for services:  includes water rate revenue, connections fees, and property taxes. Charges for
services increased by a net of $18.2 million from the prior year.  The increase is due to Water Connection
Fees, water sales, cost share agreement with City of Pleasanton for the joint regional groundwater
development project, and the Los Vaqueros Reservoir Expansion Project reimbursement.

 Investment earnings: increased by $4.8 million mainly due favorable market conditions for the fiscal year.

 Grants and other contributions: include intergovernmental revenue such as DWR refunds and grant
proceeds. Grants and other contribution increased $2.4 million due to DWR refunds.  DWR refunds and
credits vary year to year based on the level of prior year expenditures. Capital grants and contributions
decreased by $8.6 million due to DWR SGMA implementation grant received last fiscal year.
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 Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

 

 
 

 
Expenses: Significant changes in expenses are as follows:  

Total expenses: The total expenses are $119.2 million, which is a $13.6 million or 12.9 percent increase from the 
prior year mainly attributed to the following: 

 State Water Project: Expenses increased by $1.3 million or 4.9 percent.  The State Water Project pass-through 
payments to California State Department of Water Resources (DWR) cost fluctuates throughout the years.   

 Water Enterprise: includes Water Enterprise Operations, Water Enterprise Capital Expansion, and Non-Major 
Enterprise Funds.  Expenses increased by $12.2 million or 15.6 percent mainly due to an increase in salaries 
and wages, asset retirements, and legal expenses for the AFFF MDL class action settlement, and offset by a 
decrease in program participation costs.   
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Governmental Funds 
The Agency’s governmental funds consist of three funds: Flood Protection Operations, Flood Protection 
Development Impact Fee and Non-Major Governmental Funds.  As of June 30, 2025, the Agency’s governmental 
funds reported combined ending fund balance of $118.7 million.     

 Flood Protection Operations Fund – This fund provides for general administration and the maintenance and
operation of regional flood protection facilities. The Agency manages a watershed of 425 square miles in
eastern Alameda County, receiving drainage from parts of Contra Costa, Santa Clara, and San Joaquin Counties.
More than 37 miles of flood control channels and regional drainage facilities are owned and maintained by the
Agency. This fund finances a comprehensive year-round maintenance program that includes repairing slides
and erosion, refurbishing access roads and associated drainage ditches, installing and repairing gates and fences,
and maintaining landscaped areas. This fund pays for renewal/replacement and improvement projects for the
existing flood protection system.  As of June 30, 2025, its fund balance was $33.6 million, an increase of $5.8
million from prior fiscal year.  The increase in fund balance is mainly due to a $1.2 million decrease in services
and supplies due to project deferrals resulting from permitting delays and $0.4 million increase in investment
earnings due to favorable market conditions and a $0.4 million increase in property taxes due to higher total
assessed value.  The $33.6 million fund balance is committed as follows: $23.9 million for capital projects,
$9.5 million for operating contingency and $0.2 million is restricted.

 Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund – The purpose of this fund is to ensure that the Agency is
able to meet future needs for expansion-related flood control facilities. The program is primarily intended to
provide funding for any flood control facilities required for new development. Funds are expended on the
planning, design, lands and right of way acquisition, environmental review, permitting, and construction for
drainage projects.  As of June 30, 2025, its restricted fund balance was $85.1 million, an increase of $5.3
million from the prior fiscal year.  The increase in fund balance was primarily due to a $3.4 million increase
in Development Impact Fees, a $0.9 million increase in investment earnings due to favorable market conditions,
offset by a $3 million developer reimbursement.  In accordance with the Agency Goal E – Effective Flood
Protection, Strategic Initiative Plan No. 12, the Board approved guiding principles goals of the Flood
Management Plan which will direct the Agency’s future maintenance activities and capital project for flood
protection.  The Agency is in the process of developing a complete Flood Management Plan that addresses
climate change and changing regulatory requirements.

Proprietary Funds 
The Agency’s proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information as is found in the government-
wide financial statements, but in more detail. 

 State Water Facilities Fund – This fund finances the "fixed cost" payment to the State Department of Water
Resources (“DWR”) to import water to the Agency.  The purpose is to pay the costs for use of the State water
delivery system, which includes repayment of voter approved, State incurred, long-term debt.  Net position of
the State Water Facilities Fund as of June 30, 2025, was $57.9 million, an increase of $5.6 million from the
prior fiscal year.

Operating expenses increased by $1.3 million or 5 percent due to the State Water Project pass-through payments
to California State Department of Water Resources.  Intergovernmental revenue increased $2 million due to
refunds from DWR which are based on the level of prior year expenditures.  Investment earnings increased by
$1.1 million due to favorable market conditions.
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 Water Enterprise Operations is a fund that accounts for operations in a manner similar to a private business 
enterprise.  Operations are accounted for in such a manner as to show net income or loss in the fund is intended 
to be entirely or predominately self-supported from user charges.  The purpose of Water Enterprise Operations 
is to ensure that the current water treatment and delivery systems are maintained effectively, and that capital 
replacement and improvement needs are funded.  This also pays for capital projects including the renewal, 
replacement and improvement of the current water treatment and delivery system.  Net position of the Water 
Enterprise Operations Fund as of June 30, 2025, was $387 million, an increase of $20.1 million from the prior 
fiscal year.   

Operating revenues were $71.7 million, an increase of $6.3 million from the prior fiscal year due to water sales 
and reimbursement for Los Vaqueros Reservoir Expansion Project costs. The Board approved 5.5% annual 
revenue adjustment for wholesale water services for Calendar Years 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026. In FY 2025, 
water sales increased by $4.0 million, mainly due to an increase in water demand to the City of Pleasanton due 
to their wells being offline from detection of PFAS.  Investment earnings increased by $1.3 million due to 
favorable market conditions for the fiscal year.  Intergovernmental revenue, which includes grant revenue, 
decreased $8.3 million due to the SGMA implementation grant received from DWR last fiscal year. The 
Agency also received settlement proceeds for the AFFF MDL class action settlement totaling $11 million. 
Operating expenses were $60.4 million, an increase of $5.4 million from the prior fiscal year.  In operating 
expenses, salaries, wages, and benefits increased by $3.8 million due to a 4 percent cost-of-living adjustment, 
contractual services increased by $3.2 million due to AFFF MDL class action legal expenses. Chemical 
purchases increased $0.6 million due to cost increases.  Water purchases decreased $2.3 million due to a pause 
in funding for the Delta Conveyance Project which resumes in calendar year 2026 and State Water Project 
conveyance costs. 

 Water Enterprise Capital Expansion – The purpose of this fund is to ensure that the Agency is able to meet 
future needs for increased water demands.  The program is primarily intended to provide funding for new 
facilities and additional water supplies to serve additional capacity requirements of new development, many of 
them fixed (i.e., bond payment obligations for debt incurred by others to increase capacity).  As of June 30, 
2025, the net position for the fund was $70.5 million, an increase of $11.3 million from the prior fiscal year.  

Operating revenues were $23.8 million, an increase of $11.9 million from the prior fiscal year due to an increase 
in water connection fee revenues.  Operating expenses were $0.7 million or 3.8 percent less than the prior 
fiscal year mainly due to decreases in participation costs in the Sites Reservoir Project and Los Vaqueros 
Expansion Project.  
 
Non-operating revenues (expenses) saw an increase in revenue of $1.3 million from the prior year mainly due 
to an increase in investment earnings from a favorable market conditions for the fiscal year. 
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District – Zone 7 
Zone7 Water Agency 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Governmental Funds Budgetary Highlights 
A comparative budgetary statement for the Agency’s governmental fund (Flood Protection Operation Fund) for the 
year ended June 30, 2025: 

Budget Variance
Final Budgeted 

Amounts
Actual  Amounts 
Budgetary Basis June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

REVENUES:
Property taxes 12,498,000$      12,536,110$         38,110$           913,791$         
Intergovernmental revenues 169,000             93,808 (75,192)           18,377             
Charges for services 85,000 213,174 128,174           653,538           
Investment earnings 595,000             1,336,319            741,319           734,738           
Rental Income 13,000 (13,000)           111
Others 138,000             241,686 103,686           (64,829)           
Total Revenue 13,498,000$      14,421,097$         923,097$         2,255,726$      

EXPENDITURES:
Flood Protection:  
     Salaries and employee benefits 3,133,000          3,187,556            (54,556)           560,590           
     Services and supplies 23,546,669        5,702,939            17,843,730      6,983,170        
Capital outlay:
     Equipment and capital structures   5,074,478          5,074,478        4,861,823        
Total Expenditures 31,754,147$      8,890,495$          22,863,652$    12,405,583$    

EXCESS REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (18,256,147)       5,530,602            23,786,749      14,661,309      
Other Financing Sources (Uses) - 6,882 6,882 18,480             
Transfers in (Note 3) 318,174 318,174           
Transfers (out) (Note 3) (16,000)             (18,270) (2,270)             (315,065)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (18,272,147)$     5,837,388            24,109,535$    14,364,724$    

Fund balance, beginning of year 27,800,557          

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 33,637,945$         

The Agency’s actual flood protection operation fund revenues are over the budget by $0.9 million due to property 
tax revenue based on higher assessments and investment earnings due to favorable market conditions.  

Variations between budget and actual expenditures in the special revenue fund reflect overall expenditures less than 
the final budget by $22.9 million. The variance is primarily due to project deferrals due to permitting delays and 
re-prioritization and deferral of capital projects while the Flood Management Plan is being developed.  The Flood 
Management Plan will direct the Agency’s future maintenance activities and capital project for flood protection. 

A comparative budgetary statement for the Agency’s governmental fund (Flood Protection Development Impact 
Fee Fund) for the year ended June 30, 2025: 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) (Continued) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, and 2024 

Budget Variance
Final Budgeted 

Amounts
Actual  Amounts 
Budgetary Basis June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

REVENUES:
Charges for services 1,500,000$        4,968,521$          3,468,521$      (863,906)$        
Investment earnings 1,952,000          3,421,002            1,469,002        1,982,366        
Others 25,000 28,500 3,500 21,755             
Total Revenue 3,477,000$        8,418,023$          4,941,023$      1,140,215$      

EXPENDITURES:
Flood Protection:  
     Salaries and employee benefits 147,200             30,463 116,737           263,726           
     Services and supplies 5,470,082          3,290,517            2,179,565        2,375,610        
Capital outlay:
     Equipment and capital structures   - - 55,883             
Total Expenditures 5,617,282$        3,320,980$          2,296,302$      2,695,219$      

EXCESS REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES (2,140,282)         5,097,043            7,237,325        3,835,434        
Other Financing (Uses): - - - -
Transfers in (Note 3) - 221,105 221,105           (221,105)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (2,140,282)$       5,318,148            7,458,430$      3,614,329$      

Fund balance, beginning of year 79,773,869          

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 85,092,017$         

The Agency’s actual flood protection development impact fee fund revenues are over the budget by $4.9 million 
mainly due to an increase Development Impact Fees primarily for the City of Livermore and in investment earnings 
due to the favorable market conditions. 

Variations between budget and actual expenditures in the flood protection development impact fee fund reflect 
overall expenditures less than the final budget by $2.3 million. The variance is primarily due to project deferrals 
due to permitting delays and the re-prioritization and deferral of capital projects while the Flood Master Plan Phase 
1, approved by the Board in August 2022, and 2A are being developed.   

Capital Assets 

As of June 30, 2025, the agency’s capital assets totaled $376.1 million (net of accumulated depreciation and 
amortization) which is an increase of $3.2 million from the capital assets balance of $372.9 million at June 30, 
2024.  The increase in capital assets was primarily due to construction of the Stoneridge Well PFAS Treatment 
Facility, MGDP Concentrate Conditioning Facility Project, Chain of Lakes PFAS Treatment Facility, and the Wells 
and MGDP Electrical Upgrades Project. This was offset by the decrease in construction in progress and the 
retirements of the DVWTP Dissolved Air Floatation system. Additional information on the Agency’s capital assets 
is provided in Note 4 of the financial statement.  
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A comparison of the Agency’s capital assets over the past three fiscal years is presented below: 

Capital Assets 
Business-type Activities 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023 
(In millions of dollars) 

  

2025 2024 $ Change % Change 2023 $ Change % Change
Easements 1.9$           1.9$           -$               0% 1.9$            -$                       0%
Land 9.6             9.6             -                  0% 9.6              -                         0%
Treatment Plants 259.2         264.6         (5.4)            -2% 260.5         4.1                     2%
Construction in Progress 7.7             18.5           (10.8)          -58% 15.8            2.7                     17%
Office Building 8.6             8.6             -                  0% 8.6              -                         0%
Pipelines 53.9           53.9           -                  0% 53.9            -                         0%
Reserviors 3.0             3.0             -                  0% 3.0              -                         0%
Water Entitlements 36.7           36.7           -                  0% 36.7            -                         0%
Wellfields 65.2           42.2           23.0           55% 31.2            11.0                   35%
Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition Project 10.2           10.2           -                  0% 9.7              0.5                     5%
Others 10.4           9.9             0.5              5% 9.7              0.2                     2%

Subtotal 466.4         459.1         7.3              2% 440.6         18.5                   4%
Less Accumulated depreciation/amortization 123.5         119.2         4.3              4% 109.8         9.4                     9%
Total capital assets 342.9         339.9         3.0              1% 330.8         9.1                     3%
Lease assets -                 -                 -                  0% -                  -$                       0%
Less Accumulated depreciation/amortization -                 -                 -                  0% -                  -                         0%
Total lease assets -                 -                 -                  0% -                  -                         0%
Subscription Assets -                 0.3             (0.3)            -100% -                  0.3$                   0%
Less Accumulated depreciation/amortization -                 0.1             (0.1)            -100% -                  0.1                     0%
Total Subscription assets -                 0.2             (0.2)            -100% -                  0.2                     0%
Total capital assets, net 342.9$     340.1$     2.8$           1% 330.8$      9.3$               3%

2024 vs. 20232025 vs. 2024

 
Capital Assets 

Governmental Activities 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023 

(In millions of dollars) 
 

2025 2024 $ Change % Change 2023 $ Change % Change
Land 21.2$         21.2$         -$               0% 21.2$         -$                       0%
Easements 0.1             0.1             -                  0% 0.1              -                         0%
Flood Control Channels 12.4           12.4           -                  0% 12.4            -                         0%
Construction in Progress 0.9             -                 0.9              0% -                  -                         0%
Office Building 1.9             1.9             -                  0% 1.9              -                         0%
Others 3.2             3.2             -                  0% 3.1              0.1                     3%

Subtotal 39.7           38.8           0.9              2% 38.7            0.1                     0%

Less Accumulated depreciation/amortization 6.3             6.0             0.3              5% 5.5              0.5                     9%
Capital assets, net 33.4$         32.8$         0.6$           2% 33.2$         (0.4)$                 -1%

2024 vs. 20232025 vs. 2024

 
Debt Administration and Bond Rating 
 

As of June 30, 2025, the Agency had $83.5 million in outstanding debt and $4.1 million of unamortized bond 
premium.  However, the Agency partners with other public agencies and pays for debt incurred on the Agency’s 
behalf.  For example, the Agency pays the State incurred debt for capital projects to maintain, improve or expand 
the State Water Project infrastructure.  The Agency, under the terms of its contract with the State, is obligated to 
pay its share of the debt payments regardless of the amount of water purchased.    
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The Agency has a bonded indebtedness limit that shall not exceed 5 percent of the assessed valuation of all taxable 
property in any zone lying, in whole or in part of the agency’s service area, per Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District Act, (ACT 20), §36.6.   

Bond Rating 
A credit rating is a value assigned by one or more of the recognized rating agencies that “grade” a jurisdiction’s 
credit, or financial trustworthiness. The three primary rating agencies are Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”), 
S&P Global Ratings, a division of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC, and Fitch Ratings. These rating 
agencies serve as independent assessors of municipal and corporate credit strength. Rating agencies generally focus 
on four major areas when assigning credit ratings: finances, management, economy, and outstanding debt. The 
Agency credit ratings for the Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority (LVWFA), Water Revenue Bonds, 2023 
and 2018 Series A, were as follows: 

Ratings/ Outlook 
Type of Bond S & P Fitch Rating 

LVWFA Water Revenue Bonds, 2023 Series A AAA/ Stable AAA/ Stable 
LVWFA Water Revenue Bonds, 2018 Series A AAA/ Stable AAA/ Stable 

On September 25, 2025, Fitch Ratings upgraded the LVWFA’s Water Revenue Bonds, 2023 and 2018, 
Series A, and Issuer Default Rating (IDR) to ‘AAA’ from ‘AA+’. The outlook is stable. According to 
Fitch Ratings, “The upgrade of the water revenue bond rating and IDR to 'AAA' from 'AA+' reflects 
Fitch's expectation that additional debt will be issued over the five-year period, but that leverage will 
remain exceptionally…The agency's leverage has been below zero in each of the last five fiscal years 
(2020-2024; Fiscal Year Ending June 30) as a result of cash balances exceeding adjusted debt. The 
agency is positioned well to absorb a potential increase in leverage should financing become necessary 
for large capital projects in the intermediate- to long-term.” 

On October 11, 2023, S&P Global Ratings announced it had raised its long-term rating on the Agency's 
outstanding 2018A and 2023A Water Revenue Bonds to 'AAA' from 'AA+'.  According to S&P Global 
Ratings, “the stable outlook reflects our view of the agency's diverse water supply when considering its 
surface and groundwater storage, strong financial position in terms of all-in coverage and liquidity, 
fixed-rate schedule, and drought surcharge schedule, which we believe will allow it to recover costs and 
stabilize revenues in the event of future drought conditions. The outlook also reflects our assessment 
that the three strongest retail customers' water fund credit quality will remain consistent with current 
projections.” 

Additional information on the Agency’s long-term debt is provided in Note 5 of the financial statements. 
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget and Rates 
 

 The Board of Directors adopted the Agency’s two-year budget on June 11, 2024 and amended as part of the 
mid-cycle review on June 18, 2025.  The two-year budget provides funding for the Agency’s operating, 
capital and debt service payments for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2025, and 2026.  The budget addresses 
current operational and economic conditions and continues to provide the highest standard of water quality, 
reliability, and flood protection services. These current conditions have impacted the budget in the following 
ways:       

o Decrease in federal grant revenue due to storm damage repair permitting delays.   

o Increase in water production costs due to inflationary cost increases. 

o Continued significant funding for storm damage repairs resulting from the 2022-23 storms. 

o Funding for continued participation in water supply reliability projects (Sites Reservoir and Delta 
Conveyance Project) to further diversify the Agency’s water portfolio. 

o Increase in personnel costs due to the addition of four full-time positions and a cost-of-living 
adjustment. 

o The Alameda County unemployment rate as of September 2024 is 4.8%. 

 On November 16, 2022, the Board approved 5.5% annual rate revenue adjustment for wholesale water services 
for Calendar Years 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026. The first-rate increase went into effect February 1, 2023, and 
the remaining increases for calendar years 2024-2026 will be effective January 1 of each year. The water rate 
schedule was set through a rigorous cost-recovery analysis and public review process. The Board reviewed 
the rate schedule for calendar years 2025 and 2026, through a public process in October 2024.  Based on the 
findings of the comprehensive review, the Board determined the adopted rates were sufficient to meet future 
revenue requirements with no changes.  The adopted rate schedule is shown in the table below: 

 

 

 
 
 

 
Request for Information 
 

This financial report is designed to provide our customers, ratepayers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the Agency’s finances and to demonstrate accountability for the money it receives.  Requests for 
additional financial information should be addressed to the Finance Department, Zone 7 Water Agency, 100 N. 
Canyons Parkway, Livermore, CA 94551. This report is also available online at http://www.zone7waterca.gov. 

Calendar Year 2023 2024 2025 2026 

Volume-based Rate per CCF $2.27 $2.34 $2.44 $2.47 

Fixed Revenue Recovery 45% 45% 45% 45% 

Total Fixed Charges $27,395,440 $29,703,607 $31,805,889 $33,286,846 
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2025

WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Governmental Business-Type Total
Activities Activities 2025 2024

ASSETS

Current assets

Pooled Cash in County Treasury (Note 2) $93,377,218 $97,651,853 $191,029,071 $160,748,054
Cash and Investments - Agency Treasury (Note 2) 24,015,694            133,909,936          157,925,630          143,411,922
Restricted cash (Note 2) 1,802,784              19,204,180            21,006,964            35,013,625            
Accounts receivable, net 657,016 34,678,384 35,335,400 28,769,897
Interest receivable 2,955 14,955 17,910 22,261
Lease receivable 63,447
Prepaid expenses 1,383,937 1,425,584 2,809,521 362,031

Total current assets 121,239,604 286,884,892 408,124,496 368,391,237

Noncurrent assets

Lease receivable 747,577
Capital assets (Note 4):

Rights of way, water entitlements, easements
and construction in progress 22,121,614 55,757,066 77,878,680 87,816,983

Depreciable, net 11,144,211 287,125,586 298,269,797 285,127,142

Total noncurrent assets 33,265,825 342,882,652 376,148,477 373,691,702

Total assets 154,505,429 629,767,544 784,272,973 742,082,939

Pension related (Note 6) 387,288 3,702,338 4,089,626 5,942,777
OPEB related (Note 7) 156,694 1,497,941 1,654,635 1,792,235

Total deferred outflow of resources 543,982 5,200,279 5,744,261 7,735,012

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,097,657 8,584,298 9,681,955 12,711,679
Interest payable 1,957,269 1,957,269 1,785,568
Deposits payable 1,411,985 347,495 1,759,480 1,737,369
Compensated absences (Note 1L) 57,127 1,317,392 1,374,519 807,031
Long-term debt - due within one year (Note 5) 2,215,000 2,215,000 2,186,261

Total current liabilities 2,566,769 14,421,454 16,988,223 19,227,908

Noncurrent liabilities

Compensated absences (Note 1L) 85,941 1,981,875 2,067,816 742,307
Long-term debt (Note 5) 85,366,792 85,366,792 88,256,469
Net pension liability (Note 6) 1,293,600 12,366,383 13,659,983 15,118,022
Net OPEB liability (Note 7) 204,097 1,951,100 2,155,197 1,889,593

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,583,638 101,666,150 103,249,788 106,006,391

Total liabilities 4,150,407 116,087,604 120,238,011 125,234,299

Lease related 811,589
Pension related (Note 6) 251,995 2,408,985 2,660,980 4,345,304
OPEB related (Note 7) 96,942 926,731 1,023,673 1,218,684

Total deferred inflow of resources 348,937 3,335,716 3,684,653 6,375,577

NET POSITION (Net 1O)

Net investment in capital assets 33,265,825 264,397,075 297,662,900 314,572,052
Restricted for

Capital Projects and Water Expansion 85,092,017 150,848,774 235,940,791 228,149,310
Pension trust 224,776 2,140,123 2,364,899 2,042,750

Unrestricted 31,967,449 98,158,531 130,125,980 73,443,963

Total net position $150,550,067 $515,544,503 $666,094,570 $618,208,075

See accompanying notes to financial statements

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Operating Capital 
Charges for Grants and Grants and 

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Total
Governmental activities:

Flood Protection Operations $8,650,032 $213,174 $93,808 $306,982
Flood Protection Development Impact Fee 3,320,980 4,968,521 4,968,521
Flood Protection Grants 359,365 309,365 $50,000 359,365

Total governmental activities 12,330,377 5,181,695 403,173 50,000 5,634,868

Business-type activities:
State Water Project 28,627,763 26,641,080 4,819,004 31,460,084
Water Enterprise 90,590,025 95,492,759 3,738,179 2,902,194 102,133,132

Total business-type activities 119,217,788 122,133,839 8,557,183 2,902,194 133,593,216

Total $131,548,165 $127,315,534 $8,960,356 $2,952,194 $139,228,084

General revenues:
Property taxes:

Secured
Unsecured
Supplemental

Investment earnings
Other

Total general revenues

Transfers, net

Change in net position

Net position-beginning of year

Net position-end of year

Program Revenues

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities 2025 2024

($8,343,050) ($8,343,050) ($9,586,170)
1,647,541 1,647,541 1,568,051

37,054

(6,695,509) (6,695,509) (7,981,065)

$2,832,321 2,832,321 2,118,171
11,543,107 11,543,107 13,776,089

14,375,428 14,375,428 15,894,260

(6,695,509) 14,375,428 7,679,919 7,913,195

11,686,102 11,686,102 11,271,738
617,210 617,210 583,549
232,798 232,798 327,504

4,757,320 11,823,400 16,580,720 11,737,076
277,068 10,812,678 11,089,746 338,406

17,570,498 22,636,078 40,206,576 24,258,273

(18,270) 18,270

10,856,719 37,029,776 47,886,495 32,171,468

139,693,348 478,514,727 618,208,075 586,036,607

$150,550,067 $515,544,503 $666,094,570 $618,208,075
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Flood Protection Total Non-Major
Flood Protection Development Governmental Totals

Operations   Impact Fee Funds 2025 2024
ASSETS

Current assets

Cash in County treasury (Note 2) $27,548,241 $65,828,977 $93,377,218 $88,584,880
Cash in Agency treasury (Note 2) 5,067,830 18,947,864       24,015,694 20,574,837
Restricted cash (Note 2) 1,802,784 1,802,784 1,720,159
Accounts receivable, net 102,785 414,546 $139,685 657,016 1,055,688
Interest receivable 752 2,203 2,955 3,542
Prepaid expenses 1,383,937 1,383,937
Lease receivable 397,618
Due from other funds (Note 3) 86,178 53,507 139,685 774,345

Total assets $35,992,507 $85,247,097 $139,685 $121,379,289 $113,111,069

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $942,577 $155,080 $1,097,657 $2,411,686

Deposits payable 1,411,985 1,411,985 1,411,985
Due to other funds (Note 3) $139,685 139,685 774,345

Total liabilities 2,354,562 155,080 139,685 2,649,327 4,598,016

Deferred inflows of resources
Lease-related 399,347
Unavailable revenues 539,280

Total deferred inflows of resources 938,627

FUND BALANCES

Restricted 224,776 85,092,017 85,316,793 79,970,351
Committed:

Flood Protection Capital Projects 23,877,169 23,877,169 15,750,075
Flood Protection Operating Contingency 9,536,000 9,536,000 11,854,000

Total fund balances 33,637,945 85,092,017 118,729,962 107,574,426

Total liabilities and fund balances $35,992,507 $85,247,097 $139,685 $121,379,289 $113,111,069

See accompanying notes to financial statements

WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET
AS OF JUNE 30, 2025
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

RECONCILIATION OF
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS - FUND BALANCE

WITH THE GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2025

TOTAL FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS $118,729,962

Amounts reported for Governmental Activities in the Statement of 
Net position are different from those reported in the Governmental Funds 

above because of the following:

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets used in Governmental Activities are not current assets or financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the Governmental Funds.

Nondepreciable $22,121,614
Depreciable/Amortizable, net 11,144,211 33,265,825

LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and accordingly are not 
reported as fund liabilities.  All liabilities, both current and long-term, are reported in the 
Statement of Net Position:

Compensated absences (143,068)
Net pension liability and related deferred inflows and outflows of resources (1,158,307)
Net OPEB liability and related deferred inflows and outflows of resources (144,345)

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $150,550,067

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Flood Protection Total Non-Major
Flood Protection Development Governmental Totals

Operations   Impact Fee Funds 2025 2024

REVENUES

Property taxes $12,536,110 $12,536,110 $12,182,791
Intergovernmental revenues 93,808 $898,644 992,452 455,588
Charges for services 213,174 $4,968,521 5,181,695 2,360,632
Interest and rentals 1,336,319 3,421,002 4,757,321 3,485,104
Rental income 27,111
Other revenues 241,686 28,500 270,186 319,926

Total revenues 14,421,097 8,418,023 898,644 23,737,764 18,831,152

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Salaries and employee benefits

transferred from district-wide 3,187,556 30,463 4,534 3,222,553 2,533,566
Services and supplies 5,702,939 3,290,517 354,831 9,348,287 8,517,413

Capital outlay:
Equipment and capital infrastructure 43,708

8,890,495 3,320,980 359,365 12,570,840 11,094,687

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 5,530,602 5,097,043 539,279 11,166,924 7,736,465

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 6,882 6,882 18,480
Transfers in (Note 3) 318,174 221,105 539,279 539,280
Transfers (out) (Note 3) (18,270) (539,279) (557,549) (551,170)

Total other financing sources (uses) 306,786 221,105 (539,279) (11,388) 6,590

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 5,837,388 5,318,148 11,155,536 7,743,055

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING OF YEAR 27,800,557 79,773,869 107,574,426 99,831,371

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR $33,637,945 $85,092,017 $118,729,962 $107,574,426

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

RECONCILIATION OF THE
 NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

WITH THE
CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS $11,155,536

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities 
are different because of the following:

Net decrease in unavailable revenues decreases the receivable in the statement of net position
 but is reported as a revenue in the governmental funds when received. (539,280)

CAPITAL ASSETS TRANSACTIONS

Governmental Funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,
in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is capitalized and allocated over
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. 

The capital outlay expenditures are therefore added back to fund balance 881,603
Depreciation expense is deducted from the fund balance (423,067)

LONG-TERM DEBT

Compensated absences were reported in the Government-Wide Statement of Activities, but 
they did not require the use of current financial resources. Therefore, compensated absences 
were not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. (87,511)

ACCRUAL OF PENSION AND OPEB

Net pension liability and related deferred inflows and outflows of resources (90,185)
Net OPEB liability and related deferred inflows and outflows of resources (40,377)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $10,856,719

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

FLOOD PROTECTION OPERATIONS FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Actual Amounts Positive 
Original Final Budgetary Basis (Negative)

REVENUES

Property taxes $12,498,000 $12,498,000 $12,536,110 $38,110
Intergovernmental revenue 169,000 169,000 93,808 (75,192)
Charges for services 85,000 85,000 213,174 128,174
Interest and rentals 595,000 595,000 1,336,319 741,319
Rental income 13,000 13,000 (13,000)
Other revenue 138,000 138,000 241,686 103,686

TOTAL REVENUES 13,498,000 13,498,000 14,421,097 923,097

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Flood protection:
Salaries and benefits 3,133,000 3,133,000 3,187,556 (54,556)
Services and supplies 20,524,000 23,546,669 5,702,939 17,843,730

Capital outlay:
Equipment and capital structure 35,000 5,074,478 5,074,478

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 23,692,000 31,754,147 8,890,495 22,863,652

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUE
OVER EXPENDITURES (10,194,000) (18,256,147) 5,530,602 23,786,749

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 6,882 6,882
Transfers in (Note 3) 318,174 318,174
Transfers (out) (Note 3) (16,000) (16,000) (18,270) (2,270)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE ($10,210,000) ($18,272,147) 5,837,388 $24,109,535

Fund balance, beginning of year 27,800,557

Fund balance, end of year $33,637,945

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

FLOOD PROTECTION DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEE FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Actual Amounts Positive 
Original Final Budgetary Basis (Negative)

REVENUES

Charges for services $1,500,000 $1,500,000 $4,968,521 $3,468,521
Investment earnings 1,952,000 1,952,000 3,421,002 1,469,002
Other revenue 25,000 25,000 28,500 3,500

TOTAL REVENUES 3,477,000 3,477,000 8,418,023 4,941,023

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Flood protection:

Salaries and benefits 147,200 147,200 30,463 116,737
Services and supplies 1,682,800 5,470,082 3,290,517 2,179,565

Capital outlay:
Equipment and capital structure

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,830,000 5,617,282 3,320,980 2,296,302

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
OVER EXPENDITURES 1,647,000 (2,140,282) 5,097,043 7,237,325

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in (Note 3) 221,105 221,105

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE $1,647,000 ($2,140,282) 5,318,148 $7,458,430

Fund balance, beginning of year 79,773,869

Fund balance, end of year $85,092,017

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2025

WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

State
Water Water Enterprise Water Enterprise Non-Major Totals

Facilities Operations Capital Expansion Enterprise Funds 2025 2024

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash in County treasury (Note 2) $15,194,775 $63,177,608 $18,816,007 $463,463 $97,651,853 $72,163,174
Cash in Agency treasury (Note 2) 39,116,969           41,633,226           53,159,741             133,909,936 122,837,085
Restricted cash and investments (Note 2) 18,284,931           919,249                  19,204,180 33,293,466
Receivables, net 2,717,296 24,230,755 7,730,333 34,678,384 27,714,209
Interest receivable 4,567 4,191 6,197 14,955 18,719
Lease receivables 39,960
Prepaid deposits 1,110,041 254,206 61,337 1,425,584 362,031

Total current assets 58,143,648 147,584,917 80,692,864 463,463 286,884,892 256,428,644

Noncurrent assets:
Lease receivables 373,446
Capital assets (Note 4):

Nondepreciable 55,757,066 55,757,066 66,576,972
Depreciable/amortizable, net 287,125,586 287,125,586 273,559,864

Total noncurrent assets 342,882,652 342,882,652 340,510,282

Total assets 58,143,648 490,467,569 80,692,864 463,463 629,767,544 596,938,926

Pension related (Note 6) 3,658,170 44,168 3,702,338 5,473,297
OPEB related (Note 7) 1,480,071 17,870 1,497,941 1,650,649

Total deferred outflow of resources 5,138,241 62,038 5,200,279 7,123,946

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and

accrued expenses 232,538 7,797,431 554,329 8,584,298 10,299,993
Interest payable 1,744,419 212,850 1,957,269 1,785,568
Deposits 347,495 347,495 325,384
Compensated absences (Note 1L) 1,317,392 1,317,392 778,092
Long-term debt

- due within one year (Note 5) 1,525,000 690,000 2,215,000 2,186,261

Total current liabilities 232,538 12,384,242 1,457,179 347,495 14,421,454 15,375,298

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences (Note 1L) 1,981,875 1,981,875 715,689
Long-term debt (Note 5) 76,772,523 8,594,269 85,366,792 88,256,469
Net pension liability (Note 6) 12,218,855 147,528 12,366,383 13,923,699
Net OPEB liability (Note 7) 1,927,824 23,276 1,951,100 1,740,315

Total noncurrent liabilities 92,901,077 8,765,073 101,666,150 104,636,172

Total liabilities 232,538 105,285,319 10,222,252 347,495 116,087,604 120,011,470

Lease related 412,242
Pension related (Note 6) 2,380,246 28,739 2,408,985 4,002,025
OPEB related (Note 7) 915,675 11,056 926,731 1,122,408

Total deferred inflow of resources 3,295,921 39,795 3,335,716 5,536,675

NET POSITION (Note 1O)

Net Investment in capital assets 264,397,075 264,397,075 281,764,763
Restricted for

Capital Projects and Water Expansion 57,911,110 22,461,208 70,476,456 150,848,774 148,375,441
Pension trust 2,123,724 16,399 2,140,123 1,846,268

Unrestricted 98,042,563 115,968 98,158,531 46,528,255

Total net position $57,911,110 $387,024,570 $70,492,855 $115,968 $515,544,503 $478,514,727

See accompanying notes to financial statements

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025

WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

State
Water Water Enterprise Water Enterprise Non-Major Totals

Facilities Operations Capital Expansion Enterprise Funds 2025 2024
OPERATING REVENUES

Water sales $69,090,745 $69,090,745 $65,069,514
Connection and development fees $22,940,368 22,940,368 11,860,411
Charges for services 392,426 392,426 91,125
Other revenues $2,717,296 2,252,825 816,395 5,786,516 2,834,228

Total operating revenues 2,717,296 71,735,996 23,756,763 98,210,055 79,855,278

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, wages and benefits 23,026,942 316,556 23,343,498 19,282,967
Contractual services 26,905 9,825,460 1,538,071 11,390,436 7,908,632
Technical supplies 401,634 401,634 423,396
Chemical purchases 4,068,219 4,068,219 3,452,882
Water purchases 28,600,858 4,110,530 16,594,406 49,305,794 50,279,315
Water storage 1,463,774 1,463,774 1,190,937
Utilities 2,716,193 2,716,193 2,458,597
Maintenance and repairs 2,325,274 2,325,274 2,204,150
Equipment and building rents 113,903 113,903 124,184
Other services and supplies 1,605,766 546,184 2,151,950 3,855,824
Risk management 830,295 830,295 755,250
Depreciation (Note 4) 9,944,080 9,944,080 10,087,998

Total operating expenses 28,627,763 60,432,070 18,995,217 108,055,050 102,024,132

Operating income (loss) (25,910,467) 11,303,926 4,761,546 (9,844,995) (22,168,854)

NONOPERATING REVENUES and (EXPENSES)

Property taxes 23,923,784 23,923,784 24,043,448
Intergovernmental revenue 4,819,004 3,501,206 3,139,167 11,459,377 17,635,085
Investment earnings 2,738,482 5,055,409 4,013,091 $16,418 11,823,400 8,251,972
Loss on disposal of assets (7,732,168) (7,732,168) (402,645)
Interest expense for debt service (3,152,265) (278,305) (3,430,570) (3,212,774)
Other revenues 10,812,678 10,812,678

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 31,481,270 8,484,860 6,873,953 16,418 46,856,501 46,315,086

Income (loss) before transfers 5,570,803 19,788,786 11,635,499 16,418 37,011,506 24,146,232

Transfers in (Note 3) 341,962 341,962 2,186,067
Transfers (out) (Note 3) (323,692) (323,692) (2,174,177)

Change in net position 5,570,803 20,130,748 11,311,807 16,418 37,029,776 24,158,122

Net position, beginning of year 52,340,307 366,893,822 59,181,048 99,550 478,514,727 454,356,605

Net position, end of year $57,911,110 $387,024,570 $70,492,855 $115,968 $515,544,503 $478,514,727

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025
WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION  AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

State Water Water Enterprise Water Enterprise Non-Major Total
Facilities Operations Capital Expansion Enterprise Funds 2025 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers and users $72,588,072 ($4,282,560) $68,305,512 $54,000,704
Refund of customers deposits $22,111 22,111 (17,988)
Cash received from connection and development fees 22,940,368 22,940,368 11,860,411
Cash paid to suppliers for goods and services ($29,346,123) (28,852,130) (18,402,784) (76,601,037) (66,884,136)
Cash paid to employees for services (22,458,454) (291,139) (22,749,593) (20,869,987)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (29,346,123) 21,277,488 (36,115) 22,111 (8,082,639) (21,910,996)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interfund borrowing
Transfers in 341,962 341,962 2,186,067
Transfers (out) (323,692) (323,692) (2,174,177)
Property tax 23,923,784 23,923,784 24,043,448
Intergovernmental 4,819,004 14,313,884 3,139,167 22,272,055 17,635,085

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities 28,742,788 14,655,846 2,815,475 46,214,109 41,690,423

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of capital assets (34,289,206) (34,289,206) (21,439,157)
Proceeds from sale of assets 5,521,432 5,521,432 1,820,076
Loss on disposal of capital assets 7,732,168 7,732,168
Principles payments on long-term debt (1,450,000) (650,000) (2,100,000) (1,595,000)
Interest paid (3,152,265) (305,408) (3,457,673) (3,164,551)

Cash flows from (used for) capital and related financing activities (25,637,871) (955,408) (26,593,279) (24,378,632)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received on investments 2,739,489 5,056,007 4,908,361 16,418 12,720,275 8,250,335

Cash flows from investing activities 2,739,489 5,056,007 4,908,361 16,418 12,720,275 8,250,335

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,136,154 15,351,470 6,732,313 38,529 24,258,466 3,651,130

Cash and cash equivalent at beginning of period 52,175,590 107,744,295 67,948,906 424,934 228,293,725 194,643,383

Cash in County treasury 15,194,775 63,177,608 18,816,007 463,463 97,651,853 72,163,174
Cash in Agency treasury 39,116,969 41,633,226 53,159,741 133,909,936 122,837,085
Restricted cash and investments 18,284,931 919,249 19,204,180 33,293,466
Cash and cash equivalent at end of period $54,311,744 $123,095,765 $72,894,997 $463,463 $250,765,969 $198,294,513

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income (loss) ($25,910,467) $11,303,926 $4,761,546 ($9,844,995) ($22,168,854)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to cash flows

to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 9,944,080 9,944,080 10,087,998
Changes in assets and liabilities

Receivables (2,717,296) 852,076 (5,098,955) (6,964,175) (13,993,550)
Lease receivables 413,406 413,406 39,792
Prepaids (948,705) (53,511) 924,331 (77,885) 2,095,516
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 230,345 (1,338,735) (648,454) (1,756,844) 3,827,816
Compensated absences 1,805,486 1,805,486 6,483
Deposits $22,111 22,111 (17,988)
Deferred inflows - lease related (412,242) (412,242) (40,405)
Net pension liability, deferred inflows and deferred outflows (1,399,275) 19,878 (1,379,397) (2,180,992)
Net OPEB, deferred inflows and deferred outflows 162,277 5,539 167,816 433,188

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities ($29,346,123) $21,277,488 ($36,115) $22,111 ($8,082,639) ($21,910,996)

NONCASH ITEMS:
Acquisition of right to use intangible assets $176,593
Amortization on bond premium 436,949 147,396 $584,345 $636,676

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The basic financial statements of the Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 – Zone 7 
Water Agency (the “Agency”) have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) as applied to governmental agencies. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(“GASB”) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. 
The following is a summary of the Agency’s significant policies: 
 
A. Financial Reporting Entity 
 

The Agency is a public corporation, organized and existing under the constitution and laws of the State of California. 
The Agency provides various services including the purchase, treatment and sales of water and the maintenance of flood 
control channels within the boundaries of its service area. 
 
In evaluating how to define the Agency for financial reporting purposes, management has considered all potential 
component units. The primary criteria for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity are the 
governing body’s financial accountability and a financial benefit or burden relationship and whether it is misleading to 
exclude. A primary government is financially accountable and shares a financial benefit or burden relationship, if it 
appoints a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and it is able to impose its will on the organization, or if 
there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on 
the primary government. A primary government may also be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally 
dependent on the primary government regardless of whether the organization has a separately elected governing board, a 
governing board appointed by a higher level of government, or a jointly appointed board, and there is a potential for the 
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the primary government. 
 

Joint Powers Authority (JPA) 
 
The Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority (the “Authority”) was formed on November 1, 2017 to assist in 
the financing of public capital improvements. The Authority is a joint exercise agency organized under the laws of 
the State of California and was composed of the Agency and the California Statewide Communities Development 
Authority (“CSCDA”). The Agency Board of Directors serves as the governing board of the Authority. The 
Authority transactions are reported in Water Enterprise Operations and Water Enterprise Capital Expansion funds. 
Related debt is included in the long-term obligations of the Agency on the business-type activities column of the 
statement of net position. 

 
B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

 
The accounts of the Agency are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting 
entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise 
its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, fund balance or net position, revenues 
and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate. Agency resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds 
based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. 
 
The Statement of Net Position and Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds reports separate sections for Deferred Outflows 
of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources, when applicable. 
 

Deferred Outflows of Resources represent a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and that, 
therefore, will not be recognized as an expense until that time. 
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus (Continued)

Deferred Inflows of Resources represent an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods and that, 
therefore, are not recognized as revenue until that time. 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements are presented on an “economic resources” measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all of the Agency’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows of resources, including capital assets, as well as infrastructure assets, and long-term liabilities, are 
included in the accompanying statement of net position. The statement of activities presents changes in net position. 
Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are 
recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. 

Certain types of transactions are reported as program revenues for the Agency in three categories: 

• Charges for services
• Operating grants and contributions
• Capital grants and contributions

Certain eliminations have been made in regards to interfund activities, payables and receivables. All internal balances in 
the statement of net position have been eliminated. The following interfund activities have been eliminated: 

• Due from and to other funds
• Transfers in and out

Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

All governmental funds are accounted for on a spending or “current financial resources” measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, only current assets, current liabilities, and deferred inflows of 
resources are included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances 
presents increases (revenue and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in fund 
balances. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which 
they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. 

Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to 
pay liabilities of the current period. Property taxes are accrued when their receipt occurs within sixty days after the end 
of the accounting period so as to be both measurable and available. All other revenues are considered to be available if 
they are collected within 180 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are generally recorded when a 
liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures and compensated absences are 
recorded when payment is due. General capital assets acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 
Proceeds of general long-term debt and inception of subscription-based information technology arrangements 
(“SBITA”) are reported as other financing sources. 

Reconciliations of the fund financial statements to the government-wide financial statements are provided to explain the 
differences.
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus (Continued) 

 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

 
The Agency reported the following major governmental funds in the accompanying financial statements: 

 
The Flood Protection Operations Fund is used to account for all revenues and expenditures necessary to carry out 
basic governmental activities of the Agency that are not accounted for through other funds. 
 
The Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund is used for the acquisition, construction, engineering and 
improvement of the flood protection and /or storm water drainage elements of the Stream Management Master Plan 
of Zone 7, or to reduce the principal or interest of any bonded indebtedness thereof. 
 

The Agency reports the following nonmajor governmental funds: 
 
The Cal-OES Grant Fund – Federal passed through grant to the California Governor’s Office of Emergency 
Services (Cal-OES) is used to account for revenues and expenditures for damages caused by 2023 storms. 
 
The State Grants Fund – To account for the revenues and expenditures of State Grants. 
 

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 
 
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows. 
 
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the "economic resources" measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting. Accordingly, all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities (whether current or noncurrent), and 
deferred inflows of resources are included on the Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Fund Net Position presents increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total Net Position. Under the 
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are 
recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred. In these funds, receivables have been recorded as revenue and 
provisions have been made for uncollectible amounts. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. 
The principal operating revenues of the Water Enterprise Operations fund is the sale of water to outside customers. 
Operating expenses for the fund include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on 
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
The Agency reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 

The State Water Facilities Fund is used for fixed State water charges and State water project bonded indebtedness. 
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus (Continued) 

 
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 

 
The Water Enterprise Operations Fund accounts for enterprise operation and administration, emergency and 
support services, variable State water charges, water facilities maintenance and operation, renewal and replacement 
program, water facilities, water resources and water supply planning. 
 
The Water Enterprise Capital Expansion Fund is used for Water Enterprise capital expansion projects and water 
purchases. 

 
The Agency reports the following nonmajor proprietary funds: 
 

The Water Facilities Fund is used for Chain of Lakes mitigation and planning reserve, quarry discharge exports, 
miscellaneous fees and deposits, and permit inspection deposits. 
 

C. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows the Agency defines cash and cash equivalents to include all cash and 
temporary investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition, including restricted 
assets, and all pooled deposits. 
 
A portion of the Agency’s cash is pooled with the Alameda County Treasurer, who acts as disbursing agent for the 
Agency. The fair value of the Agency’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements at 
amounts based upon the Agency’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by the Treasury Pool for the entire Treasury 
Pool portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is based on 
accounting records maintained by the Treasury Pool, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. Interest earned on 
investments pooled with the Treasurer is allocated quarterly to the appropriate fund based on its respective average daily 
balance for that quarter. 
 

D. Investment and Fair Value Measurements 
 
The Agency invests in individual investments and in the County Treasury investment pool. Individual  investments are 
evidenced by specific identifiable securities instruments, or by an electronic entry registering the owner in the records of 
the institution issuing the security, called the book entry system. 
 
The Agency’s investments are carried at fair value, as required by generally accepted accounting principles. The Agency 
adjusts the carrying value of its investments to reflect their fair value at each fiscal year end, and it includes the effects of 
these adjustments in income for that fiscal year. 
 
U.S. GAAP defined fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and establishes disclosures about fair 
value measurement. Investments, unless otherwise specified, recorded at fair value in the financial statements, are 
categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. The three levels 
of the fair value measurement hierarchy are described below: 
 

• Level 1 – Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at the 
measurement date.  
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

D. Investment and Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 
 

• Level 2 – Inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable for the assets or liabilities 
through corroboration with market data at the measurement date. 

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in 
pricing the assets or liabilities at the measurement date. 

 
If the fair value of an investment is measured using inputs from more than one level of the fair value hierarchy, the 
measurement is considered to be based on the lowest priority level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

 
E. Receivables 

 
Receivables include amounts billed to water customers, as well as for other miscellaneous revenue sources. Receivables 
include revenue for water distributed but not yet billed. Development fees for the fiscal year  received after year-end are 
included in accounts receivable. Uncollectible amounts from individual customers are not significant. 
 

F.   Lease Accounting 
 

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases, a lease is defined as 
a contract that conveys control of the right to use another entity’s nonfinancial asset (the underlying asset) as specified in 
the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction (i.e., building, land, vehicles, and 
equipment).  Any contact that meets the definition should be accounted for under the lease guidance as identified in 
GASB Statement No. 87.  
 
The Agency’s policy is to evaluate leases annually.  Any material lease, defined as having a net present value greater 
than one percent (1.0%) of the five-year average of annual total assets, shall be reported in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 87 (GASB 87) as appropriate.  As of June 30, 2025, the Agency did not have any leases meeting this 
threshold.  
 

G.   Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA) Accounting 
 

GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangement (SBITA), defines a SBITA 
as a contract that conveys control of the right to use another party’s (a SBITA vendor’s) IT software, alone or in 
combination with tangible capital assets (the underlying IT assets), as specified in the contract for a period of time in an 
exchange or exchange-like transaction. 
 
The Agency’s policy is to evaluate SBITAs annually.  Any material SBITA, defined as having a net present value 
greater than one percent (1.0%) of the five-year average of annual total assets, shall be reported in accordance with 
GASB Statement No. 96 (GASB 96) as appropriate.  As of June 30, 2025, the Agency did not have any SBITAs meeting 
this threshold.  

 
  

51



Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

 

Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

H. Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are those purchased or acquired with a useful life greater than one year and an original cost greater than 
$250,000 for infrastructure, buildings, building improvements, land improvements and software. The Agency capitalizes 
equipment and land with a useful life greater than one year and an original cost greater than $5,000. These assets are 
reported at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date 
of donation. Additions, improvements, and other capital outlays that significantly extend the useful life of an asset are 
capitalized. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend 
the asset’s lives are not capitalized but are expensed as incurred. 
 
Depreciation on all capital assets is computed using a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

 
 
I. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

 
Formal budgets are employed as a management control during the year for the Funds. 
 
Budgets for the Governmental Funds are prepared to include encumbrances at year-end. Budget comparisons 
presented are on GAAP budgetary basis. The Agency has a two-year budget cycle and budgets are prepared for Flood 
Protection Operations Fund and Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund. 
 
The two-year budget is approved by the Agency’s Board of Directors at an appropriation level established by fund, 
further delineated by two categories, the operating budget and the capital budget, which are detailed in the budget 
document. 
 

  

Capital Assets Useful Life
Treatment plants 40 years
Treatment plants improvements 10 - 40 years
Sludge drying ponds 40 years
Pipeline 40 years
Equipment 3-10 years
Reservoir 40 years
Office building 40 years
Wellfields 40 years
Flood control channels 50 years
Rights of way Indefinite
Water entitlement Indefinite
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
J.    Encumbrances – Governmental Fund Financial Statements 

 
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditure of 
monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed as an extension of 
formal budgetary integration in the Flood Protection Operations Fund and Flood Protection Development Impact Fee 
Fund. Encumbrances at June 30, 2025 are as follows: 
 

Fund Encumbrance

Flood Protection Operations Major Fund $969,202
Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Major Fund 121,015  

 
K. Property Taxes 

 
The Agency receives property taxes and an override property tax for fixed State water charges from the Alameda 
County (the “County”). The Agency recognizes property taxes as revenue in the fiscal year of levy, based on the 
assessed value as of September 1 of the preceding fiscal year. They become a lien on the first day of the year they are 
levied. Secured property tax is levied on September 1 and due in two installments, on November 1  and  March 1. 
They become delinquent on December 10 and April 10, respectively. Unsecured property taxes are due on July 1 and 
become delinquent on August 31. The Agency elected to receive the property taxes from the County under the Teeter 
Bill. Under this program the Agency receives 100% of the levied property taxes in periodic payments, with the 
County assuming responsibility for delinquencies. 
 
The override property tax amount is used to pay the cost for use of the State Department of Water Resources (DWR) 
water delivery system, which includes repayment of voter approved, State incurred, long-term debt. The Agency 
projects such costs annually and requests that the County collect that amount. The annual request to the County is 
adjusted for prior year over or under collections of tax revenue, and actual prior year’s State water purchase cost. For 
the year ended June 30, 2025, the Agency recognized $24 million of State water facilities property tax. 
 

L. Compensated Absences 
 
The Agency’s policy allows employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation, sick leave, and overtime 
compensation, subject to a vesting policy. The Agency will recognize accrued vacation to the maximum of vacation 
earned during the preceding two years prior to separation of service. All regular full-time employees are eligible for 
thirteen (13) days of sick leave per fiscal year.  Employees who terminate employment prior to retiring lose all 
accumulated sick leave. Employees who go straight into retirement are allowed to convert up to 50% of any unused 
sick leave balance to total years of service, per limitations of their bargaining unit Memorandum of Understanding, 
typically up to 50% of 125 days or 62.5 days of service. 
 
Estimated unpaid vacation leave, compensatory time, and sick leave more likely than not to be used for time off or 
otherwise paid in cash at June 30, 2025, are accrued and recorded in the government-wide and proprietary fund 
financial statements. The estimated obligation includes an amount for salary-related payments (i.e. payroll taxes) 
associated with the compensated leaves. All retired or terminated employees as of June 30, 2025, have been 
compensated for any accumulated vacation and compensatory time.  
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

L. Compensated Absences (Continued) 
 

Governmental Proprietary
Beginning Balance $55,557 $1,493,781
Net Change 87,511 1,805,486

Ending Balance $143,068 $3,299,267

Current Portion $57,127 $1,317,392

Non-current Portion $85,941 $1,981,875
 

 

M. Long-Term Debt and Related Costs 
 
Long-term debt is reported at face value, net of applicable premium and discounts. Costs related to the issuance  of 
debt are reported as an expense. Deferred charge on refunding from advance refundings of debt are classified as a 
deferred outflow of resources and are amortized as interest expense over the remaining life of the old bonds, or the life 
of the new bonds, whichever is shorter. 

 
N. Pension and OPEB 
 

For purposes of measuring the aggregate net pension/OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the plans 
and additions to/deductions from the plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by the plans. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized 
when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
The following timeframes are used for pension/OPEB reporting: 
 

Valuation Date December 31, 2023 
Measurement Date December 31, 2024 
Measurement Period January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024 

 
Gains and losses related to changes in net pension/OPEB liability and fiduciary net position are recognized in 
pension/OPEB expense systematically over time. The first amortized amounts are recognized in pension expense for the 
year the gain or loss occurs. The remaining amounts are categorized as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions/OPEB and are to be recognized in future pension/OPEB expense. The amortization period 
differs depending on the source of the gain or loss. The difference between projected and actual earnings is amortized 
straight-line over 5 years. All other amounts are amortized straight-line over the average expected remaining service 
lives of all members that are provided with benefits (active, inactive, and retired) as of the beginning of the measurement 
period. 
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
O. Net Position 

 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements, net position is classified as 
follows: 

 
Net Investment in Capital Assets – This component of net position consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and amortization, and reduced by any related debt, and deferred inflows of resources related to such 
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. If there are 
significant unspent related debt proceeds at year end, the portion of the attributable to the unspent proceeds is not 
included in the calculation of net investment in capital assets. Rather, that portion of the debt is offset by unspent 
proceeds. 
 
Restricted – This component of net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources related to those assets as to the use by the terms and conditions of agreements with outside parties, 
governmental regulations, laws, or other restrictions which the Agency cannot unilaterally alter. These principally 
include developer fees received for use on capital projects, debt service requirements, and fees charged for the 
provision of future water resources. 
 
Unrestricted – This component of net position is the amount of the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, 
and deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the 
restricted component of net position. 

 
P. Fund Balances 

 
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balances are classified as follows: 

 
Restricted – Restricted fund balances are the portion of fund balance that have externally enforceable limitations on 
their usage through legislation or limitations imposed by creditors, grantor, laws and regulations of other 
governments or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed – Committed fund balances are self-imposed limitations by the highest level of decision-making 
authority, namely the Board of Directors, prior to the end of the reporting period. Board of Directors adoption of a 
resolution is required to commit resources or to rescind the commitment. Encumbrances and nonspendable amounts 
subject to Board commitments are included along with spendable resources. 
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Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Q. Spending Policy 

 
Government-Wide Financial Statements and the Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 
 
When expenses are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted components of net position are 
available, the Agency’s policy is to apply the restricted component of net position first, then the unrestricted component 
of net position as needed. 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements 
 
When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balances are available, the 
Agency’s policy is to apply restricted fund balances first, then unrestricted fund balances as needed. 
 
When expenditures are incurred for purposes where only unrestricted fund balances are available, the Agency uses the 
unrestricted resources in the following order: (1) Committed, (2) Assigned, (3) Unassigned, except for instances wherein 
an ordinance specifies the fund balance. 
 

R. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

S. Implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Pronouncements 
 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, the Agency implemented the following accounting standards: 
 
GASB Statement No. 101 – In June 2022, GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences. The objective of 
this Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and 
measurement guidance for compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and 
measurement guidance under a unified model and by amending certain previously required disclosures. Implementation 
of this Statement did not have a significant effect on the Agency’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025. 
 
GASB Statement No. 102 – In December 2023, GASB issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures. This 
Statement requires a government to assess whether a concentration or constraint makes the primary government 
reporting unit or other reporting units that report a liability for revenue debt vulnerable to the risk of a substantial impact. 
Additionally, this Statement requires a government to assess whether an event or events associated with a concentration 
or constraint that could cause the substantial impact have occurred, have begun to occur, or are more likely than not to 
begin to occur within 12 months of the date the financial statements are issued. Implementation of this Statement did not 
have a significant effect on the Agency’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. 
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T. New GASB Pronouncements

The Agency is currently evaluating its accounting practices to determine the potential impact on the financial statements
for the following GASB Statements:

GASB Statement No. 103 – In April 2024, GASB issued Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements.
The objective of this Statement is to improve key components of the financial reporting model to enhance its
effectiveness in providing information that is essential for decision making and assessing a government’s accountability.
Application of this statement is effective for  the  Agency’s  fiscal  year  ending June 30, 2026.

GASB Statement No. 104 – In September 2024, GASB issued Statement No. 104, Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets.
This Statement requires certain types of capital assets to be disclosed separately in the capital assets note disclosures
required by Statement 34. Lease assets recognized in accordance with Statement No. 87, Leases, and intangible right-to-
use assets recognized in accordance with Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and
Availability Payment Arrangements, should be disclosed separately by major class of underlying asset in the capital
assets note disclosures. Subscription assets recognized in accordance with Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based
Information Technology Arrangements, also should be separately disclosed. In addition, this Statement requires
intangible assets other than those three types to be disclosed separately by major class.  Application of this statement is
effective for the Agency’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2026.

Note 2 – Cash and Investments 

The Agency’s cash and investments consist of the following at June 30, 2025: 

Pooled Cash and Investment in County Treasury $191,029,071
Cash and investments - Agency Treasury 157,925,630
Restricted cash and investments 21,006,964

Total Cash and Investments $369,961,665

Cash and Investment in Government Funds $119,195,696
Cash and Investments in Proprietary Funds 250,765,969

Total Cash and Investments $369,961,665

Demand Deposits 

The carrying amounts of cash deposits were $28,120,068 at June 30, 2025, which were fully insured and/or collateralized 
with securities held by the pledging financial institutions in the Agency’s name as discussed below. 

The California Government Code requires California banks and savings and loan associations to secure the Agency’s cash 
deposits by pledging securities as collateral. This Code states that collateral pledged in this manner shall have the effect of 
perfecting a security interest in such collateral superior to those of a general creditor. Thus, collateral for cash deposits is 
considered to be held in the Agency’s name. 
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Note 2 – Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 
The fair value of pledged securities must equal at least 110% of the Agency’s cash deposits. California law also allows 
institutions to secure the Agency’s deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the 
Agency’s total cash deposits. The Agency may waive collateral requirements for cash deposits, which are fully insured up to 
$250,000 by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Agency, however, has not waived the collateralization 
requirements. 
 
Investments Authorized by California Government Code and the Agency’s Investment Policy 
 

Minimum Maximum
Maximum Credit % Purchase

Authorized Investment Type Maturity Quality Holdings Restrictions
Repurchase Agreements 360 Days A 20% (A)
California Local Agency Investment Fund
(LAIF)

N/A N/A State Limit N/A

U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 Years N/A 100% N/A
Federal Agencies 5 Years N/A 100% N/A
Municipal Bonds and Notes 5 Years A 40% N/A
Bankers' Acceptances 180 Days A-1 40% 25%
Commercial Paper 270 Days A-1 40% 5%
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 Years A-1 30% 5%
Certificates of Time Deposit 5 Years A 30% FDIC Limit
Medium Term Corporate Notes 5 Years A 30% 5%
Money Market Mutual Funds Daily Liquidity Top 

Ranking
20% 10%

California Asset Management Program  
(CAMP)

Daily Liquidity (C) 10% Per CAMP

Asset-backed Securities 5 Years AA 20% N/A
Supernational Obligations 5 Years AA 30% (B)
(A) Fully collateralized at market value of at least one hundred two percent (102%) with US government or federal agency securities

(C) Rated highest rating by an NRSRO

(B) United States dollar denominated senior unsecured unsubordinated obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by the International Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development, International Finance Corporation, or Inter-American Development Bank

 
The Agency’s pooled cash and investments are invested pursuant to investment policy guidelines established by the County 
Treasurer and approved by the Board of Supervisors. The objectives of the policy are, in order of priority: safety of principal, 
liquidity and yield. 
 
The policy addresses the soundness of financial institutions in which the County will deposit funds, types of investment 
instruments as permitted by the California Government Code 53601, and the percentage of the portfolio that may be invested 
in certain instruments with longer terms to maturity. 
  

58



Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Note 2 – Cash and Investments (Continued) 

The Agency’s external investment pool is not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission but rather the County 
Board of Supervisors created the Treasury Oversite Committee to establish regulations of the pooled investments. 

A copy of the County investment policy is available upon request from the Alameda County Auditor- Controller’s Office at 
1221 Oak Street, Room 249, Oakland, California, 94612. 

The non-pooled cash and investments are invested in accordance with the Agency’s Investment Policy and the California 
Government Code which allows the Agency to invest in the following, provided the credit ratings of the issuers are 
acceptable to the Agency and approved percentages and maturities are not exceeded. The table below also identifies certain 
provisions of the California Government Code, or the Agency’s Investment Policy where the Agency Investment Policy is 
more restrictive. 

The Agency is in compliance with the Board approved Investment Policy and California Government Code requirements. 

Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements 

Investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustees are governed by provisions of the debt agreements, rather than the 
general provisions of the California Government Code or the Agency’s Investment Policy. 

Pension Trust – Investment Policy 

The Agency established a trust account with Public Agency Retirement Services (PARS) to hold assets that are legally 
restricted for use in administering the Agency’s pension plan. The pension trust Fund’s specific cash and investments are 
managed by a third-party portfolio manager under guidelines approved by the Agency. Those guidelines are as follows: 

Risk Tolerance 

Moderately Conservative – The account’s risk tolerance has been rated moderately conservative, which demonstrates that the 
account can accept modest price fluctuations to pursue its investment objectives. 

Security Guidelines 

Investment Manager may allocate assets of the equity portion of the account among various market capitalizations (large, 
mid, small) and investment styles (value, growth). Further, Investment Manager may allocate assets among domestic, 
international developed and emerging market equity securities. In the fixed income portion of the account, Investment 
Manager may allocate assets among various sectors and industries, as well as varying maturities and credit quality that are 
consistent with the overall goals and objectives of the portfolio. 
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Note 2 – Cash and Investments (Continued) 
 
Investment Objective 
 
The primary objective is to generate a reasonable level of growth. The assets in this Plan will eventually be used to fund 
Pension Plan obligations for assets managed in the Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association (ACERA) Trust. 
 

Strategic Ranges: Cash - 0-20%
Fixed Income - 50-80%
Equity - 20-40%

 
Disclosure Relating to Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 
Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest 
rates. As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates, one of the ways that the 
Treasury Pool manages its exposure to interest rate risk is by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term 
investments and by timing cash flows from maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to 
maturing evenly over time as necessary to provide the cash flow and liquidity needed for operations. As of June 30, 2025, 
approximately 28.6 percent of the securities in the Treasury Pool had maturities of one year or less as reported by Alameda 
County Treasurer. 
 
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Agency’s investments (including investments held by bond 
trustees) to market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the Agency’s 
investment maturity or earliest call date: 
 

Investment Type
Less than 1 

year 1 - 3 years 3 -5 years
More than 5 

years Total

Pooled Cash and Investments in County Treasury
Cash in County Pool $191,029,071 $191,029,071

Cash and Investments - Agency Treasury
U.S. Treasury Notes 5,037,155       $38,975,997 $30,032,187 74,045,339
Asset-backed Securities 6,756,038       34,165,713 40,921,751
Corporate Bonds 17,908,450     14,203,325 32,111,775
Certificate of Deposit 1,368,765       1,368,765
Money Market Fund 3,679,226 3,679,226

Total Investments 8,716,381 65,009,250 78,401,225 -                 152,126,856

Cash in bank 5,798,774

Total Cash and Investments - Agency Treasury 157,925,630

Restricted Cash and Investments
Money Market Fund 18,642,066 18,642,066
Investment Held by Pension Trust $2,364,898 2,364,898

Total $18,642,066 -                 -                 $2,364,898 21,006,964

Total Restricted Cash and Investments 21,006,964

Total Cash and Investments $369,961,665
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Disclosure Relating to Credit Risk 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the investment. 
This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The Treasury Pool 
does not have a rating provided by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. Presented below is the actual 
ratings as of June 30, 2025 for each investment type as provided by Moody’s Investor Service: 

Investment Type Aaa Aa1 Aa2 Aa3 A1 A2 Total
Pooled Cash and Investments in County Treasury

Not rated:
Cash in County Pool $191,029,071

Cash and Investments - Agency Treasury
U.S. Treasury Notes $74,045,339 74,045,339
Asset-backed Securities $1,157,938 30,615,427     31,773,365
Corporate Bonds 4,361,912 $7,415,061 $8,397,127 $9,251,364 $2,686,311 32,111,775
Certificate of Deposit 1,368,765       1,368,7650
Not rated:
Asset-backed Securities 9,148,386
Cash in Bank 5,798,774
Money Market Fund 3,679,226

Total Cash and Investments - Agency Treasury 5,519,850 104,660,766 8,783,826 8,397,127 9,251,364 2,686,311 157,925,630

Restricted Cash and Investments

Not rated:
Money Market Fund 18,642,066
Investment Held by Pension Trust 2,364,898

Total Restricted Cash and Investments - - - - - - 21,006,964

Total Cash and Investments $369,961,665

With respect to investments, custodial credit risk generally applies only to direct investments in marketable securities. 
Custodial credit risk does not apply to a local government’s indirect investment in securities through the use of mutual funds 
or government investment pools (such as the Treasury Pool). 

Disclosure Relating to Concentration of Credit Risk 

The investment policy of the County Pool contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer 
beyond that stipulated by the California Government Code. For a listing of investments in any one issuer (other than U.S. 
Treasury securities, mutual funds, or external investment pools) that represent 5% or more of total County investments, refer 
to the 2025 Alameda County Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

The Agency categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted 
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure fair value of the assets. Level 1 inputs 
are quoted prices in an active market for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 
inputs are significant unobservable inputs. 

61



Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Note 2 – Cash and Investments (Continued) 

As of June 30, 2025, the Agency had $191,029,071 of cash and investments pooled with the Alameda County Treasurer that 
is exempt from the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the pooled investment fund is provided by the Alameda County 
Treasurer and is valued using quoted prices for identical instruments in markets that are not active. Fair value is defined as 
the quoted market value on the last trading day of the period. These prices are obtained from various pricing sources. 

The following is a summary of the fair value hierarchy of the fair value of investments of the Agency as of  June 30, 2025: 

Level 1 Level 2 Uncategorized Total
Investments - Agency Treasury
Investments by Fair Value Level

U.S. Treasury Notes $74,045,339 $74,045,339
Asset-backed Securities $40,921,751 40,921,751     
Corporate Bonds 32,111,775 32,111,775     
Certificate of Deposit 1,368,765 1,368,765       

Investments Measured at Amortized Cost
Money Market Fund $3,679,226 3,679,226

Total Investments - Agency Treasury 74,045,339 74,402,291 3,679,226 152,126,856

Restricted Investments
Investments by Fair Value Level

Investment Held by Pension Trust 2,364,898 2,364,898
Investments Measured at Amortized Cost

Money Market Fund 18,642,066 18,642,066
Total Restricted Investments - $2,364,898 $18,642,066 21,006,964

Total Investments 173,133,820$ 

Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using quoted prices in active markets. Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are 
valued using matrix pricing techniques maintained by various pricing vendors. Matrix pricing is used to value securities 
based on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices. Fair value is defined as the quoted market value on the last 
trading day of the period. These prices are obtained from various pricing sources by the Agency’s custodian bank. 
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Note 3 – Interfund Activity 
 
A. Due to/from Other Funds 

 
The following is a summary of due to and from other funds as of June 30, 2025: 

 
Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
Flood Protection Operations Fund State Grants Fund $86,178
Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund State Grants Fund 53,507

$139,685
 

The interfund The interfund balances have been recorded for grant revenue earned and/ or received. 
 
B. Transfers 

 
During the year ended June 30, 2025, the Agency had the following transfers: 
 

Amount
Fund Receiving Transfers Fund Making Transfer Transferred

Enterprise Fund
Water Enterprise Operations Flood Protection Operations $18,270 (A)
Water Enterprise Operations Water Enterprise Capital Expansion 323,692        (B)

Governmental Funds:
Flood Protection Operations Fund State Grants Fund 318,174        (C)
Flood Protection Development Impact Fee Fund State Grants Fund 221,105        (C)

$881,241
(A) Transfer to fund vehicle replacement.
(B) Transfer of completed construction projects and other fixed assets.
(C) Transfer of State Grant Revenue to paying fund.
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Note 4 – Capital Assets 
 
A. Governmental Activities 

 
Summary of changes in governmental activities capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2025 is as follows: 
 

Balance at Balance at
Governmental Activities June 30, 2024 Additions June 30, 2025
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Rights of way $21,203,051 $21,203,051
Easements 36,960 36,960
Construction in Progress $881,603 881,603

Total capital assets not being depreciated 21,240,011 881,603 22,121,614

Capital assets being depreciated:
Flood control channels 12,393,619 12,393,619
Other infrastructure 3,023,038 3,023,038
Office building 1,851,075 1,851,075
Equipment 194,439 194,439

Total capital assets being depreciated 17,462,171 17,462,171

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Flood control channels (5,159,166) (231,734) (5,390,900)
Other infrastructure (359,161) (92,052) (451,213)
Office building (294,150) (62,582) (356,732)
Equipment (82,416) (36,699) (119,115)

Total accumulated depreciation (5,894,893) (423,067) (6,317,960)

Net capital assets being depreciated 11,567,278 (423,067) 11,144,211

Governmental activity capital assets, net $32,807,289 $458,536 $33,265,825
 

 
Depreciation expense in the amount of $423,067 was charged to Flood Protection of the primary government. 

 
Construction in Progress at June 30, 2025 comprises of work done on the Alamo Creek Bank Stabilization Pilot Project. 
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Note 4 – Capital Assets (Continued) 

B. Business-Type Activities

Summary of changes in business-type activities capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2025 is as follows:

Balance at Balance at
Business-Type Activities June 30, 2024 Additions Retirements June 30, 2025
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Rights of way $9,553,081 $9,553,081
Water entitlements 36,655,364 36,655,364         
Easements 1,862,074 1,862,074           
Construction in progress 18,496,453 $3,058,610 ($13,868,516) 7,686,547

Total capital assets not being depreciated 66,566,972 3,058,610 (13,868,516) 55,757,066

Capital assets being depreciated:
Equipment 5,571,139 690,596 (249,909) 6,011,826
Treatment plants 264,613,993 7,522,481 (12,942,942) 259,193,532
Office building 8,575,380 8,575,380
Reservoir 3,005,321 3,005,321
Pipelines 53,929,752 53,929,752
Wellfields 42,196,275 23,017,519 65,213,794
Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition project 10,245,904 10,245,904
Other infrastructure 4,425,604 4,425,604

Total capital assets being depreciated 392,563,368 31,230,596 (13,192,851) 410,601,113

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Equipment (4,784,945) (439,279) 249,909 (4,974,315)
Treatment plants (62,615,800) (6,304,731) 5,432,557 (63,487,974)
Office building (2,333,241) (275,722) (2,608,963)
Reservoir (1,592,303) (68,697) (1,661,000)
Pipelines (25,149,125) (1,240,635) (26,389,760)
Wellfields (12,531,664) (1,205,377) (13,737,041)
Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition project (9,468,061) (278,699) (9,746,760)
Other infrastructure (738,774) (130,940) (869,714)

Total accumulated depreciation (119,213,913) (9,944,080) 5,682,466 (123,475,527)

Net capital assets being depreciated 273,349,455 41,174,676 (18,875,317) 287,125,586

Subscription assets, not being amortized
Development in progress - software 10,000 (10,000)

Subscription assets, being amortized 271,189 (271,189)
Less accumulated amortization (60,780) 60,780

Total subscription assets, being amortized 210,409 (210,409)

Business-Type activity capital assets, net $340,136,836 $44,233,286 ($32,964,242) $342,882,652
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Note 4 – Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
B. Business-Type Activities (Continued) 

 
Depreciation and amortization expense in the amount of $9,944,080 and $0, respectively, were charged to Water 
Enterprise Operations of the primary government. 

 
Construction in Progress at June 30, 2025 comprises the following projects: 
 

Enterprise Projects

Chain of Lakes (COL) Pipeline $1,152,183
Wells & MGDP Electrical Replacement/ Upgrades Project 5,628,365
North Canyons EV Chargers 131,263
Hopyard Pipeline Corrosion Protection Improvement Project 130,524
Mocho Wells PFAS Treatment Facility Project 252,729
DVWTP Underdrain Pump Station Replacement Project 277,441
DVWTP Booster Pump Station VFDs Replacement Proj 114,042
     Total $7,686,547

 
 
Note 5 – Long-Term Debt 
 
Summary of changes in business-type activities long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2025 is as follows: 
 

Original Amount Amount
Issue Balance Balance due within more than

Amount June 30, 2024 Retirements June 30, 2025 one year one year
Bonds payable
2018 Water Revenue Bonds, 3% - 5%, due 7/1/2048 $64,010,000 $56,775,000 ($1,680,000) $55,095,000 $1,770,000 $53,325,000

Plus: Unamortized Bond Premium 7,506,832 3,603,146 (476,551) 3,126,595 3,126,595
2023 Water Revenue Bonds, 5%, due 7/1/2053 28,795,000 28,795,000 (420,000) 28,375,000 445,000 27,930,000

Plus: Unamortized Bond Premium 1,204,212 1,092,991 (107,794) 985,197 985,197

Total bonds payable 90,266,137 (2,684,345) 87,581,792 2,215,000 85,366,792

Subscription liabilities 176,593 (176,593)
Total long-term debt $90,442,730 ($2,860,938) $87,581,792 $2,215,000 $85,366,792

 
Water Revenue Bonds 
 
On March 11, 2018, the Agency, via the Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority (LVWFA), issued the 2018  Water 
Revenue Bonds in the amount of $64,010,000. Proceeds of the issuance were used to pay the cost of the 2018 Water Project, 
consisting of a water treatment plant and related facilities, prepay $15,290,000 of the Agency’s obligations in connection 
with the Cawelo Water District Certificates of Participation, Series 2006, and to pay costs of issuance. Interest rates range 
from 3% to 5%. Principal and interest payments are due annually beginning July 1, 2019 through July 1, 2048. The principal 
balance outstanding at June 30, 2025 was $55,095,000. 
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Note 5 – Long-Term Debt (Continued) 
 
In October 2023, the Agency, via the LVWFA, issued the 2023 Water Revenue Bonds in the amount of $28,795,000. 
Proceeds of the issuance being used to pay the cost of the 2023 Water Project, which generally consists of water treatment 
facilities, related site improvements, certain other capital improvements for the Agency’s water system and to pay cost of 
issuance. The interest rate is 5%. Principal and interest payments are due annually beginning January 1, 2024 through July 1, 
2053. The principal balance outstanding at June 30, 2025 was $28,375,000. 
 
The Agency’s bond covenants contain events of default that require the net revenue of the Agency to be applied by the 
Trustee as specified in the terms of the agreement if any of the following conditions occur: default on debt service payments; 
the failure of the Agency to observe or perform the conditions, covenants, or agreement terms of the debt; bankruptcy filing 
by the Agency; or if any court or competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the Agency. The Agency’s bonds 
also contain a subjective acceleration clause that allows the trustees or holders, who hold the majority of the aggregate 
principal amount of the bonds, to accelerate payment of the entire principal amount outstanding and interest accrued to 
become immediately due if they determine that a material adverse change occurs. 
 
At June 30, 2025, the debt service payments to maturity, including interest payments, were as follows: 
 

For The Year
 Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2026 $2,215,000 $3,859,163 $6,074,163
2027 2,325,000 3,745,663 6,070,663
2028 2,450,000 3,626,288 6,076,288
2029 2,575,000 3,500,663 6,075,663
2030 2,710,000 3,368,538 6,078,538

2031-2035 15,770,000 14,629,265 30,399,265
2036-2040 13,625,000 11,265,682 24,890,682
2041-2045 16,890,000 7,994,900 24,884,900
2046-2050 18,195,000 3,572,700 21,767,700
2051-2054 6,715,000 692,375 7,407,375

Total payments due 83,470,000 $56,255,237 $139,725,237
Unamortized premium 4,111,792

$87,581,792
 

Arbitrage 
 
Under U.S. Treasury Department regulations, all governmental tax-exempt debt issued after August 31, 1986, is subject to 
arbitrage rebate requirements. The requirements stipulate, in general, that the earnings from the investment of tax-exempt 
bond proceeds that exceed related interest expenditures on the bonds must be remitted to the federal government on every 
fifth anniversary of each bond issue. The Agency has evaluated the 2018 Water Revenue Bonds issue subject to the arbitrage 
rebate requirements and does not have a rebatable arbitrage liability as of June 30, 2025. The initial arbitrage evaluation of 
the 2023 Water Revenue Bonds is $100,376, which is required to be rebated to the United States no later than 60 days after 
November 6, 2028 (the end of the fifth Bond Year). 
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Note 6 – Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association Pension Plan 

Plan Descriptions – Substantially all Agency permanent employees are required to participate in the Alameda County 
Employees’ Retirement Association (ACERA), a cost-sharing multiple employer public defined benefit retirement plan 
(Plan). The latest available actuarial and financial information for the Plan is for the year ended December 31, 2024. ACERA 
issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and supplemental information of the Plan. That 
report is available online at ACERA.org or by writing to Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association, 475 14th 
Street #1000, Oakland, California 94612. 

Benefits Provided – The Plan provides for retirement, disability, and death and survivor benefits. Annual cost of living 
(COL) adjustments to retirement allowances can be granted by the Retirement Board as provided by State statutes. 
Retirement benefits are based on age, length of service, date of membership and final average salary. 

Subject to vested status, employees can withdraw contributions plus interests credited, or leave them as a deferred retirement 
when they terminate, or transfer to a reciprocal retirement system. 

The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2025, are summarized as follows: 

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 4

Hire date Prior to July 1, 1983
July 1, 1983 to 

December 31, 2012
On or after 

January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 2.6% at 62 2.43% at 65 2.5% at 67
Benefit vesting schedule Age 52 with 5 years of 

service or age 70 
regardless of service

Benefit payments Monthly for life Monthly for life Monthly for life
Retirement age 50 50 52
Monthly benefits, 
       as a % of eligible compensation 100% 100% 100%
Required employee contribution rates 7.39% - 16.17% 5.49% - 12.14% 9.06%
Required employer contribution rates 16.40% to 24.6% 15.31% to 22.96% 22.44%

Age 50 with 5 years of service and a total of 10 years of 
qualifying membership, or age 70 regardless of service, 

or after 30 years, regardless of age
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Note 6 – Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association Pension Plan (Continued) 

Contributions – The pension plan under the 1937 Act has no legal contractual maximum contribution rates. The employers 
and members contribute to ACERA based on rates recommended by an independent actuary and adopted by the Board of 
Retirement. Covered employees are required by statute to contribute toward their pensions. Member contribution rates are 
formulated on the basis of their age at the date of entry and the actuarially calculated benefits and are between 5.79 and 18.78 
percent of their annual covered salary effective September 2023. Member contributions are refundable upon termination 
from the retirement system. 

State and Federal laws as well as the California Constitution provide the authority for the establishment of ACERA benefit 
provisions. In most cases where the 1937 Act provides options concerning the allowance of credit for service, the offering of 
benefits, or the modification of benefit levels, the law generally requires approval of the employer’s governing board for the 
option to take effect. Separately, in 1984 the Alameda Board of Supervisors and the Board of Retirement approved the 
adoption of Article 5.5 of the 1937 Act. This adoption permitted the establishment of a Supplemental Retirees Benefit 
Reservice (SRBR) for ACERA. 

Article 5.5 provides for the systematic funding of the SRBR and stipulates that its assets be used only for the benefit of 
retired members and their beneficiaries. The 1937 Act grants exclusive authority over the use of the SRBR funds to the 
Board of Retirement. Supplemental benefits currently provided through the SRBR include supplemental COLA, retiree death 
benefit and retiree health benefits including the Monthly Medical Allowance (MMA), dental and vision care, and Medicare 
Part B reimbursement. The provision of all supplemental benefits from the SRBR is subject to available funding and annual 
review and authorization by the Board of Retirement. SRBR benefits are not vested. 

In 2006 the Board of Retirement approved the allocation of SRBR funds to Postemployment Medical Benefits and Other 
Pension Benefits. These two programs provide the supplemental benefits described above. For the year ended June 30, 2025, 
the contributions recognized as part of pension expense for the Plan were $2,042,616. Typically, Flood Protection Operations 
and Water Enterprise Operations funds have been used to liquidate pension liabilities. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions – As of June 30, 
2025, the Agency reported net pension liabilities of $13,659,983 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability of the 
Plan. 

The Agency’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net 
pension liability of the Plan is measured as of December 31, 2024, and the total pension liability for the Plan used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2023 rolled forward to 
December 31, 2024 using standard update procedures. The Agency’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a 
projection of the Agency’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all 
participating employers, actuarially determined. The Agency’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan is 
as follows: 

Reporting Date for 
Employer under GASB 68 

as of June 30

Proportion of the 
Net Pension 

Liability
Proportionate share of 
Net Pension Liability Covered payroll 

Net Pension Liability as 
a percentage of its 

covered payroll
2023 1.16% $18,337,949 $13,522,119 135.61%
2024 1.26% 15,118,022 14,436,509 104.72%
2025 1.37% 13,659,983 16,243,000 84.10%
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Note 6 – Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association Pension Plan (Continued) 

For the year ended June 30, 2025, the Agency recognized pension credit of $1,289,212 Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
are recorded in the fund that recorded the liability. At June 30, 2025, the Agency reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Contributions subsequent to measurement date $2,155,626
Changes of assumptions 121,508 $532,783
Difference between actual and expected experience 734,229 209,601
Change in proportion and differences between employer
     contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,034,826 1,918,596
Difference between projected and actual earnings 
     on pension plan investments 43,437

Total $4,089,626 $2,660,980

The $2,155,626 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the measurement date will 
be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the subsequent fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended Annual
June 30 Amortization

2026 ($317,183)
2027 660,777
2028 (837,828)
2029 (232,746)

($726,980)

Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liabilities in the December 31, 2023 actuarial valuations were determined using 
the following actuarial assumptions: 

Miscellaneous
Valuation Date December 31, 2023
Measurement Date December 31, 2024
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method
Amortization Method Level percent of payroll
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.00%
Inflation Rate 2.50%
Payroll Growth 3.00%
Projected Salary Increase 3.45%-8.00% (1)
Cost of Living Adjustments Tier 1: 2.75%

Tiers 2 and 4: 2.00%
Investment Rate of Return 7.00% (2)

Mortality
Pub-2010 General Healthy Retiree Amount-

Weighted Above-Median Mortality Tables

(1) Vary by service, including inflation
(2) Net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation

70



Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Note 6 – Alameda County Employees’ Retirement Association Pension Plan (Continued) 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the net pension liability was 7.00% for the Plan. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate 
and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates. For this purpose, 
only employee and employer contributions that are intended to fund benefits for current plan members and their beneficiaries 
are included. Projected employer contributions that are intended to fund the service costs for future plan members and their 
beneficiaries, as well as projected contributions from future plan members, are not included. Based on those assumptions, the 
pension plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments for current 
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of 
projected benefit payments to determine the net pension liability as December 31, 2024. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined in 2024 using a building-block method in 
which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation) are developed for each major asset class. The 
target allocation and projected arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class, after deducting inflation, but before 
investment expenses, used in the derivation of the long-term expected investment rate of return assumption are summarized 
in the following table: 

Asset Class
Target 

Allocation

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return

Domestic Large Cap Equity 21.60% 6.00%
Domestic Small Cap Equity 2.40% 6.65%
International Developed Equity 16.30% 7.01%
International Small Cap Equity 2.90% 7.34%
Emerging Markets Equity 4.80% 8.80%
Core Fixed Income 10.50% 1.97%
High Yield Bonds 1.50% 4.63%
Global Fixed Income 2.00% 1.17%
Private Equity 11.00% 9.84%
Core Real Estate 6.30% 3.86%
Value Added Real Estate 1.80% 6.70%
Opportunistic Real Estate 0.90% 8.60%
Commodities 0.90% 4.21%
Private Credit 4.00% 6.47%
Absolute Return 8.00% 2.10%
Infrastructure 5.10% 7.30%

Total 100.00%

A change in the discount rate would affect the measurement of the Total Pension Liability (TPL). A lower discount rate 
results in a higher TPL and higher discount rates results in a lower TPL. Because the discount rate does not affect the 
measurement of assets, the percentage change in the Net Pension Liability (NPL) can be very significant for a relatively 
small change in the discount rate. The following presents the Agency’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the 
Plans, calculated using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the Agency’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher than 
the current rate: 

Discount Rate
- 1% (6.00%)

Current Discount
Rate (7.00%)

Discount Rate
+1% (8.00%)

$29,685,599 $13,659,983 $521,109

Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
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Note 7 – Postemployment Benefits Other Than Retirement 

A. General Information about the Agency’s Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plan

Plan Description – The Agency, through the County of Alameda (County), is a participant under the Alameda County
Employees’ Retirement Association’s (ACERA) defined contribution plan for other postemployment benefits as
established by the California Legislature under Article 5.5 of the County Employees Retirement Law of 1937. ACERA
is a cost-sharing, multiple employer, defined benefit, public employee retirement system whose main function is to
provide service retirement, disability, death, and survivor benefits to the General and Safety members employed by the
County of Alameda. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75.

Funding Policy – The postemployment medical, dental and vision benefits are currently provided through the
Supplemental Retirees Benefit Reserve (SRBR) as described in the Alameda County Employees’ Retirement
Association Pension Plan note. The SRBR is a funded trust that receives fifty percent of the investment earnings that are
in excess of the assumed investment rate of return of the ACERA Defined Benefit Pension Plan. The Agency, through
the County, does not make postemployment medical benefit payments directly to retirees and does not have the ability to
fund these benefits. However, the Agency’s pension contribution to ACERA would  be lower if not for the excess
interest transfer to the SRBR.

Benefits Provided – The following is a summary of Plan benefits as of June 30, 2025:

Membership Eligibility

Benefit Eligibility 1

Completed Years of Service
10-14
15-19
20+

Percentage Subsidized
50%
75%
100%

2

3

Service Retirees: Retired with at least 10 years of services (including deferred vested members who terminate employment 
and receive a retirement benefit from ACERA).

Disabled Retirees: A minimum of 10 years of service required for non-duty disability. There is no minimum service 
requirement for duty disability.

Monthly Medical Allowance
Service Retirees: For retirees not purchasing individual insurance through the Medicare Insurance Exchange, a 
Maximum Monthly Medical Allowance of $635.37 per month is provided, effective January 1, 2024 and through 
December 31, 2024. For the period January 1, 2025
through December 31, 2025, the maximum allowance is $662.37 per month.For those purchasing individual insurance 
through the Individual Medicare Insurance Exchange, the Maximum Monthly Medical Allowance is $486.74 per month 
for 2024 and is $507.43 per month in 2025. These Allowances are subject to the following subsidy schedule: 

Disabled Retirees:  Non-duty retirees receive the same Monthly Medical Allowance as services retirees. Duty disabled 
retirees receive the same Monthly Medical Allowance as those services retirees with 20 or more years of service.

Medical Benefit Reimbursement Plan:
  The SRBR reimburses the full Medicare Part B premium to qualified retired members.
  To qualify for reimbursement, a retiree must

- Have at least 10 years of ACERA service,
- Be eligible for Monthly Medical Allowance,
- Provide proof of enrollment in Medical Part B

Dental and Vision Plans: The SRBR provides dental and vision benefits for retirees only. The maximum combined 
monthly dental and vision premium is $55.68 in 2024 and $55.68 in 2025. The eligibility for these premiums is as 
follows:

  Service Retirees:  Retired with at least 10 years of service.

  Disabled Retirees:  For non-duty disabled retirees, 10 years of service is required.  For grandfathered
  non-duty disabled retirees (with effective retirement dates on or before January 31, 2014), there is no
  minimum service requirement.  For duty disabled retirees, there is no minimum service requirement.
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Note 7 – Postemployment Benefits Other Than Retirement (Continued) 

A. General Information about the Agency’s Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plan (Continued)

Benefits Provided – The following is a summary of Plan benefits as of June 30, 2025 (Continued):

Deferred Benefit

Death Benefit Surviving spouses/domestic partners of members who die before the member commences retiree health benefits may enroll 
in an ACERA group medical plan on the date that the member would have been eligible to commence benefits. The 
surviving spouse/domestic partner must pay 100% of the premium. Because premiums for surviving spouses/domestic 
partners under age 65 include active participants for purposes of underwriting, the surviving spouses/domestic partners 
receive an implicit subsidy from the actives, which creates a liability for the SRBR.

Members who terminate employment with 10 or more years of service before reaching pension eligibility commencement 
age may elect deferred Monthly Medical Allowance and/or dental/vision benefits.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms – Membership in the plan consisted of the following at the measurement date of 
June 30, 2025: 

Active employees 105
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently

receiving benefit payments Not available
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet 

receiving benefit payments Not available
Total 105 

B. Net OPEB Liability (Assets)

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – The Agency’s net OPEB liability (assets) was measured as of December 31,
2024 and the net OPEB liability (assets) was determined by an actuarial valuation dated December 31, 2023 that was
rolled forward using standard update procedures to determine the Agency’s net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2025,
based on the following actuarial methods and assumptions:

Actuarial Assumptions
Valuation Date December 31, 2023
Measurement Date December 31, 2024
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.00%
Inflation 2.50%
Payroll Growth 3.00%
Investment Rate of Return 7.00%
Mortality Rate Pub-2010 General Healthy Retiree Amount-Weighted Above-

Median Mortality Tables
Healthcare Trend Rates Non-Medicare medical plan - 

7.75% graded to ultimate 4.50% over 13 years
Medicare medical plan - 

7.50% graded to ultimate 4.50% over 12 years

Dental -
6.00% in 2025, then 5.00% graded to ultimate 4.00% over 3 years

Vision - 3.00%
Medicare Part B - 

6.20% until 2033, then 5.75% graded to ultimate 4.50% over 6 
years
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Note 7 – Postemployment Benefits Other Than Retirement (Continued) 
 
C. Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate and Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 

 
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Agency, as well as what the Agency’s net OPEB liability would be 
if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.00%) or 1-percentage- point higher (8.00%) 
than the current discount rate: 
 

Total OPEB Liability/(Asset)
Discount Rate -1% Current Discount Rate Discount Rate +1%

(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)
$3,883,236 $2,155,197 $729,614

Total OPEB Liability/(Asset)
1% Decrease Healthcare Cost 1% Increase

Trend Rates
(5.7%  to 3.50%) (6.75%  to 4.0%) (7.0%  to 5.50%)

$602,807 $2,155,197 $4,073,984  
 

D. OPEB Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2025, the Agency recognized OPEB expense of $208,193. Changes in the Net OPEB 
Liability are recorded in the fund that recorded the liability. At June 30, 2025, the Agency reported deferred outflows 
and inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

Differences between actual and expected experience $650,031

$1,222,750

195,979 64,885
Changes of assumptions 235,906 308,757

Total $1,654,635 $1,023,673

Net Difference Between Projected and Actual 
   Investment Earnings on OPEB plan Investments
Changes in Proportion and Differences Between 
   Employer Contributions and Proportionate Share of 

 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be 
recognized as part of OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year Annual
Ended June 30 Amortization

2026 $148,777
2027 937,283
2028 (296,113)
2029 (127,761)
2030 (27,240)
2031 (3,984)

$630,962
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Note 8 – Insurance 

The Agency participates in the Association of California Water Agencies Joint Powers Insurance Authority Property and 
Liability Insurance Programs for risk of loss. These programs provide general liability, including auto, property, crime, 
pollution, and cyber liability insurance coverage. The Agency is self-insured for worker's compensation claims under the 
County of Alameda self-insurance/excess insurance program. The County is a member of Public Risk, Innovations, 
Solutions, and Management (PRISM), formerly known as California State Association-Excess Insurance Authority (CSAC-
EIA), a Joint Powers Authority whose purpose is to develop and fund programs of excess and primary insurance for its 
member counties and other California public entities.. As of June 30, 2025, the Agency participated in the liability and 
property programs of the ACWA/JPIA as follows: 

Type of Coverage Coverage Limit Deductible

General Liability, including Auto Liability $55,000,000 $5,000,000
Worker's Compensation Statutory Limit 3,000,000    
Property 150,000,000 25,000         
Cyber Liability 5,000,000 50,000         
Crime 100,000 per loss 1,000           
Excess Crime 3,000,000 per loss 100,000       
Environmental Pollution 10,000,000 250,000       

Note 9 – Commitment And Contingent Liabilities 

A. Litigation

The Agency is subject to various lawsuits or claims in the normal course of business including challenges over certain
rates and changes and from time to time is involved in lawsuits in which damages are sought. The ultimate outcome of
these matters is not presently determinable. In the opinion of the Agency, these actions when finally adjudicated will not
have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Agency.

B. Water Supply Commitments

As part of its water supply management activities, the Agency has entered into agreements to help secure water supply
from a multitude of strategies. Under these agreements, the Agency has agreed to pay for the delivery and storage of
committed levels of water supplies. The Agency is also participating in a number of future water storage, supply and
reliability projects with a goal of diversifying supply and storage. Projects in various stages  of planning, permitting and
feasibility studies include the Delta Conveyance Project, Sites Reservoir, potable reuse and a local storage project.

California Department of Water Resources: The Agency has a cost-sharing water supply contract with the
Department of Water Resources (DWR) which provides for the annual allocation of 80,619- acre feet (AF) of water
through 2035. DWR as project manager and administrator, developed, constructed, operates and maintains the State
Water Project (SWP) to provide water to the Agency and the other water wholesalers. The Agency costs under the
contract consists of a variable operating cost component and a semi-fixed capital cost component, including debt service
on bonds issued by DWR to construct the project and it determines the cost annually. In fiscal years 2025 and 2024, the
costs under the contract were $32.0 million and $32.8 million, respectively.

Effective November 7th, 2003, Amendment No. 24 to the Water Supply Contract between the DWR and the Agency
was executed to set forth their agreement regarding the Agency's responsibility for the repayment of costs for the
development and construction of the South Bay Aqueduct Enlargement. The Agency's estimated obligation, including
interest, was $314.7 million. In fiscal years 2025 and 2024, the costs under Amendment No.24 were $17 million each
year with a remaining obligation of $108.8 million as of June 30, 2025 to be paid by 2035.
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Note 9 – Commitment And Contingent Liabilities 
 
B. Water Supply Commitments (Continued) 

 
Semitropic Water Storage District: In January 1998, the Agency, along with other water wholesalers entered into a 
Water Banking and Exchange Program Agreement with Semitropic Water Storage District and its Improvement District 
that entitles the Agency to storage of up to 65,000 AF, withdrawal, and exchange rights for the Agency's SWP supplies. 
In January 2005, an amendment was executed, enabling the Agency to participate in the Stored Water Recovery Unit 
Program. In fiscal year 2024 the Agency’s share of the operating, and maintenance costs and certain fees under the 
agreement were $1.2 million and in fiscal year 2025 were $0.6 million. 
 
Delta Conveyance Design and Construction Joint Powers Authority: Since May 14, 2018, the Agency and other 
participating water agencies have been involved with the Delta Conveyance Design and Construction Joint Powers 
Authority ("DCA"). The DCA, which is a Joint Powers Authority, entered into an agreement with California 
Department of Water Resources (DWR) establishing that the DCA will undertake those activities required to 
complete the design and construction of the Delta Conveyance Project (DCP). The DCP encompasses construction of 
substantial water conveyance infrastructure to protect and maintain ecosystem health, maintain water quality, and 
restore and protect SWP water supplies from climate change, sea level rise, and seismic risk. 

 
In December of 2023, DWR certified the Final Environmental Impact Report for the project, identifying the Bethany 
Alignment as the proposed project for a proposed single tunnel with 6,000 cfs of capacity.  In April 2022, the Agency 
executed a funding agreement with DWR for Zone 7’s share of environmental planning costs in an amount not to 
exceed $4.75 million through calendar year 2024.   In June 2025, the Agency executed an amendment to the funding 
agreement in an amount not to exceed $6.6 million to cover pre-construction work in calendar years 2026 and 2027.  
To date, no debt has been issued by DWR, and it is unknown when debt will be issued. 

 
The DCA plans to continue fine-tuning project designs to optimize efficiencies, reduce cost, reduce delay, and 
minimize uncertainty and risk. DWR continues the permitting process for the project and anticipates major permitting 
activities to be concluded by the end of 2026. An updated cost estimate and financing plan will be prepared in 
advance of the contractor’s decisions to invest further in the project in 2027.  
 
Delta Conveyance Finance Authority: On July 3, 2018, the Agency along with two other agencies formed the Delta 
Conveyance Finance Authority ("DCFA"). Subsequently, additional agencies have joined the DCFA. The DCFA was 
formed with the intent of issuing debt to fund the DCP. Each member agency shares equally in DCFA administrative 
costs, but obligations from any future debt issuance will be split according to water allocations. 
 
The Agency has a 1.9% share of State Water Project Table A allocations and the Agency is participating in the Delta 
Conveyance Project at a 2.2% participation level of the total project among other participating water agencies. The 
Agency's actual cost share for the DCP may vary depending on final DCP participation. To-date no debt has been issued 
by the DCF A and it is unknown when debt will be issued. 
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Note 9 – Commitment And Contingent Liabilities 

B. Water Supply Commitments (Continued)

Sites Reservoir Project: In 2016, the Agency identified the proposed Sites Reservoir Project as a possible source of
additional water supply and storage. As envisioned, the Sites Reservoir is a new off-stream reservoir located 75 miles
northwest of Sacramento, in the Antelope Valley of the Coast Range, on rangeland approximately 10 miles west of
Maxwell in Colusa County. The Sites Reservoir is envisioned to provide approximately 1.5 million acre-feet of new
surface storage capacity, and 270 thousand acre-feet per year of long-term average water supply yield. The water stored
in the project would be diverted from the Sacramento River and could provide additional water supply that could be used
for dry-year benefits. The Agency is a member of the Sites Reservoir Committee, a group of 30 agencies that are
participating in certain planning activities in connection with the proposed development of the project, including the
development of environmental planning documents, a federal feasibility report and project permitting. The project
construction costs are currently estimated as a range from $6.2 billion to $6.8 billion in 2025 dollars. Approximately
$2.18 billion is expected to be funded with State and Federal programs. Participant funding will be comprised of a Water
Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) loan, United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) loan,
revenue bonds, and for some participants, cash.

In January 2022, the Agency's Board approved the Third Amendment to the 2019 Sites Reservoir Project Agreement in
an amount not-to-exceed $4.0 million through the end of 2024 and authorized continued participation in planning
activities with no new cash calls.  In October 2024, the Sites Authority Board approved an extension of time to the Third
Amendment work plan schedule through June 30, 2026, with no new cash calls. Since the Third Amendment was
executed, the Project has made significant milestones. The final Environmental Impact Statement/Environmental Impact
Report was approved and certified in November 2023. In 2024, the Sites project completed preliminary designs for the
project facilities. The project is currently working on its water rights permit and expects it by the end of 2025. The
Agency's agreement to participate in funding of this phase of project development activities does not commit the Agency
to participate in any actual reservoir project that may be undertaken in the future. Investor commitment is planned for
mid-2026.
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COST-SHARING MULTIPLE EMPLOYER DEFINED PENSION PLAN: 
 

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY 
 

This schedule reports the proportion (percentage) of the collective net pension liability, the proportionate share 
(amount) of the collective net pension liability, the employer’s covered employee payroll, the proportionate share 
(amount) of the collective net pension liability as a percentage of the employer’s covered employee payroll and 
the pension plan’s fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability.  
 

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

This schedule reports the cost sharing employer’s contributions to the plan which are actuarially determined, the 
employer’s actual contributions, the difference between the actual and actuarially determined contributions, and a 
ratio of the actual contributions divided by covered employee payroll. 
 

81



This Page Left Intentionally Blank 



Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
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Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of the Agency’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Pension Plan 

Measurement Period 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Plan's proportion of the net pension liability 1.18% 1.46% 1.26% 1.24% 1.11%
Plan's proportionate share of the net pension
    liability $24,951,866 $25,488,068 $19,859,054 $26,320,948 $18,610,738
Plan's covered payroll $13,014,942 $12,536,863 $12,229,930 $11,719,529 $12,130,078
Plan's proportionate share of the net pension
    liability as a percentage of its covered payroll 191.72% 203.30% 162.38% 224.59% 153.43%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
    of the total pension liability 1.18% 1.46% 1.26% 1.24% 1.11%

Measurement Period 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Plan's proportion of the net pension liability 1.00% 2.45% 1.16% 1.26% 1.37%
Plan's proportionate share of the net pension
    liability $17,207,178 $11,803,112 $18,337,949 $15,118,022 $13,659,983
Plan's covered payroll $11,869,970 $13,078,647 $13,522,119 $14,436,509 $16,243,000
Plan's proportionate share of the net pension
    liability as a percentage of its covered payroll 144.96% 90.25% 135.61% 104.72% 84.10%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
    of the total pension liability 1.00% 2.45% 1.16% 1.26% 1.37%

83



Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 
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Schedule of Contributions - Pensions 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 
 
 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
 

Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Pension Plan 
 

Fiscal year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Actuarially determined contribution $4,568,731 $4,616,119 $4,272,678 $4,468,041 $2,923,829
Contributions in relation to the 
    actuarially determined contribution (4,568,731)        (4,616,119)      (4,272,678)       (4,468,041)       (2,923,829)     
Contribution deficiency (excess) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Covered payroll $12,840,271 $12,351,170 $11,997,578 $11,839,254 $12,184,391
Contributions as a percentage 
    of covered payroll 35.58% 37.37% 35.61% 37.74% 24.00%

Fiscal year 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Actuarially determined contribution $2,711,470 $3,216,634 $3,321,931 $3,558,864 $3,821,976
Contributions in relation to the 
    actuarially determined contribution (2,711,470)        (3,216,634)      (3,321,931)       (3,558,864)       (3,821,976)     
Contribution deficiency (excess) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Covered payroll $12,615,174 $13,229,994 $14,088,709 $15,356,298 $16,924,806
Contributions as a percentage 
    of covered payroll 21.49% 24.31% 23.58% 23.18% 22.58%  

Miscellaneous
Valuation Date December 31, 2023
Measurement Date December 31, 2024
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method
Amortization Method Level percent of payroll
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.00%
Inflation Rate 2.50%
Payroll Growth 3.00%
Projected Salary Increase 3.45%-8.00% (1)
Cost of Living Adjustments Tier 1: 2.75%

Tiers 2 and 4: 2.00%
Investment Rate of Return 7.00% (2)

Mortality
Pub-2010 General Healthy Retiree Amount-

Weighted Above-Median Mortality Tables

(1)  Vary by service, including inflation
(2)  Net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation  
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COST-SHARING MULTIPLE EMPLOYER DEFINED OPEB PLAN: 
 

SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET OPEB LIABILITY (ASSET) 
 
This schedule reports the proportion (percentage) of the collective net OPEB liability, the proportionate share 
(amount) of the collective net OPEB liability, the employer’s covered employee payroll, the proportionate share 
(amount) of the collective net OPEB liability as a percentage of the employer’s covered employee payroll and the 
OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability. 
 

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

This schedule reports the cost sharing employer’s contributions to the plan which are actuarially determined, the 
employer’s actual contributions, the difference between the actual and actuarially determined contributions, and a 
ratio of the actual contributions divided by covered employee payroll. 
 

85



Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of the Agency’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Assets) and Related Ratios 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined OPEB Plan 

Measurement period 2024 2023 2022 2021
Plan's proportion of the Net OPEB Liability 1.24% 1.19% 1.14% 1.12%
Plan's proportion share of the Net OPEB Liability $2,155,197 $1,889,593 $1,685,246 ($3,632,078)
Plan's Covered Payroll $16,243,000 $14,436,509 $13,522,119 $13,078,647

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability
  as a Percentage of its Covered Payroll

13.27% 13.09% 12.46% -27.77%

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Fiduciary Net Position
   as a Percentage of the Plan's Total OPEB Liability

1.24% 1.19% 1.14% 1.12%

Contributions N/A N/A N/A N/A

Measurement period 2020 2019 2018 2017
Plan's proportion of the Net OPEB Liability 1.09% 0.78% 1.29% 1.43%
Plan's proportion share of the Net OPEB Liability $56,071 $678,897 $2,295,442 $298,850
Plan's Covered Payroll $11,869,970 $12,130,078 $11,719,530 $12,229,930
Plan's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability
  as a Percentage of its Covered Payroll

0.47% 5.60% 19.59% 2.44%

Plan's Proportionate Share of the Fiduciary Net Position
   as a Percentage of the Plan's Total OPEB Liability

1.09% 0.78% 1.29% 1.43%

Plan's Proportionate Share of Aggregate Employer 
Contributions N/A N/A NA NA

*Fiscal year 2018 was the 1st year of implementation; therefore, only eight years are shown.

Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined OPEB Plan
Last 10 Years*

SCHEDULE OF THE PLAN'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE
NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS AS OF

THE MEASUREMENT PERIOD
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Zone 7 Water Agency 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Contributions - OPEB 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit OPEB Plan 

2025 2024 2023 2022
Actuarially determined contribution
Contributions in relation to the

actuarially determined contribution
Contribution deficiency (excess) - - - - 
Covered payroll $16,652,362 $14,896,674 $13,145,667 $9,142,247
Contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

2021 2020 2019 2018
Actuarially determined contribution
Contributions in relation to the

actuarially determined contribution
Contribution deficiency (excess)

- - - - 
Covered payroll $8,531,883 $5,942,078 $9,400,208 $9,957,944
Contributions as a percentage of
covered-employee payroll 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

*Fiscal year 2018 was the first year of implementation; therefore only eight years are shown.
Notes to Schedule:
Valuation Date
Measurement Date
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Cost Method
Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.00%
Inflation 2.50%
Payroll Growth 3.00%
Investment Rate of Return 7.00%
Mortality Rate Pub-2010 General Healthy Retiree Amount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality T
Healthcare Trend Rates  Non-Medicare medical plan - 7.75% graded to ultimate 4.50% over 13 years

 Medicare medical plan - 7.50% graded to ultimate 4.50% over 12 years
 Dental -6.00% in 2025, then 5.00% graded to ultimate 4.00% over 3 years

Vision - 3.00%
 Medicare Part B - 6.20% until 2033, then 5.75% graded to ultimate 4.50% over 6 

December 31, 2023
December 31, 2024
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Cal OES
Grant Totals

Federal State Grant 2025 2024
ASSETS

Current assets

Cash in Agency treasury $539,280
Accounts receivable, net $139,685 $139,685 823,723

Total assets 139,685 139,685 1,363,003

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 49,378
Due to other funds 139,685 139,685 774,345

Total liabilities 139,685 139,685 823,723

Deferred inflows of resources
Unavailable revenues 539,280

Total deferred inflows of resources 539,280

FUND BALANCES

Unrestricted

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources and fund balances $139,685 $139,685 $1,363,003

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUND
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

AS OF JUNE 30, 2025
WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024
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Cal OES
Grant

Federal State Grant 2025 2024

REVENUES

Intergovernmental revenues $89,713 $808,931 $898,644 $362,211

Total revenues 89,713 808,931 898,644 362,211

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Salaries and employee benefits

transferred from district-wide 4,534                        4,534 7,994
Services and supplies 89,713 265,118 354,831 856,443

Capital outlay:
Equipment and capital infrastructure 37,054

Total expenditures 89,713 269,652 359,365 901,491

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 539,279 539,279 (539,280)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES:
Transfers out (539,279) (539,279) 539,280

Total other financing sources (Uses) (539,279) (539,279) 539,280

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUND
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Total Non-major
Governmental Funds

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

NON-MAJOR WATER ENTERPRISE FUND
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2025
WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Water Totals
Facilities 2025 2024

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash in County treasury $463,463 $463,463 $424,934

Total current assets 463,463 463,463 424,934

Total assets 463,463 463,463 424,934

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Deposits 347,495 347,495 325,384

Total current liabilities 347,495 347,495 325,384

Total liabilities 347,495 347,495 325,384

NET POSITION

Unrestricted 115,968 115,968 99,550

Total net position $115,968 $115,968 $99,550
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Water Totals
Facilities 2025 2024

NONOPERATING REVENUES

Interest income and rental fees $16,418 $16,418 $32,846

Income (loss) before transfers 16,418 16,418 32,846

Transfers (out) (1,050,000)

Change in net position 16,418 16,418 (1,017,154)

Net position, beginning of year 99,550 99,550 1,116,704

Net position, end of year $115,968 $115,968 $99,550

WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

NON-MAJOR WATER ENTERPRISE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

NON-MAJOR WATER ENTERPRISE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025
WITH SUMMARIZED INFORMATION  AS OF JUNE 30, 2024

Water Total
Facilities 2025 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Refund of customers deposits $22,111 $22,111 ($17,988)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 22,111 22,111 (17,988)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers (out) (1,050,000)

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities (1,050,000)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received on investments 16,418 16,418 32,846

Cash flows from investing activities 16,418 16,418 32,846

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 38,529 38,529 (1,035,142)

Cash and investments at beginning of period 424,934 424,934 1,460,076

Cash and investments at end of period $463,463 $463,463 $424,934

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to cash flows

Changes in assets and liabilities
Deposits 22,111 22,111 (17,988)

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $22,111 $22,111 ($17,988)
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Alameda County Flood Control And Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 

Statistical Section Overview 

This part of the Agency’s comprehensive annual financial statement report presents detailed information as a context for 
understanding what the information in the financial statement, note disclosures, and required supplementary information 
says about the Agency’s overall financial health. 

Contents Pages 

Financial Trends 
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the government’s  
Financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 100-107

Revenue Capacity 
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess one of the government’s most 
significant local revenue source-property tax. 108-121

Debt Capacity 
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the government’s 
current levels of outstanding debt and the government’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 122-125

Demographic and Economic Information 
This schedule offers demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the government’s financial activities take place. 126-127

Operating Information 
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how 
the information in the government’s financial report relates to the services the government 
provides and the activities it performs. 128-133
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

2016 2017 2018 2019
Governmental activities 

Net investment in capital assets 30,334,638$    31,990,546$    32,247,481$    33,164,265$    
Restricted 56,059,067      58,149,272      62,760,525      66,872,665      
Unrestricted 19,133,427      20,484,357      16,662,343      15,346,434      

Total governmental activities net position 105,527,132$  110,624,175$  111,670,349$  115,383,364$  

Business-type activities 
Net investment in capital assets 188,968,433$  194,732,197$  198,348,996$  210,675,110$  
Restricted 82,151,910      97,494,721      107,414,628    127,521,329    
Unrestricted 30,717,428      37,712,019      47,669,365      48,823,266      

Total business-type activities net position 301,837,771$  329,938,937$  353,432,989$  387,019,705$  

Primary government 
Net investment in capital assets 219,303,071$  226,722,743$  230,596,477$  243,839,375$  
Restricted 138,210,977    155,643,993    170,175,153    194,393,994    
Unrestricted 49,850,855      58,196,376      64,331,708      64,169,700      

Total primary governmental activities net position 407,364,903$  440,563,112$  465,103,338$  502,403,069$  

(a) The Agency implemented the provisions of GASB Statement 87 in fiscal year 2021 and retroactive application
resulted in a restatement of fiscal year 2021 balances.
(b) The Agency implemented the provisions of GASB Statement 96 in fiscal year 2022 and retroactive application
resulted in a restatement of fiscal year 2022 balances.
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2020 2021 (a) 2022 (b) 2023 2024 2025

32,993,757$       32,772,306$       32,886,671$       33,188,061$       32,807,289$       33,265,825$       
69,648,891         72,715,433         74,143,148         76,008,569         79,970,351         85,316,793         
17,937,525         20,035,351         18,805,955         22,483,372         26,915,708         31,967,449         

120,580,173$     125,523,090$     125,835,774$     131,680,002$     139,693,348$     150,550,067$     

227,930,485$     246,768,274$     273,744,254$     276,759,129$     281,764,763$     264,397,075$     
131,461,963       110,609,342       114,367,484       119,149,689       150,221,709       152,988,897       

56,022,343         71,635,497         53,058,873         58,447,787         46,528,255         98,158,531         
415,414,791$     429,013,113$     441,170,611$     454,356,605$     478,514,727$     515,544,503$     

260,924,242$     279,540,580$     306,630,925$     309,947,190$     314,572,052$     297,662,900$     
201,110,854       183,324,775       188,510,632       195,158,258       230,192,060       238,305,690       

73,959,868         91,670,848         71,864,828         80,931,159         73,443,963         130,125,980       
535,994,964$     554,536,203$     567,006,385$     586,036,607$     618,208,075$     666,094,570$     
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY
Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

2016 2017 2018 2019
Expenses 
Governmental activities 

Flood Protection Operations 5,328,998$  5,341,751$  12,859,064$                10,308,973$                
Flood Protection Drainage DIF 794,922 1,841,555 542,139 367,976 
Flood Protection Grants 1,230,924 125,352 

Total governmental activities expenses 6,123,920 7,183,306 14,632,127 10,802,301 

Business-type activities 
State Water Project 20,621,344 20,985,604 19,794,128 21,420,192 
Water Enterprise Funds 81,257,514 60,641,826 75,273,928 63,564,015 

Total business-type activities 101,878,858                81,627,430 95,068,056 84,984,207 
Total primary government expenses 108,002,778$              88,810,736$                109,700,183$              95,786,508$                

Program Revenues 
Governmental activities 

Charges for Services 7,556,578$  3,683,683$  4,652,449$  3,522,081$  
Operating grants and contributions 71,562 181,418 182,315 70,969 
Capital grants and contributions 40,202 13,263 1,230,924 125,352 

Total governmental activities program revenues 7,668,342 3,878,364 6,065,688 3,718,402 

Business-type activities 
Charges for Services: 

State Water Project 19,419,226 20,795,420 22,927,398 23,420,521 
Water Enterprise Funds 68,594,249 77,826,527 84,362,659 83,227,173 

Operating grants and contributions 15,285,044 10,179,114 7,235,940 6,723,525 
Capital grants and contributions - - - -

Total business-type activities program 103,298,519                108,801,061                114,525,997                113,371,219                
Total primary government program revenues 110,966,861$              112,679,425$              120,591,685$              117,089,621$              

Net (Expense)/Revenue 
Governmental activities 1,544,422$  (3,304,942)$ (8,566,439)$ (7,083,899)$
Business-type activities 1,419,661 27,173,631 19,457,941 28,387,012 
Total primary government net revenues 2,964,083$  23,868,689$                10,891,502$                21,303,113$                

General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position 
Governmental activities 

Taxes 
Property 7,329,117$  7,895,448$  8,518,064$  9,144,785$  

Investment earnings 342,127 518,982 897,199 1,485,504 
Other 22,356 - 34,267 179,069 
Transfers (13,333) (12,445) (12,444) (12,444)

Total governmental activities 7,680,267 8,401,985 9,437,086 10,796,914 

Business-type activities 
Investment earnings 496,700 915,090 2,021,455 5,187,260 
Other - - - -
Transfers 13,333 12,445 12,444 12,444 

Total business-type activities 510,033 927,535 2,033,899 5,199,704 
Total primary government 8,190,300$  9,329,520$  11,470,985$                15,996,618$                

Change in Net Position 
Governmental activities 9,224,689$  5,097,043$  870,647$  3,713,015$  
Business-type activities 1,929,694 28,101,166 21,491,840 33,586,716 

Total primary government 11,154,383$                33,198,209$                22,362,487$                37,299,731$                

(a) The Agency implemented the provisions of GASB Statement 87 in fiscal year 2021 and retoractive application resulted in a
restatement of fiscal year 2021 balances.
(b) The Agency implemented the provisions of GASB Statement 96 in fiscal year 2022 and retroactive application  resulted in a
restatement of fiscal year 2022.
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2020 2021 (a) 2022 (b) 2023 2024 2025

9,547,702$  8,949,669$  12,352,060$  8,811,830$  10,431,196$  8,650,032$  
168,503 208,142 381,617 176,869 68,043 3,320,980 
497,987 474,319 432,140 228,936 864,437 359,365 

10,214,192 9,632,130 13,165,817 9,217,635 11,363,676 12,330,377 

24,333,554 23,173,321 24,331,873 25,703,191 27,290,867 28,627,763 
61,634,465 67,019,978 70,157,980 71,877,411 78,348,684 90,590,025 
85,968,019 90,193,299 94,489,853 97,580,602 105,639,551 119,217,788 
96,182,211$  99,825,429$  107,655,670$                106,798,237$                117,003,227$                131,548,165$                

1,694,933$  2,624,628$  1,714,458$  1,384,402$  2,387,743$  5,181,695$  
79,929 81,730 84,034 90,914 753,675 403,173 

488,451 482,306 399,290 486,234 241,193 50,000 
2,263,313 3,188,664 2,197,782 1,961,550 3,382,611 5,634,868 

23,415,684 24,633,172 26,102,946 25,850,736 26,611,140 26,641,080 
79,931,895 71,244,549 76,031,347 73,538,954 77,287,586 95,492,759 

6,509,157 6,640,850 6,710,435 9,752,717 6,137,284 8,557,183 
26,226 - - - 11,497,801 2,902,194 

109,882,962 102,518,571 108,844,728 109,142,407 121,533,811 133,593,216 
112,146,275$                105,707,235$                111,042,510$                111,103,957$                124,916,422$                139,228,084$                

(7,950,879)$  (6,443,466)$  (10,968,035)$  (7,256,085)$  (7,981,065)$  (6,695,509)$  
23,914,943 12,325,272 14,354,875 11,561,805 15,894,260 14,375,428 
15,964,064$  5,881,806$  3,386,840$  4,305,720$  7,913,195$  7,679,919$  

9,834,264$  10,344,149$  10,791,532$  11,647,326$  12,182,791$  12,536,110$  
1,745,490 956,235 268,495 1,280,020 3,485,104 4,757,320 
1,579,824 97,889 232,582 184,857 338,406 277,068 

(11,890) (11,890) (11,890) (11,890) (11,890) (18,270) 
13,147,688 11,386,383 11,280,719 13,100,313 15,994,411 17,552,228 

4,468,253 1,261,160 (2,209,267) 1,612,299 8,251,972 11,823,400 
- - - - - 10,812,678 

11,890 11,890 11,890 11,890 11,890 18,270 
4,480,143 1,273,050 (2,197,377) 1,624,189 8,263,862 22,654,348 

17,627,831$  12,659,433$  9,083,342$  14,724,502$  24,258,273$  40,206,576$  

5,196,809$  4,942,917$  312,684$  5,844,228$  8,013,346$  10,856,719$  
28,395,086 13,598,322 12,157,498 13,185,994 24,158,122 37,029,776 
33,591,895$  18,541,239$  12,470,182$  19,030,222$  32,171,468$  47,886,495$  
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Fiscal Year Restricted Committed Total 
2016 56,059,067$       20,666,297$       76,725,364$       
2017 58,149,272         21,898,222         80,047,494         
2018 62,760,525         18,352,377         81,112,902         
2019 66,872,665         17,602,713         84,475,378         
2020 69,648,891         20,010,475         89,659,366         
2021 72,715,433         22,150,273         94,865,706         
2022 74,143,148         20,431,275         94,574,423         
2023 76,008,569         23,822,802         99,831,371         
2024 79,970,351         27,604,075         107,574,426       
2025 85,316,793         33,413,169         118,729,962       

fiscal year 2022.
Note: Fiscal year 2021 balances were restated due to retroactive application of GASB Statement 87 which was implemented in 

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Changes in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

2016 2017 2018 2019
Revenues 
Property taxes 7,329,117$      7,895,448$      8,518,064$      9,144,785$      
Intergovernmental 71,562             181,418           1,413,239        196,321           
Charges for services 7,556,578        3,683,683        4,652,449        3,522,081        
Investment earnings 342,127           518,982           897,199           1,485,504        
Rental Income - - - - 
Other revenues 62,558             13,263             34,267             179,069           
Total revenues 15,361,942 12,292,794 15,515,218 14,527,760

Expenditures 
Salaries and employee benefits 

transferred from district-wide 2,455,453 1,961,724 2,292,919 2,332,437
Services and supplies 3,354,938 4,187,243 11,014,697 8,612,252
Equipment and capital structures - 2,809,252 1,129,750 208,151
Total Expenditures 5,810,391 8,958,219 14,437,366 11,152,840

Excess of revenues over/(under) 
expenditures 9,551,551 3,334,575 1,077,852 3,374,920

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets - - - - 
Transfers In - - - - 
Transfers Out (13,333) (12,445) (12,444) (12,444)
Total other financing sources (uses) (13,333) (12,445) (12,444) (12,444)

Net change in fund balances 9,538,218$      3,322,130$      1,065,408$      3,362,476$      

Note: Fiscal year 2021 balances were restated due to retroactive application of GASB Statement 87 which was 
implemented in  fiscal year 2022.
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
 

9,834,264$        10,344,149$      10,791,532$      11,647,326$      12,182,791$      12,536,110$      
568,380             556,049             483,324             577,148             455,588             992,452             

1,694,933          2,624,628          1,690,497          1,360,441          2,360,632          5,181,695          
1,745,490          956,235             268,495             1,280,020          3,485,104          4,757,321          

-                     7,987                 23,961               23,961               27,111               -                         
1,579,824          97,889               232,582             184,857             319,926             270,186             

15,422,891 14,586,937 13,490,391 15,073,753 18,831,152 23,737,764

 
 

2,205,357 2,401,207 2,484,861 2,250,551 2,533,566 3,222,553
8,008,597 6,966,093 10,873,497 6,876,779 8,517,413 9,348,287

13,059 1,407 411,426 677,585 43,708 -                     
10,227,013 9,368,707 13,769,784 9,804,915 11,094,687 12,570,840

 
5,195,878 5,218,230 (279,393) 5,268,838 7,736,465 11,166,924

 
-                     -                     -                     -                     18,480 6,882
-                     -                     -                     -                     539,280 539,279

(11,890) (11,890) (11,890) (11,890) (551,170) (557,549)
(11,890) (11,890) (11,890) (11,890) 6,590 (11,388)

5,183,988$        5,206,340$        (291,283)$          5,256,948$        7,743,055$        11,155,536$      
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Revenue Capacity
Ten-Year Summary of Revenue by Source

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2016 2017 2018 2019
Revenues

Property taxes 17,716,841$      18,524,750$      21,385,641$      21,353,809$      
Water sales 28,110,974 42,975,960 47,860,145 47,440,592
Intergovernmental revenue 15,285,044 10,179,114 7,235,940 6,723,525
Connection and development fees 39,135,444 33,128,280 35,434,462 34,068,092
Charges for services 1,050,070 1,276,122 665,688 687,569
Investment earnings 496,700 915,090 2,021,455 5,187,260
Other revenues 2,000,146 2,716,835 1,944,121 2,310,887

Total Revenues 103,795,219$    109,716,151$    116,547,452$    117,771,734$    

Water Enterprise System

(a) Fiscal year 2021 balances were restated due to retroactive application of GASB Statement 87 which was implemented in 
fiscal year 2022.

(b) The Agency implemented the provisions of GASB Statement 96 in fiscal year 2022 and retroactive application  resulted 
in a restatement of fiscal year 2022.
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2020 2021 (a) 2022 (b) 2023 2024 2025

21,553,508$      22,616,173$      23,836,161$      23,540,590$      24,043,448$      23,923,784$      
55,777,208 57,012,484 55,670,511 56,105,302 65,069,514 69,090,745

6,509,157 6,640,850 6,710,435 9,752,717 17,635,085 11,459,377
22,461,926 13,609,527 19,669,509 17,023,627 11,860,411 22,940,368

500,371 277,722 144,160 86,983 91,125 392,426
4,468,253 1,261,160 (2,209,267) 1,612,299 8,251,972 11,823,400
3,080,792 2,361,815 2,813,952 2,633,188 2,834,228 16,599,194

114,351,215$    103,779,731$    106,635,461$    110,754,706$    129,785,783$    156,229,294$    
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Revenue Capacity
Ten-Year Summary of Revenue by Source

Fiscal Year Ended June 30

Flood Protection System

2016 2017 2018 2019
Revenues

Property taxes 7,329,117$          7,895,448$          8,518,064$          9,144,785$          
Intergovernmental revenue 71,562 181,418 1,413,239 196,321
Charges for services 7,556,578 3,683,683 4,652,449 3,522,081
Investment earnings 342,127 518,982 897,199 1,485,504
Rental Income -                       -                       -                       -                       
Other revenues 62,558 13,263 34,267 179,069

Total Revenues 15,361,942$        12,292,794$        15,515,218$        14,527,760$        

Note: Fiscal year 2021 balances were restated due to retroactive application of GASB Statement 87 which was 
         implemented in fiscal year 2022.
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

9,834,264$          10,344,149$        10,791,532$        11,647,326$        12,182,791$        12,536,110$        
568,380 556,049 483,324 577,148 455,588 992,452

1,694,933 2,624,628 1,690,497 1,360,441 2,360,632 5,181,695
1,745,490 956,235 268,495 1,280,020 3,485,104 4,757,321

- 7,987 23,961 23,961 27,111 - 
1,579,824 97,889 232,582 184,857 319,926 270,186

15,422,891$        14,586,937$        13,490,391$        15,073,753$        18,831,152$        23,737,764$        
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT -
 ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Treated and Untreated Water Rates
Ten-Year History

(In Acre Feet)

Calendar Year Rate/AF
% Change Year 

Over Year Rate/AF
% Change Year Over 

Year
2016 $1,372 0.0% $130 0.0%

  2017* $1,577 14.9% $113 -13.1%
2018 $1,385 -12.2% $129 14.2%
2019 $1,451 4.8% $167 29.5%
2020 $1,533 5.7% $173 3.6%
2021 $1,533 0.0% $173 0.0%
2022 $1,664 8.5% $204 17.9%
2023 $1,799 8.1% $255 25.0%
2024 $1,856 3.1% $263 3.1%
2025 $1,930 4.0% $263 0.0%

Source: Zone 7 Finance Department

----------Treated Water Rate---------- ----------Untreated Water Rate----------

*In 2017, the agency changed its rates structure to include volume-based and fixed-based components. The rates 
shown include a mix of volume-based rates and fixed charges expressed in acre-feet.
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

 Water Sales by Category 
Ten-Year History

(amounts expressed in millions)

Calendar  Year
(Treated) Water 

Revenue
Untreated Water 

Revenue Total
2016 $37.3 $0.6 $37.9
2017 $48.1 $0.9 $49.0
2018 $44.2 $0.7 $44.9
2019 $50.6 $0.8 $51.4
2020 $56.4 $1.0 $57.4
2021 $53.5 $1.0 $54.6
2022 $55.2 $1.1 $56.3
2023 $58.9 $1.2 $60.1
2024 $65.4 $1.1 $66.5
2025* $66.3 $1.1 $67.4

*Calendar Year 2025 revenue is forecasted.

Source: Zone 7 Finance Department
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Principal Treated Water Customers
Current Complete Year Comparison to Nine Years Ago

 (Calendar Year)

Customer

City of Pleasanton 13,573 1 38%

Dublin San Ramon Services District 9,932 2 28%

City of Livermore 5,946 3 17%

California Water Service Company 5,886 4 17%

All other treated water customers¹ 299 5 1%

Total Annual Consumption (AF) 35,637 100%

Source: Zone 7 Finance Department

--------------------2024--------------------
Annual 

Consumption 
(AF)

Rank Percentage of Total 
Annual Consumption

¹Other treated customers include Lawrence Livermore Laboratory, Livermore Area Recreation 
and Park District, Veterans Hospital, Wente and East Bay Regional Park District.
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Customer

City of Pleasanton 7,729 1 31%

Dublin San Ramon Services District 7,466 2 30%

City of Livermore 4,556 3 19%

California Water Service Company 4,545 4 19%

All other treated water customers1 270 5 1.1%

Total Annual Consumption (AF) 24,566 100%

--------------------2015--------------------
Annual 

Consumption 
(AF)

Rank Percentage of Total 
Annual Consumption
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Assessed Value of Taxable Property - Zone 7 Service Area 
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
(expressed in millions)

2016 2017 2018 2019
Assessed Value of Taxable Property

Land 15,861$         16,884$         17,825$         19,166$         

Structures & Improvements 33,555           35,989           38,434           41,506           

Personal Property 1,473             1,536             1,625             1,622             

Miscellaneous Exemption (Less) 661 748 769 870

Subtotal 50,228           53,661           57,115           61,424           

Homeowner Exemption (Less) 303 304 306 307

Net Total 49,925$         53,357$         56,809$         61,117$         

Source:  Alameda County Assessor's Office
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

20,359$         21,220$         22,068$         23,473$         24,862$         26,174$         

44,764           47,473           49,260           52,485           55,537           58,312           

1,667             1,858             1,829             2,005             2,280             2,266             

921 1,130             1,167             961 1,387             1,729             

65,869           69,421           71,990           77,002           81,292           85,023           

309 308 305 302 299 298

65,560$         69,113$         71,685$         76,700$         80,993$         84,725$         
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Property Tax Rates(1)

Direct and Overlapping Governments
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(Rates per $1,000 of Assessed value)

2016 2017 2018 2019
Direct Rates:

City of Livermore 1.0000% 1.0000% 1.0000% 1.0000%
County GO Bond 0.0112%

Overlapping Rates(2):
School District 0.0404% 0.0886% 0.0803% 0.0771%
Community College 0.0198% 0.0246% 0.0445% 0.0443%
Bay Area Rapid Transit 0.0026% 0.0080% 0.0084% 0.0070%
Zone 7 Flood Control 0.0343% 0.0333% 0.0359% 0.0332%

Total Direct and Overlapping Rates 1.0971% 1.1545% 1.1691% 1.1728%

Note:
(1)

(2)

Source:  Alameda County Auditor-Controller Agency

The above data represents a single tax area within the Agency's jurisdiction and is presented herein to 
show readers general trends of property tax rates.

Overlapping rates are those local and county governments that apply to property owners within the 
City of Livermore.  Not all overlapping rates apply to all property owners. For an overlapping rate to 
apply, the property has to be located within that district's geographic boundary.   
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

1.0000% 1.0000% 1.0000% 1.0000% 1.0000% 1.0000%
0.0108% 0.0036% 0.0041% 0.0103% 0.0088% 0.0089%

0.0743% 0.0691% 0.0706% 0.0638% 0.0540% 0.0475%
0.0422% 0.0214% 0.0458% 0.0388% 0.0416% 0.0393%
0.0120% 0.0139% 0.0060% 0.0140% 0.0134% 0.0148%
0.0309% 0.0309% 0.0307% 0.0279% 0.0267% 0.0243%
1.1702% 1.1389% 1.1572% 1.1548% 1.1445% 1.1348%
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT -
 ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Property Tax Levies and Collections
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30 Taxes Levied

Amount Collected 
Within Fiscal Year

Percentage of 
Levy

Delinquent Tax 
Collections

2016 25,045,958$        25,045,958$              100% 0%
2017 26,420,199          26,420,199                100% 0%
2018 28,225,563          28,225,563                100% 0%
2019 28,991,052          28,991,052                100% 0%
2020 29,433,103          29,433,103                100% 0%
2021 30,722,352          30,722,352                100% 0%
2022 32,008,443          32,008,443                100% 0%
2023 32,885,000          32,885,000                100% 0%
2024 33,419,000          33,419,000                100% 0%
2025 34,648,000          34,648,000                100% 0%

Source:   Zone 7 Finance Department
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Taxpayer

Westcore Bravo Livermore LLC 326,749,900$        1 0.39%

Stoneridge Creek Pleasanton CCRC LLC 294,837,306 2 0.35% 192,673,565$        4 0.39%

Stoneridge Properties 291,452,520 3 0.35% 251,603,253 2 0.50%

Rosewood Commons Property Owner LLC 277,970,292 4 0.33%

Workday Inc. 277,685,090 5 0.33%

OAK Owens 20172020 LLC 268,485,759 6 0.32%

Kaiser Foundation Health Plan Inc 263,694,284 7 0.31% 372,400,427 1 0.75%

Livermore Premium Outlets LLC 238,891,491 8 0.29% 199,243,320 3 0.40%

ESSEX Pleasanton Owner LP 214,926,440 9 0.26%

Avalon West Dublin LP 191,688,452 10 0.23%

Avalon Dublin Station II LP 171,200,560 5 0.34%

Trust NOIP Dublin LP 158,226,698 6 0.32%

Stoneridge Residential LLC 153,376,131 7 0.31%

Tishman Speyer Archstone Smith 151,900,471 8 0.30%

SFI Pleasanton LLC 146,293,994 9 0.29%

6200 Stoneridge Mall Road Investors LLC 145,700,000 10 0.29%

2,646,381,534$     3.16% 1,942,618,419$     3.89%

Source: (1) County of Alameda 2024-25 FY Top 10 Taxpayers by Primary Tax Code Area (Secured)
(2) Zone 7 Water Agency ACFR for FY 2016

Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District - Zone 7 Water Agency
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Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District - Zone 7 Water Agency
Water Enterprise Outstanding Debt by Type 

Last Ten Fiscal Years

2015 2016 2017 2018 ¹
2018 Water Revenue Bond1 -$  -$  -$  71,376,744$      
2023 Water Revenue Bond2 - - - -
Total -$  -$  -$  71,376,744$      

Total Debt Per Capita -$  -$  -$  275.41$             

Source: Zone 7 Finance Department

¹ In March 2018, the Agency, via the Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority, issued the 2018 Water Revenue 
Bonds in the amount of $64,010,000.
2 In October 2023, the Agency, via the Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority, issued the 2023 Water Revenue 
Bonds in the amount of $28,795,000.
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2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
70,735,844$  68,705,423$  66,661,411$  64,592,816$  62,498,601$  60,378,146$    58,221,595$    

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 29,887,991 29,360,197
70,735,844$  68,705,423$  66,661,411$  64,592,816$  62,498,601$  90,266,137$    87,581,792$    

272.06$         264.25$         256.39$         242.83$         234.96$         339.35$           329.25$           
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

(In Millions)

2016 2017 2018 2019

Debt Limit 2,496$           2,668$           2,840$           3,056$           

Total Net Debt Applicable to Limit - - - - 

Legal Debt Margin 2,496$           2,668$           2,840$           3,056$           
Total net debt applied to the limit as a 
percentage of the debt limit 0% 0% 0% 0%

Source:  Alameda County Assessor's Office and  Zone 7 Finance Department
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

3,278$             3,456$             3,584$             3,835$             4,050$             4,236$             

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

3,278$             3,456$             3,584$             3,835$             4,050$             4,236$             

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

125



Zone 7 Service 
Area 

Total Personal 
Income Alameda 

County2,C

Consumer Price 
Index Alameda 

County
(Acres) (billions) (% change in CPI)4

2016 272,000             247,000               1,629,738          108.3 65,209 4.7% 3.1%
2017 272,000             255,023               1,646,405          115.8 69,254 4.0% 3.0%
2018 272,000             259,165               1,656,884          124.7 74,192 3.1% 4.3%
2019 272,000             260,000               1,666,753          134.7 79,984 3.1% 2.7%
2020 272,000             260,000               1,670,834          148.2 88,190 13.5% 1.6%
2021 272,000             260,000               1,656,591          161.7 98,370 6.6% 3.2%
2022 272,000             266,000               1,651,979          164.2 100,836 3.0% 6.8%
2023 272,000             266,000               1,636,194          173.0 106,657 4.2% 2.9%
2024 272,000             266,000               1,641,869          N/A B N/A B 4.7% 3.2%
2025 272,000             266,000               1,662,482          N/A B N/A B 5.0% 1.5%

Sources:   1 State of California, Department of Finance
2 U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis
3 State of California Employment Development Department Labor Market Information
4 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics San Francisco Area

B Personal Income & Per Capita Income for Alameda County are not available for 2024 and 2025.
C Personal Income & Per Capital Income for Alameda County have been revised.

A Population of Service Area are estimates and includes the cities of Livermore, Pleasanton, Dublin and Dougherty Valley (Dougherty Valley figures are estimated 
as 3.36% of City of San Ramon) .

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY
Demographic and Economic  Statistics

For Alameda County and the Zone 7 Service Area
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal 
Year

Population 
Served within 

Zone 7's Service 
AreaA

Total 
Population 
Alameda 
County1

 Per Capita 
Income Alameda 

County2,C

Unemployment 
Rate Alameda 

County3
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Company/Organization Number of 
Employees 

Percentage of Total 
Employment 4

Company/Organization Number of 
Employees

Percentage of Total 
Employment 4

United States Government & Federal 
Correction Institute 3,109 9.04% United States Government & Federal 

Correction Institute 2,100 6.54%

County of Alameda 1,308 3.80% Dublin Unified School District 915 2.85%
Dublin Unified School District 1,292 3.76% SAP (Formerly: Sybase Corporation) 700 2.18%
Ross Stores Headquarters 1,081 3.14% Zeiss Meditec 500 1.56%
Zeiss Meditec 767 2.23% Ross Stores Headquarters 500 1.56%
Kaiser Permanente 542 1.58% Target Stores 350 1.09%
Patelco Credit Union 461 1.34% Callidus Cloud 350 1.09%
Target Stores 352 1.02% County of Alameda 325 1.01%
Snowflake, Inc. 350 1.02% De Silva Gates Construction 300 0.93%
TriNet 215 0.63% Safeway 280 0.87%
Total Employment 34,400 27.55% Total Employment 32,100 19.69%

Company/Organization Number of 
Employees 

Percentage of Total 
Employment Company/Organization Number of 

Employees
Percentage of Total 

Employment 
Lawrence Livermore National Lab 9,291 17.33% Lawrence Livermore National Lab 5800-6000 13.16%
Sandia National Lab 1,842 3.44% Sandia National Lab 1100-1200 2.56%
Livermore Valley Joint Unified School 
District 1,401 2.61% Livermore Valley Joint Unified School District 1200-1300 2.79%

GILLIG 1,109 2.07% Kaiser Permanente 800-900 1.90%
Form Factor 989 1.84% Wente 700-800 1.67%
Kaiser Permanente 825 1.54% RGW Construction 400-500 1.00%
Lam Research 640 1.19% Livermore Area Recreation and Parks District 400-500 1.00%
City of Livermore 578 1.08% Las Positas College 400-800 1.00%
Topcon Positioning Systems 410 0.76% City of Livermore 400-500 1.00%
Las Positas College 291 0.54% Valley Care Health Systems 432 1.00%

Total Employment 32.40% Total Employment 27.08%

Company/Organization Number of 
Employees 

Percentage of Total 
Employment Company/Organization Number of 

Employees
Percentage of Total 

Employment 
Workday Inc 5,399 9.12% Kaiser Permanente 3,741 6.79%
Kaiser Foundation Hospitals 3,019 5.10% Wokday 2,250 4.09%
Pleasanton Unified School District 1,373 2.32% Safeway Inc 1,681 3.05%
Safeway Inc 1,348 2.28% Oracle 1,557 2.83%
Stanford Healthcare - Trivalley 1,124 1.90% Pleasanton Unified School Dist. 1,444 2.62%
Veeva Systems Inc 945 1.60% Valley Care Medical Center 1,400 2.54%
Roche Molecular Systems Inc. 927 1.57% Ellie Mae 1,000 1.82%
Oracle America Inc 882 1.49% State Compensation Ins. Fund 787 1.43%
10x Genomics 600 1.01% Roche Molecular Systems Inc. 750 1.36%
Life Technologies 579 0.98% Blackhawk Network Inc. 736 1.34%

Total Employment 27.37% Total Employment 27.87%

Note:    ANumber of Employees and Percentage of Total Employment unavailable for 2025.
              BNumber of Employees and Percentage of Total Employment unavailable for City of Livermore FY2015/16
Source: 1 City of Dublin, Annual Comprehensive Financial Report FY 2023/24
                  2 City of Livermore, Annual Comprehensive Financial Report FY 2023/24
                  3 City of Pleasanton, Annual Comprehensive Financial Report FY 2023/24 and FY 2015/16
                  4 Percentage calculated based on Dublin's Employment of 34,400 for 2024 and 32,100 for 2016 (Source: State of California Employment Development Department)

CITY OF PLEASANTON ³

----------2024A---------- ----------2016----------

ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY
Principal Employers Within the Service Area

Current Year and Nine Years Ago

CITY OF DUBLIN ¹

----------2024A---------- ----------2016----------

CITY OF LIVERMORE ²

----------2024A---------- ----------2015B----------
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Full-time Equivalent Agency Employees by Function/Program Budget
 Last Ten Fiscal Years

2016 2017 2018 2019

Office of the General Manager 8 9 9 9

Integrated Planning 8.5 9.5 9.5 6.5

Finance:

10 10 10 10

Human Resouces 7 4 4 3

Engineering:

Facilities Engineering 12 13 13 10

Groundwater 8.5 7.5 7.5 7.5

Water Quality 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5

Flood Protection 6 7 7 8

Operations 24 27 27 28

Maintenance 20 20 20 19

Total FTE 111.5 114.5 114.5 108.5

Source: Zone 7 Finance Department

Accounting, Finance & Purchasing

Division/Function
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

10 10 10 11 11 11

8.5 9.5 8.5 11 11 10

11 11 11 12 12 13

3 3 3 3 3 3

12 11 11 11 11 10

7.5 7 7 7 7 7

7.5 7 7 7 7 9

7 5.5 5.5 5 5 5

29 30 30 30 30 29

19 21 22 25 25 30

114.5 115.0 115.0 122.0 122.0 127.0
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT - 
ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Operating Indicators
 Fiscal Years 2016-2025

2016 2017 2018 2019
Water Enterprise System

2,002 2,300 4,700 8,200
8,910 8,300 9,100 3,100
1,600 1,338 1,301 1,214

Total drilling permits issued 133 155 165 154

Flood Protection System
425 425 425 425

Flood Protection channels (miles) 37 37 37 37
34 24 32 37
15 20 15 11

Source: Facilties Engineering, Flood Protection, Groundwater and Integrated Planning departments.

¹ Calculated on a Water Year basis (October 1 - September 30)

New water connections

Flood Protection area managed (sq. miles)

Flood Protection encroachment permits issued

Total Groundwater pumped (AF) ¹
Total Artificial Stream Recharge (AF) 

Flood Protection development referrals
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

10,100 16,400 15,200 5,100 3,200 4,000
4,040 830 110 4,400 9,200 4,300
796 470 643 522 354 584
119 130 136 125 113 117

425 425 425 425 425 425
37 37 37 37 37 39
44 23 18 20 17 12
18 26 45 49 48 34
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT -
 ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY

Operating Information
Capital Asset Statistics

 Fiscal Years 2016-2025

2016 2017 2018 2019
Number of treatment plants 3 3 3 3

Miles of pipeline 41 41 41 41

2 2 2 2

Number of wells operated 10 10 10 10

Total Groundwater storage (AF)¹´² 226,000 248,000 249,000 252,000

98,000 120,000 121,000 124,000Total Groundwater operational storage-water year (AF)²

² Calculated on a Water Year basis (October 1 - September 30).   

Source:  Facilities Engineering and Integrated Planning Departments

Number of treated water pumping stations 

¹ 2024 total and operational Groundwater Storage are estimates based on mid-September water levels. 
Actual values get calculated at end of each year.
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
3 3 3 3 4 5

41 41 41 41 41 41

2 2 2 3 3 3

10 10 10 10 10 10

246,000 230,000 218,000 230,000 253,000 252,000

118,000 102,000 90,000 102,000 125,000 124,000
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON  
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  

AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN  
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE  

WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Directors of the 
 Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 
Zone 7 Water Agency 
Livermore, California  

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the Alameda County Flood Control And Water Conservation District, Zone 7, Zone 7 Water Agency 
(Agency), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and have issued our report thereon dated November 
25, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Agency’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements, on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the Agency’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Agency's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Agency’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
November 25, 2025 
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MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 

Board of Directors 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water  
Conservation Agency – Zone 7 Water Agency 
Livermore, California 

In planning and performing our audit of the basic financial statements of the Alameda County Flood 
Control and Water Conservation Agency – Zone 7 Water Agency (Agency), California, as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2025, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, we considered the Agency’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a 
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Agency’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the Agency’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis.   

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses.  In 
addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including the possibility of management 
override of controls, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected by such controls. 
Given these limitations during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been 
identified. 

Included in the Schedule of Other Matters are recommendations not meeting the above definitions that 
we believe to be of potential benefit to the Agency. 

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, Board of Directors, 
others within the organization, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
November 25, 2025 
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION AGENCY – ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY 

MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
SCHEDULE OF OTHER MATTERS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 
 

NEW GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS OR PRONOUNCEMENTS NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
The following comment represents new pronouncements taking affect in the next few years.  We cite 
them here to keep you informed of developments: 
 
EFFECTIVE FISCAL YEAR 2025/26: 
 
GASB 103 – Financial Reporting Model Improvements 
 
The objective of this Statement is to improve key components of the financial reporting model to 
enhance its effectiveness in providing information that is essential for decision making and assessing a 
government’s accountability. This Statement also addresses certain application issues.  
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis – This Statement continues the requirement that the basic 
financial statements be preceded by management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), which is presented 
as required supplementary information (RSI). MD&A provides an objective and easily readable analysis 
of the government’s financial activities based on currently known facts, decisions, or conditions and 
presents comparisons between the current year and the prior year. This Statement requires that the 
information presented in MD&A be limited to the related topics discussed in five sections: (1) Overview 
of the Financial Statements, (2) Financial Summary, (3) Detailed Analyses, (4) Significant Capital Asset 
and Long-Term Financing Activity, and (5) Currently Known Facts, Decisions, or Conditions. 
Furthermore, this Statement stresses that the detailed analyses should explain why balances and results 
of operations changed rather than simply presenting the amounts or percentages by which they changed. 
This Statement emphasizes that the analysis provided in MD&A should avoid unnecessary duplication 
by not repeating explanations that may be relevant to multiple sections and that “boilerplate” discussions 
should be avoided by presenting only the most relevant information, focused on the primary government. 
In addition, this Statement continues the requirement that information included in MD&A distinguish 
between that of the primary government and its discretely presented component units.  
 
Unusual or Infrequent Items – This Statement describes unusual or infrequent items as transactions 
and other events that are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence. Furthermore, governments 
are required to display the inflows and outflows related to each unusual or infrequent item separately as 
the last presented flow(s) of resources prior to the net change in resource flows in the government-wide, 
governmental fund, and proprietary fund statements of resource flows.  
 
Presentation of the Proprietary Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net 
Position – This Statement requires that the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in fund net position continue to distinguish between operating and nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. Operating revenues and expenses are defined as revenues and expenses other than 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. Nonoperating revenues and expenses are defined as (1) subsidies 
received and provided, (2) contributions to permanent and term endowments, (3) revenues and expenses 
related to financing, (4) resources from the disposal of capital assets and inventory, and (5) investment 
income and expenses. 
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION AGENCY – ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY 

MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
SCHEDULE OF OTHER MATTERS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 
 

GASB 103 – Financial Reporting Model Improvements (Continued) 
 
In addition to the subtotals currently required in a proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in fund net position, this Statement requires that a subtotal for operating income (loss) and 
noncapital subsidies be presented before reporting other nonoperating revenues and expenses. Subsidies 
are defined as (1) resources received from another party or fund (a) for which the proprietary fund does 
not provide goods and services to the other party or fund and (b) that directly or indirectly keep the 
proprietary fund’s current or future fees and charges lower than they would be otherwise, (2) resources 
provided to another party or fund (a) for which the other party or fund does not provide goods and 
services to the proprietary fund and (b) that are recoverable through the proprietary fund’s current or 
future pricing policies, and (3) all other transfers. 
 
Budgetary Comparison Information – This Statement requires governments to present budgetary 
comparison information using a single method of communication—RSI. Governments also are required 
to present (1) variances between original and final budget amounts and (2) variances between final 
budget and actual amounts. An explanation of significant variances is required to be presented in notes to 
RSI. 
 
How the Changes in This Statement Will Improve Financial Reporting  
 
The requirements for MD&A will improve the quality of the analysis of changes from the prior year, 
which will enhance the relevance of that information. They also will provide clarity regarding what 
information should be presented in MD&A.  
 
The requirements for the separate presentation of unusual or infrequent items will provide clarity 
regarding which items should be reported separately from other inflows and outflows of resources.  
 
The definitions of operating revenues and expenses and of nonoperating revenues and expenses will 
replace accounting policies that vary from government to government, thereby improving comparability. 
The addition of a subtotal for operating income (loss) and noncapital subsidies will improve the 
relevance of information provided in the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes 
in fund net position.  
 
The requirement for presentation of major component unit information will improve comparability.  
 
The requirement that budgetary comparison information be presented as RSI will improve comparability, 
and the inclusion of the specified variances and the explanations of significant variances will provide 
more useful information for making decisions and assessing accountability. 
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ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER 
CONSERVATION AGENCY – ZONE 7 WATER AGENCY 

MEMORANDUM ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
SCHEDULE OF OTHER MATTERS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 

EFFECTIVE FISCAL YEAR 2026/27: 

GASB 104 – Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets 

State and local governments are required to provide detailed information about capital assets in notes to 
financial statements. GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements—and Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis—for State and Local Governments, requires certain information regarding 
capital assets to be presented by major class.  The objective of this Statement is to provide users of 
government financial statements with essential information about certain types of capital assets. 

This Statement requires certain types of capital assets to be disclosed separately in the capital assets note 
disclosures required by Statement 34.  Lease assets recognized in accordance with GASB Statement No. 
87, Leases, and intangible right-to-use assets recognized in accordance with GASB Statement No. 94, 
Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements, should be 
disclosed separately by major class of underlying asset in the capital as-sets note disclosures. 
Subscription assets recognized in accordance with GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based 
Information Technology Arrangements, also should be separately disclosed. In addition, this Statement 
requires intangible assets other than those three types to be disclosed separately by major class. 

This Statement also requires additional disclosures for capital assets held for sale. A capital asset is a 
capital asset held for sale if (a) the government has decided to pursue the sale of the capital asset and (b) 
it is probable that the sale will be finalized within one year of the financial statement date. Governments 
should consider relevant factors to evaluate the likelihood of the capital asset being sold within the 
established time frame. This Statement requires that capital assets held for sale be evaluated each 
reporting period. Governments should disclose (1) the ending balance of capital assets held for sale, with 
separate disclosure for historical cost and accumulated depreciation by major class of asset, and (2) the 
carrying amount of debt for which the capital assets held for sale are pledged as collateral for each major 
class of asset. 

How the Changes in This Statement Will Improve Financial Reporting 

The requirements of this Statement will improve financial reporting by providing users of financial 
statements with essential information about certain types of capital assets in order to make informed 
decisions and assess accountability. Additionally, the disclosure requirements will im-prove consistency 
and comparability between governments. 
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 
Board of Directors 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water  
Conservation Agency – Zone 7 Water Agency 
Livermore, California 
 
We have audited the basic financial statements of the Alameda County Flood Control and Water 
Conservation Agency – Zone 7 Water Agency (Agency), California, for the year ended June 30, 2025.  
Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under 
generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, as well as certain 
information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such 
information in our letter to you dated April 28, 2025. Professional standards also require that we 
communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Matters 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Accounting Policies – Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting 
policies.  The significant accounting policies used by the Agency are described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements.  No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not 
changed during the year, except as follows: 
 
The following pronouncements became effective, but did not have a material effect on the financial 
statements: 
 

GASB 101 – Compensated Absences 
GASB 102 – Certain Risk Disclosures 

 
Unusual Transactions, Controversial or Emerging Areas – We noted no transactions entered into by the 
Agency during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant 
transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.   
 
Accounting Estimates – Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events 
and assumptions about future events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of 
their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting 
them may differ significantly from those expected.  The most sensitive estimates affecting the Agency’s 
financial statements were: 
 

Estimated Net Pension Liability and Pension-Related Deferred Outflows and Inflows of 
Resources:  Management’s estimate of the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of 
resources are disclosed in Note 6 to  the financial statements and are based on actuarial studies 
determined by a consultant, which are based on the experience of the Agency.  We evaluated the 
key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimate in determining that it is reasonable in 
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
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Estimated Net OPEB Liability:  Management’s estimate of the net OPEB liability is disclosed in 
Note 7 to the financial statements and is based on actuarial study determined by a consultant, 
which is based on the experience of the Agency.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions 
used to develop the estimate in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

Estimate of Depreciation:  Management’s estimate of the depreciation is based on useful lives 
determined by management.  These lives have been determined by management based on the 
expected useful life of assets as disclosed in Note 1H to the financial statements.  We evaluated 
the key factors and assumptions used to develop the depreciation estimate in determining that it 
is reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Estimate of Compensated Absences:  Accrued compensated absences which are comprised of 
accrued vacation, holiday, and certain other compensating time is estimated using accumulated 
unpaid leave hours and hourly pay rates in effect at the end of the fiscal year as disclosed in Note 
1L to the financial statements.  We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop 
the accrued compensated absences in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole. 

Disclosures – The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. We did not propose any audit adjustments that, in our judgment, could have a significant 
effect, either individually or in the aggregate, on the Agency’s financial reporting process. 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely uncorrected misstatements 
identified during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the 
appropriate level of management.  We have no such misstatements to report to the Board of Directors. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor's report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in a management 
representation letter dated November 25, 2025. 
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Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the Agency’s financial statements or a determination of the type 
of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the 
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our 
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Agency’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information that accompanies and 
supplements the basic financial statements.  Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management 
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We did not audit the required supplementary information 
and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the required supplementary information. 

We were engaged to report on the supplementary information that accompanies the financial statements, 
but is not required supplementary information.  With respect to this supplementary information, we 
made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the 
information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared 
and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

We were not engaged to report on the Introductory and Statistical Sections which accompany the financial 
statements, but are not required supplementary information.  Such information has not been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.   

***** 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management and is not 
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Pleasant Hill, California 
November 25, 2025 
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ITEM NO. 15 

 
 

 

 

ORIGINATING DIVISION: Administrative Services  
CONTACT PERSON: Osborn Solitei   
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority Water Revenue Bonds, 2018 & 2023 

Series A for the Year Ended June 30, 2025, Update 
 
SUMMARY: 

 
The Livermore Valley Water Financing Authority (the “Authority”) was formed on November 1, 
2017 to assist in the financing of public capital improvements. The Authority is a joint exercise 
agency organized under the laws of the State of California and is composed of the Alameda 
County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, Zone 7 (the “Agency”) and the 
California Statewide Communities Development Authority. The Agency Board of Directors 
serves as the governing board of the Authority. The Authority transactions are reported in 
Water Enterprise Operations and Water Enterprise Capital Expansion funds. 
 
2018 Water Revenue Bonds, Series A 
 
As of June 30, 2025, the Agency had $55.1 million in outstanding debt and $3.1 million of 
unamortized bond premium. The bond proceeds of the issuance are used for the 2018 Water 
Project which includes $57 million for Del Valle Water Treatment Plant and Patterson Pass 
Water Treatment Plant ozone projects and refunding of $14.1 million capital payments in 
connection with the Cawelo Water District Certificates of Participation, Series 2006 for the 
Groundwater Banking Program. 
 
All bond proceeds from the 2018 Water Revenue Bonds have been exhausted and the 2018 
Water Projects completed. 
 
2023 Water Revenue Bonds, Series A 
 
As of June 30, 2025, the Agency had $28.4 million in outstanding debt and $1 million of 
unamortized bond premium. The bond proceeds of the issuance are used for the 2023 Water 
Project which includes the Chain of Lakes Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) 
Treatment Facility Project.  
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Other Financing (Sources) – Bond Proceeds:  The Authority bond proceeds are invested in 
accordance with the Trust Agreement between the Authority and U.S. Bank National 
Association (as Bond Trustee). 
 
As of June 30, 2025, the fair market values of the Authority bond proceeds (restricted cash 
and investments) held by bond trustee were $11,434,158. Fair market value amounts are from 
U.S. Bank which provides trustee services for the Authority. Book value amounts include 
premiums or discounts and are adjusted at year end on the general ledger. 
 
Other Financing (Uses) – Bond Proceeds:  As of June 30, 2025, the actual cost of issuance and 
construction monthly progress payments for Chain of Lakes PFAS Treatment Facility Project 
was $18,694,480. 
 
Interest and Investment Income:  As of June 30, 2025, the bond proceeds held by the bond 
trustee earned $1,640,240 of interest and investment income. 
 
Arbitrage: Under U.S. Treasury Department regulations, all governmental tax-exempt debt 
issued after August 31, 1986 is subject to arbitrage rebate requirements. The requirements 
stipulate, in general, that the earnings from the investment of tax-exempt bond proceeds that 
exceed related interest expenditures on the bonds must be remitted to the federal government 
on every fifth anniversary of each bond issue.  
 
The Agency has evaluated the 2023 Water Revenue Bonds issue subject to the arbitrage 
rebate requirements and has a rebatable arbitrage liability of $100,376 as of June 30, 2025. 
 
FUNDING: 
 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Information only. 



ITEM NO. 18 
 

 

 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Office of the General Manager 
CONTACT: Valerie Pryor 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Recommend Approval of a Candidate Statement Funding Policy 
 
SUMMARY:  
 
The proposed action is in support of Strategic Plan Goal F – Effective Operations: Provide the 
Agency with effective leadership, administration and governance.  
 
At the November 19, 2025 meeting, the Board of Directors considered a draft policy related to 
the funding of candidate statements. The draft continued past practice of not funding 
candidate statements while providing funding for indigent candidates. The Board referred the 
item back to the Administrative Committee for further discussion and asked the Committee to 
consider options for partial or no funding of candidate statements, including provisions for 
indigent candidates. 
 
At its December 8, 2025 meeting, the Administrative Committee reviewed these options and 
unanimously recommended a policy that continues the past practice of not providing funding 
for candidate statements and not providing funding for indigent candidates. 
 
The Administrative Committee recommends that the Board adopt the attached draft Candidate 
Statement Funding Policy. The key component of the attached draft policy is: 
 

• Candidate statement funding: Consistent with past practice and Board direction on 
September 20, 2023, Zone 7 will not fund candidate statements. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
Each candidate in the General Election for the office of Director of Zone 7 Water Agency may 
file a candidate’s statement, as provided for in the Elections Code. The statement may include 
the candidate’s name, age, occupation, and a brief description (up to 200 words) of the 
candidate’s education and qualifications. 
 
Zone 7 Board candidates who wish to have a statement printed on the ballot are charged the 
actual costs associated with printing, translation (Spanish, Chinese, Tagalog, and Vietnamese), 
and typesetting. All cost figures are provided by the Registrar of Voters and are based on 
actual costs and the number of registered voters in Zone 7. There is no charge for 
candidates who choose not to submit a ballot statement. 
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Costs 
 
The estimated cost of a statement of qualifications is provided by the Registrar of Voters. The 
Registrar typically collects the estimated cost at the time of filing. If actual costs are lower, 
candidates receive refunds; if actual costs exceed the estimate, Zone 7 bills candidates for the 
difference. There is no charge for candidates who choose not to have a ballot statement.  
 
For the 2024 election, the Registrar of Voters provided an estimated cost of $4,450. Actual 
costs were $5,197.69 for the full-term (four-year) seat and $20,790.78 for the short-term 
(two-year) seat. 
 
The Committee noted that the cost of candidate statements has been increasing. A recent 
history of costs for four-year terms is provided in the table below.  
 

Year Cost (4-year term) 

2024 $ 5,263 

2022 $ 3,816 

2020 $ 3,767 

2018 $ 2,629 

2016 $ 2,320 

 
Peer Agency Practices 
 
Practices of nearby agencies is as follows: 
 

Agency Funding? Amount 

Alameda County Water District Yes 50% of total 

Contra Costa County Water District No  

City of Dublin No  

Dublin San Ramon Services District Yes Amount over $250 

East Bay Municipal Utilities District Yes Amount over $1,000 

City of Livermore No  

City of Pleasanton  No  
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At the November 19, 2025 Board meeting, the Board requested information on costs from 
neighboring jurisdictions. This information is included in the table below; however, staff 
recommends caution in drawing comparisons. Zone 7 ballots are distributed to a substantially 
larger number of voters than those of neighboring districts, resulting in cost differences. The 
information shown reflects only the jurisdictions that responded. 
 

Agency Population Funding? Amount 
Average Cost of 

Statement 
(District) 

Average 
Cost of 

Statement 
(Citywide) 

Alameda County 
Water District 

>348,000 Yes 50% of 
total 

$2,425.29 total for 
2024, cost to 
District was 
$1,212.80 

n/a 

Contra Costa 
County Water 
District 

313,735 No   Based on Division 
Voter Population 
$1,285-$1,512 

n/a 

City of Dublin Candidate statement fees depend on how many candidates are running for 
each position. The cost depends on the number of registered voters who 
receive the voter guide in each district or city (for Mayor), and then that cost 
is divided among each candidate for that position who printed a statement. 

Candidates pay the full cost; the city does not subsidize. There is a set 
deposit, and then a refund is provided, or the difference is invoiced. 

Dublin San 
Ramon Services 
District 

192,000 Yes, DSRSD 
pays any 
balance over 
the required 
$250 deposit 
from the 
candidate or 
will reimburse 
the candidate 
if the cost is 
less than 
$250 or 
return the 
check if the 
cost is $0 
(uncontested) 

The 
candidate 
pays a flat 
amount of 
$250 upon 
filing the 
candidate 
statement. 

Will vary. For 
2024,   
$756 was the 
statement cost for 
the two Division 3 
candidates; the 
Division 1 and 5 
races were not 
contested so $0. 

n/a 

East Bay 
Municipal Utilities 
District 

1,400,000 Yes Amount 
over 
$1,000 

$366 - $3,842 n/a 
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Agency Population Funding? Amount 
Average Cost of 
Statement 
(District) 

Average 
Cost of 

Statement 
(Citywide) 

City of Livermore 82,908 No The full 
cost of the 
printing 
and 
translating 
in the 
voter 
guide. 

Last year, the 
average cost per 
candidate was 
$448.16. It varies 
based on how many 
candidates run in a 
district. 
• District 3 the 

total had three 
candidates: 
total cost 
$1,160.99/3= 
$387.00 

• District 4 had 
two 
candidates: 
total cost 
$1079.79/2 
=$539.90 

Last year 
the Mayor’s 
candidate 
state cost 
$3,450.01. 

City of 
Pleasanton 

Pleasanton has district-based elections, except for the office of mayor, which 
is elected at-large. Average costs are difficult to calculate across the different 
districts and citywide due to variables such as the number of candidates, 
measures, etc. The City of Pleasanton usually collects an initial deposit and 
then either refunds or collects the remaining balance after invoices are 
received from the County. 

 
FUNDING: 
 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Adopt the attached Resolution. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
• Resolution 

• Draft Policy



 

 

ZONE 7 
ALAMEDA COUNTY FLOOD CONTROL AND WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 25- 

 
INTRODUCED BY DIRECTOR  
SECONDED BY DIRECTOR  

 
Adopt a Candidate Statement Funding Policy 

 
WHEREAS, proposed action is in support of Strategic Plan Goal F – Effective Operations: 

Provide the Agency with effective leadership, administration and governance; and 
 

WHEREAS, on September 20, 2023, the Board of Directors continued the Zone 7 
practice of not funding statements and directed the Administrative Committee to develop a 
policy; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Administrative Committee considered various aspects of candidate 
statement funding.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of Zone 7 of the 
Alameda County Flood Control and Water Conservation District, does hereby adopt the 
attached Candidate Statement Funding Policy. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTE: 
 
AYES:  
 
NOES:  
 
ABSENT:  
 
ABSTAIN:  
 
 

 
I certify that the foregoing is a correct copy of a 
Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of 
Zone 7 of the Alameda County Flood Control and 
Water Conservation District on December 17, 2025. 
 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
      President, Board of Directors 
 



 

 

 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

POLICY TITLE: 
Candidate Statement Policy 

NUMBER: 
2025-01 

PAGE: 
1 of 2 

APPROVED BY: 
 

REVISION: 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE: 
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1. AUTHORITY 
 
Zone 7 Water Agency (“Agency”) is a special district formed and operating under the Alameda 
County Flood Control and Water Conservation District Act (“District Act”). The Agency is 
governed by a seven-member Board of Directors. The Board is the legislative body that 
governs the Agency, sets the Agency’s policies, hires its General Manager, appoints its officers, 
and is ultimately responsible and accountable to the residents of Zone 7. It exercises these 
powers pursuant to Section 36 of the District Act.  
 
2. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 
 
This policy establishes Zone 7’s policy for the recovery of the cost of the publication of a 
candidate’s statement by a candidate for election to the Zone 7 Board, pursuant to Elections 
Code Sections 10509 and 13307. 
 
3. GENERAL 
 
Each candidate for a position on the Zone 7 Board of Directors may file a 200-word candidate 
statement to be circulated with ballot materials. The candidate’s statement may include the 
name, age and occupation of the candidate and a brief description of no more than 200 words 
about the candidate’s education and qualifications. The statements will be printed on the ballot 
and will be translated to languages consistent with federal laws and State Elections Code 
13301(b). 
 
4. COST RECOVERY 
 

Zone 7 board candidates who submit statements of qualification for inclusion on the ballot will 
be charged the actual costs associated with printing, translating (Spanish, Chinese, Tagalog, 
English and Vietnamese) and typesetting the statements. All cost figures are provided by the 
Alameda County Registrar of Voters and are based on actual costs and the number of 
registered voters in Zone 7. There is no charge for candidates who choose not to have 
a ballot statement. 
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5. ADVANCE DEPOSIT AND PAYMENT 
 
The estimated cost of the statement of qualifications is provided by the Registrar of Voters 
prior to the election. The Registrar of Voters will collect this estimated cost from each 
candidate that chooses to have a statement of qualifications printed on the ballot at the time 
of filing. If actual costs are less than the estimate, candidates will receive refunds. If the costs 
are more, Zone 7 will bill each candidate for the difference. There is no charge for candidates 
who choose not to have a ballot statement. 
 
6. HISTORY 
 

Date Action Resolution 

   

 



ITEM NO. 19a 

 

 

ZONE 7 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
SUMMARY NOTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE 

 
November 12, 2025 

3:00 p.m. 
 
Directors Present: Dawn Benson 

 Catherine Brown 
 Kathy Narum 

 
Staff Present:  Valerie Pryor, General Manager 

 Chris Hentz, Assistant General Manager - Engineering 
 Osborn Solitei, Treasurer/Assistant General Manager – Finance 

 JaVia Green, Financial Analyst 
 Donna Fabian, Executive Assistant 

 

 
1. Call Meeting to Order 
 
Director Narum called the meeting to order at 3:07 p.m. 
 
2. Public Comment on Items Not on the Agenda 
 
There were no public comments. 
 
3. Investment Report as of September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 
 
Justin Resuello from PFM Asset Management presented the quarterly Investment Report and 
reviewed recent economic and market conditions. He noted that the Federal Reserve’s primary 
focus continues to be the weakening labor market, which has contributed to two recent 25-
basis-point rate cuts in September and October. Falling rates positively affected Zone 7’s 
portfolio by increasing market values of existing higher-coupon holdings. Mr. Resuello 
reviewed long-term economic indicators, including inflation, unemployment trends rising above 
4%, and consumption and GDP data, both of which rebounded after concerns earlier in the 
year about tariff-related price increases. He provided an update on the Fed’s preferred 
inflation measure, noting that economists expect inflation to rise in the near term as tariff 
impacts work through the economy, followed by expected decreases approximately a year out. 
Employment data from ADP and Challenger, Gray & Christmas show slowing job growth and 
significant layoffs, particularly in the tech sector, and Mr. Resuello emphasized that rising 
unemployment remains the Fed’s biggest concern. 
 
Mr. Resuello reviewed the Fed’s most recent summary of economic projections and highlighted 
a divided outlook among Fed members, as reflected in the dot plot. Some members support 
holding rates higher due to inflation concerns, while others, focused on labor data, anticipate 
additional rate cuts in 2025. Treasury yields continued to decline during the quarter, 
particularly in shorter maturities. Corporate, asset-backed, and mortgage-backed security 
spreads tightened substantially, reducing relative value compared to Treasuries. As a result, 
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Zone 7 repositioned more assets into U.S. Treasuries for liquidity and flexibility ahead of 
expected heavy issuance in early 2026. 
 
Mr. Resuello then reviewed Zone 7’s portfolio, noting that all allocations and maturities remain 
in compliance with the Investment Policy and state code. The investment program increased 
from $154 million to $161 million during the quarter. Portfolio duration (2.46 years) remains 
closely aligned with the benchmark and is maintained conservatively. Yield at cost rose slightly 
to 4.12%, with a market yield of 3.88%, and overall credit quality remains strong, with 
approximately 80% of holdings rated AA or higher. Treasury holdings account for 46.4% of 
the portfolio, with modest increases in corporate and asset-backed securities. Zone 7 added 
$9.6 million in new Treasuries, $1.9 million in corporate securities, and $6.8 million in asset-
backed securities. Third-quarter performance remained strong, with $1.4 million in interest 
income, a $519,000 increase in market value, and total returns just under $2 million (1.25%, 
or 11 basis points above the benchmark). Mr. Resuello added that interest earnings have 
exceeded $1 million for five consecutive quarters and are expected to remain strong due to 
the portfolio’s two-year duration. 
 
Director Benson asked about expectations for rate movements going into the next quarter 
given uncertainty surrounding economic data availability. Mr. Resuello explained that private 
sources such as Challenger and ADP have been helpful in the absence of federal data and that 
the CME FedWatch tool currently reflects about a 70% probability of a December rate cut. 
Director Narum asked follow-up questions regarding portfolio repositioning, Fed governance 
changes, and management fees. Mr. Resuello clarified that fees for the quarter were 
approximately two basis points, resulting in net performance of 1.23%. He also discussed how 
potential changes in Federal Reserve appointments could influence policymaking but 
emphasized that broad consensus among committee members typically limits dramatic shifts 
in rate decisions. 
 
4. Proposed Municipal and Industrial Water Connection Fees for Calendar Year 

2026 
 
JaVia Green, Financial Analyst, presented background on the Zone 7 municipal and industrial 
water connection fee, which was established in 1972 to ensure new development pays its own 
way. In accordance with Board policy, the fee is adjusted annually based on the Engineering 
News Record (ENR) Construction Cost Index to keep pace with inflation. The last 
comprehensive connection fee study was completed in FY 2016–17, and an update is currently 
underway with completion expected in spring 2026. For the 2026 calendar year fees, staff 
recommended applying the ENR index change from September 2024 to September 2025, 
resulting in a 2.2% increase. Pending adoption, the new fees would take effect February 1, 
2026, after the required 60-day implementation period. The proposed adjustment would 
increase the Alameda County fee from $34,910 to $35,670 per equivalent connection and the 
Dougherty Valley fee from $33,490 to $34,220. 
 
Director Narum noted recent comments regarding the level of Zone 7’s fees and observed 
that, based on comparison  to other agencies, Zone 7’s fees are among the highest in the 
region aside from East Bay MUD. She asked whether regional growth patterns may be 
influencing these differences. Ms. Green responded that Zone 7’s service area has experienced 
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more sustained development compared to other Bay Area agencies on the list, and that the 
comparison to East Bay MUD is more reasonable for areas such as Danville and San Ramon, 
where growth patterns are more similar. Staff also explained that Zone 7 is one of two  State 
Water Project contractors on the comparison list, and that large capital projects, such as the 
$300 million South Bay Aqueduct Improvement and Enlargement Project, are funded through 
the connection fee.  
 
Director Narum expressed support for ensuring growth pays its share but emphasized the 
importance of having clear explanations for retailers and residents given the fee comparisons. 
She moved to forward the item to the November Board meeting for adoption. The motion was 
seconded and approved unanimously. 
 
5. Proposed Conflict of Interest Policy for Progressive Design-Build Delivery 

Projects 
 
Staff presented a proposed Conflict of Interest Policy for progressive design-build projects, 
noting that the policy supports Strategic Plan Goals B, C, and H. Progressive design-build 
procurement became available under the Public Contract Code in January 2023 and allows the 
Agency to deliver up to 15 projects per year exceeding $5 million. This delivery method is 
consistent with Zone 7’s Purchasing Policy, and the Agency is currently procuring a progressive 
design-builder for the Mocho PFAS Project. The Public Contract Code requires agencies using 
this method to adopt conflict-of-interest guidelines. The draft policy meets those requirements 
by prohibiting consultants or contractors with conflicts, such as those who helped develop a 
solicitation, those proposed to provide construction management or oversight, or those with 
conflicts under Government Code 1090, from submitting proposals or joining a design-build 
team. 
 
Director Narum asked who at Zone 7 would be responsible for ensuring no conflicts exist. Staff 
explained that the burden is placed on contractors and consultants under state law, and 
procurement documents explicitly notify proposers of the requirement. Contractors are 
generally very cautious due to the severe penalties for violations, including contracts being 
deemed void and payments subject to repayment. Staff added that while the responsibility lies 
with consultants and contractors, Zone 7 reviews proposals and would flag any potential 
conflicts based on prior work or relationships, coordinating with legal counsel as needed. 
Osborn Solitei, Treasurer/Assistant General Manager – Finance, noted that in his role as 
Purchasing Agent, he ultimately approves all contracts and ensures they comply with the 
Agency’s Purchasing Policy, which already includes conflict-of-interest provisions for Agency 
staff and officials. 
 
Director Narum expressed concern that despite contractor obligations, a violation could still 
reflect poorly on Zone 7. She recommended clarifying within the policy that it supplements the 
Agency’s Purchasing Policy and referencing the relevant section. Staff and the General 
Manager agreed to add this language under Section 3 (Applicability) to address the concern. 
Director Narum also suggested including an attestation in future contracts confirming that 
proposers have read the policy and have no applicable conflicts; staff will consult legal counsel 
on how best to implement that. 
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With the addition of the clarifying sentence in Section 3, the Committee expressed support for 
the policy and recommended forwarding it to the full Board. 
 
6. Adjournment 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 3:55 p.m. by Director Benson. 



ITEM NO. 22a 

 

 
 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Office of the General Manager  
CONTACT: Valerie Pryor 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: General Manager’s Report 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
The following highlights a few of the key activities that occurred last month. Also attached is a 
list of the General Manager (GM) contracts executed during November. 
 
Integrated Water Resources: 
 
Initial 2026 State Water Project (SWP) Allocation: On December 1, DWR announced an 
initial 2026 SWP allocation of 10%, which amounts to 8,060 AF for Zone 7. The allocation is 
typically adjusted as hydrologic and operational conditions evolve throughout the year. The 
initial allocation was based on several factors, including observed conditions through mid-
November, assumed dry hydrologic conditions in 2026, SWP operational and regulatory 
requirements, and existing storage in SWP facilities.  
 
Delta Conveyance Project (DCP): The Department of Water Resources (DWR) submitted 
its Certification for Delta Plan Consistency for the DCP to the Delta Stewardship Council on 
October 17. The 30-day appeals period closed the week of November 17, with ten appeals 
submitted. DWR is preparing responses to the appeals, and the Council is anticipated to make 
a final decision on the certification in Q1 2026. This is a key permit for the project. As a 
reminder, DWR previously submitted a narrower Certification of Consistency for geotechnical 
activities only in late 2024, which was approved in January 2025. 
 
Sites Reservoir: The Sites Reservoir Committee and Authority Board met on November 21. 
The Sites Project Authority will be purchasing property to support construction of the Sites 
dam and associated infrastructure, its fourth property acquisition. The Authority continues 
developing updated project information (e.g., costs, benefits, and other details) to support 
participation decisions. This information will be summarized in the Program Baseline Report, 
expected to be finalized in March 2026. 
 
Potential Water Exchange Program: Staff continues to explore a potential water exchange 
with Irvine Ranch Water District (IRWD). Draft terms are currently under review for 
negotiation. If mutually acceptable, staff may bring recommendations to the Board as early as 
January. Under a potential agreement, IRWD and Zone 7 would implement an Exchange 



 

  

Program allowing Zone 7 to deliver SWP water into storage on a 2-for-1 basis at IRWD’s share 
of newly constructed capacity for the Kern Fan Groundwater Storage Project Phase I. No 
capital investment is required for the Phase I project. Zone 7 would be able to deposit up to 
15,000 AF of surplus water and recover up to 50% of that amount from the SWP via exchange 
through Metropolitan Water District.  
 
Engineering and Water Quality: 
 
PFAS Monitoring: Fourth-quarter PFAS sampling results indicate no detection of PFAS in 
treated water delivered to customers. The quarterly PFAS monitoring summary report is 
available on the Zone 7 website: www.zone7waterca.gov/sites/main/files/file-
attachments/pfas_q4_2025_delivered_water_summary_20251203.pdf 
 
Mocho PFAS Treatment Plant: The Mocho PFAS Treatment Plant will remove PFAS from 
Mocho wellfield supplies to meet drinking water standards and restore production capacity and 
supply reliability. The proposed project site includes adjacent parcels separately owned by the 
City of Pleasanton and Dublin San Ramon Services District. Staff is conducting rights-of-way 
assessments and appraisals to support parcel acquisition. The Request for Proposals for 
progressive design-build services was issued on September 29, and the proposal deadline was 
extended to December 29 to ensure compliance with US EPA and Drinking Water State 
Revolving Fund Disadvantaged Business Enterprise requirements. For CEQA compliance, the 
initial study has been completed, and the consultant is preparing the Mitigated Negative 
Declaration, anticipated for completion in early 2026. 
 
Flood Management Plan Phase 2a: The consultant team, in coordination with Zone 7 staff 
and the hydraulic modeling consultant, is evaluating locations susceptible to channel 
overtopping during flood events. A public outreach plan has been finalized to explain the 
methodology for identifying flood mitigation solutions. This initiative will create opportunities 
to engage partner agencies and the broader community, ensuring stakeholder feedback is 
incorporated into the development of project alternatives. Public open house meetings are 
planned for early January. 
  
2023 Storm Damage Repairs: Zone 7 has received all regulatory permits for the Phase 1 
storm damage repairs (50 sites) and the High Priority Repair Project (3 sites). Construction 
contracts have been awarded, with work scheduled to begin in June 2026. 
  

http://www.zone7waterca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/pfas_q4_2025_delivered_water_summary_20251203.pdf
http://www.zone7waterca.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/pfas_q4_2025_delivered_water_summary_20251203.pdf


 

  

 
 

Monthly List of GM Contracts 
 

Contracts 
 

Amount Purpose 

Firecode Safety Equipment, Inc.  $3,760 Fire Extinguisher Services 

   

   

Total November 2025 $3,760  

 
 
 
 



ITEM NO. 22b 

 

 
 
 
 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Office of the General Manager 
CONTACT: Donna Fabian 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: November Outreach Activities 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
In alignment with the Agency’s 2025–2029 Strategic Plan Goal G – Stakeholder Engagement, 
Zone 7 is dedicated to fostering understanding of community needs, the Agency, and its 
functions. Initiative #19 emphasizes transparency and effective communication as essential for 
building trust and upholding our commitment to customer service and integrity. The Agency 
shares proactive updates, promotes key initiatives, and engages stakeholders through 
education campaigns, outreach programs, and digital tools. This report highlights progress and 
key activities that strengthen community relationships and advance these goals. 
 
Communications Updates: 
 
2025 Annual Report: Preparations continue for the 2025 Annual Report, covering the Fiscal 
Year 2024-25. The report is expected to be published in time for an announcement at the 
January Board meeting. 
 
Press: 
 

• Staff sent out the November e-newsletter. 

• No press releases were sent in November. 
 
Digital Overview: 
 
Website Overview 
 

● Users: 5,502 (-28.22%) | Page Views: 11,641 (-44.94%) | Sessions: 7,189 (-28.87%) 
● Top Pages: Homepage (2,110), Careers (599), Rebate Programs (1,042 total) 
● Traffic Sources: Direct 49.06%, Google organic 29.34%, Paid Search 8.25%, Referrals 

5.98% 
● Highlights: Seasonal lows are expected this time of year and typically rebound after the 

new year. Rebate pages continue to perform strongly due to the ongoing campaign. 
● NOTE: This is the first month that more traffic is going to the .gov domain than the 

.com domain, so the dashboard is now pulling directly from the new site. Dashboard 
comparisons do not reflect accurate increases or decreases; the numbers above do. 

  

https://us2.campaign-archive.com/?u=eab2963028f145e6852ce1949&id=de1ac121d8
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Social Media Snapshot 
 

● Facebook: 1,352 followers (-0.2%), 9 posts (-30.08%), 16,265 impressions (-46.4%) 
● LinkedIn: 875 followers (+14 followers in last 30 days), 213 Page Views (+2% unique 

visitors) 
● YouTube: 6,235 views (-37.27%), top video “Zone 7 Smart Irrigation Controller Rebate: 

Overspray is Out!” 
● Highlight: Paid engagement up 66.1% 

 
Email Outreach (Mailchimp) 
 

● Eblasts Sent: 2 | Deliveries: 2,612 | Avg. Open Rate: 39.4% | Clicks: 281 
● Highlights: Open rates remain above industry average; lower than usual engagement is 

seasonal and due to domain and technical challenges. 
 
Key Takeaways 
 

● Audience engagement remains high with an overall banner year, particularly for website 
traffic. 

● Paid social campaigns help drive traffic. 
● Rebate and project pages show sustained interest from the public. 

 
Outreach Updates 
 
Schools’ Program: 
 
Forty-six lessons were taught in November, with the same number scheduled for December. 
 
In-Person Events: 
 
Lawrence Elementary School Family Science Night 
Wednesday, January 14, 2026 |6:00 p.m.-7:30 p.m. | Lawrence Elementary School, Livermore 
Zone 7 has been invited to participate in Lawrence Elementary’s Interactive Family Science 
Night. We look forward to engaging with students and their families through fun, hands-on 
activities that highlight the importance of water in our community. 
 
Croce Elementary School Family Science Night 
Thursday, January 22, 2026 |6:00 p.m.-7:30 p.m. | Croce Elementary School, Livermore 
Zone 7 has been invited to participate in Croce Elementary’s Family Science Night. We look 
forward to once again engaging with Croce Elementary students and their family members. 
 
Dublin Elementary School Family Science Night 
Thursday, January 22, 2026 | 6:00 p.m.-8:00 p.m. | Dublin Elementary School, Dublin 
Zone 7 has been invited to participate in Dublin Elementary’s Family Science Night. We look 
forward to once again engaging with Dublin Elementary students and their families through 
fun, hands-on activities that highlight the importance of water in our community. 
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Marylin Avenue School Family Science Night 
Tuesday, January 27, 2026 | 6:00 p.m.-8:00 p.m. | Marilyn Avenue School, Livermore 
Once again, Zone 7 will partner with Marylin Avenue families to learn about the Upper 
Alameda Creek Watershed and the role that Zone 7 Water Agency plays in the community. 
 
Livermore Science Odyssey 
Thursday, February 26, 2026 | 5:00 p.m.-7:00 p.m. | Joe Michell School, Livermore 
Zone 7 will join other Livermore organizations in celebrating science at this district-wide annual 
event. We will engage with students and their families through a hands-on booth and sponsor 
a prize for the best water-focused project. 
 
Smith Elementary School Family Science Night 
Friday, March 20, 2026 | 4:00 p.m.-6:00 p.m. | Smith Elementary School, Livermore 
Zone 7 has been invited to participate in Smith Elementary’s Interactive Family Science Night. 
We look forward to engaging with students and their families through fun, hands-on activities 
that highlight the importance of water in our community. 
 
Ag & Enviro Adventure Day 
Tuesday, April 21, 2026 | 8:00 a.m.-3:00 p.m. |Livermore High School, Livermore 
For the tenth year, Zone 7 will participate in this organized event for Livermore third graders, 
featuring an interactive, movement-based activity that highlights our watershed and its 
connection to the community. 
 
Altamont Creek Earth Day Family Science Night 
Tuesday, April 28, 2026 | 6:00 p.m.-7:30 p.m. |Altamont Creek Elementary School, Livermore 
Zone 7 has been invited to participate alongside other exhibitors at this event focused on 
Science, Technology, Engineering, Art, and Math. We look forward to engaging with Altamont 
Creek Elementary students and their families through fun, hands-on activities that highlight 
the importance of water in our community. 
 
For the most up-to-date schedule of public events, please visit www.zone7water.com/calendar. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
 
November Website Dashboard 

https://www.zone7water.com/calendar
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Insights | November 2025

Insights & Opportunities

Website Summary: 

November saw a strong continuation of fall traffic, though at slightly lower volume than October. Website views reached 11,615 (-31.1%) and

sessions totaled 7.2K (-28.7%). While overall traffic declined from October’s peak, user quality and retention improved, reflected in a higher

engagement rate (46.04%, +4.5%). New users also remained strong at 5,134 (-29.9%), and total users reached 5,496 (-28.3%), indicating sustained

interest even with seasonal slowdowns and fewer promotional pushes compared to October. Top-performing pages remained consistent with long-

term trends. The homepage led with 2,118 views, followed by Careers (598 views) and high-demand rebate pages—including High Efficiency

Clothes Washer (452 views) and Landscape Conversion (434 views). These categories continue to anchor conservation-focused traffic.

Website Highlights: 

•Engagement Rate Improved: Despite lower overall traffic, user engagement rose to 46%, suggesting visitors were more purposeful and spending

more time on key pages.

• Rebate Pages Remain Top Drivers: Demand for conservation incentives persisted, with both washer and landscape rebate pages staying inside

the top five.

• Traffic Sources Consistent: Direct traffic (3,506 sessions) and Google organic (1,788 sessions) remained the two largest acquisition channels.

Paid Google contributed 583 sessions, showing continued value from search advertising.

Social Media Summary: 

November experienced slower performance month-over-month, driven primarily by reduced paid promotion and lighter content cadence. Total Reach

dropped to 2,637 (-85%), and impressions fell to 16,265 (-46.4%). Despite these declines, engagement per post improved significantly to 62.06

(+68.5%), indicating stronger responsiveness from the audience to fewer, more focused posts.  Posting frequency decreased to 9 total posts

(-30.8%), contributing to reduced reach. Page followers remained stable at 1,352 (-0.2%), showing retention consistency

Social Media Highlights: 

• Higher Engagement Quality: Although reach declined, users who did see the content interacted more, suggesting message relevance and

content strength.

• Paid Reach Decreased Sharply: Paid reach dropped by 85.6%, reflecting a major shift in amplification strategy and explaining most of the visibility

decline.

• Opportunity in Organic Engagement: Despite lower organic reach, post-level engagement suggests that creative and messaging are resonating

with the existing follower base.

Mailchimp Summary:  Email performance in November remained stable and strong with 2 eblasts sent and 2,612 total deliveries. The average

open rate held solid at 39.4%, indicating continued interest from subscribers. Total clicks reached 281, slightly lower than October but consistent

with fewer total sends.

• Key Metrics:  Eblasts Sent: 2 Total Deliveries: 2612 Average Open Rate: 39.4% Total Clicks: 281 New Signups: 3

 








• Rebate Content Dominates: All top-performing videos were tied to conservation rebates, mirroring website behavior.

• Stable Viewer Retention: Average view duration remained consistent, supporting successful video length and structure

• Cross-Channel Synergy: Rebate videos on YouTube correlate with strong rebate page performance on the website.

Opportunities for December & Winter Season

1. Re-activate Paid Social to Restore Reach: Major drops in paid reach drove November’s visibility decline. Even small budget allocations can

sharply increase impressions and traffic.

2. Leverage High-Intent Rebate Traffic: Website and YouTube data confirm rebate content is your strongest performer. December campaigns could

reinforce winter-related conservation incentives.

3. Continue High-Engagement Email Strategy: With open rates nearing 40%, newsletters remain a high-value channel for driving program

awareness and web conversions.

4. Boost Conversion-Focused CTAs: Improved engagement rate suggests users are ready to act—adding prominent CTAs for: Rebate

applications, Newsletter signups, Winter water-saving tips, Video subscriptions



ITEM NO. 22c 
 

 

 
ORIGINATING SECTION: Integrated Planning 
CONTACT: Sal Segura/Neeta Bijoor 
 
AGENDA DATE: December 17, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Monthly Water Inventory and Water Budget Update 
 
SUMMARY:  
 
To support its mission to deliver safe, reliable, efficient, and sustainable water, Zone 7 Water 
Agency (Zone 7) manages its water supply portfolio. This report summarizes current water 
supply, usage, and storage conditions to support Strategic Plan Goal B – Reliable Water Supply 
and Infrastructure and promote Strategic Plan Initiative #5 to develop a diversified water 
supply plan and implement supported projects and programs.  
 
The 2025 Annual Review of the Sustainable Water Supply Report, which discusses an overall 
analysis of the annual water supply, was presented to the Board on April 16. A summary of 
long-term water supply planning is also included in the Urban Water Management Plan 
(UWMP), which is updated every five years to assess water supply reliability on a 20-year 
planning horizon. The next update of the UWMP is due on July 1, 2026. These plans and 
evaluations consider the various sources of supply and storage available to Zone 7 locally, in 
State Water Project (SWP) facilities, and in Kern County storage and recovery programs. 
 

Summaries of 2025 Water Supplies, Deliveries, and Available Water 
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ZONE 7 WATER INVENTORY AND WATER BUDGET 
(November 2025) 

Supply and Demand (See Table 3, Figure 1, Figure 2, Figure 3, and Figure 4) 

• Monthly totals: 2,140 acre-feet (AF) delivered to customers (2,040 AF treated 
production and 100 AF estimated untreated deliveries).  

• Total treated water production decreased by 26% compared to last month.  

• Treated water sources were 49% surface water and 51% groundwater this month.  

o Treatment plant production was 10.9 million gallons per day (MGD).  

o Wellfield production was 11.2 MGD.  

Comparison of Demands: 2025 vs 2020 baseline (See Table 1) 

• In November 2025, Zone 7's overall water demands were 28% lower than those in 
November 2020: treated water production was 27% lower, and estimated untreated 
deliveries were 44% lower due to difference in climate.  

 
Table 1: November 2025 comparison – Treated and Untreated Demands 

 Treated 
Production 

Untreated 
Delivery 

Total 

November 2025 (AF) 2,040 100 2,140 

November 2020 (AF) 2,790 180 2,970 

November 2025 vs November 2020 27% lower 44% lower 28% lower 

Imported Water (See Table 2 and Table 3) 

• The 2025 State Water Project (SWP) allocation remains at 50%, which amounts to 
40,310 AF for Zone 7. Zone 7 has 18,740 AF of its 2025 Table A water allocation 
remaining. 

• On December 1, the Department of Water Resources (DWR) announced an initial 2026 
allocation of 10%. The allocation is subject to revision throughout the year as 
hydrologic and operational conditions develop. 

o The initial allocation was set based on several factors including observed 
conditions through mid-November, assumed dry hydrologic conditions in 2026, 
SWP operational and regulatory requirements, and existing storage in SWP 
facilities, among other factors.  
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Table 2: Available Water Supplies (as of December 1, 2025) 

Sources of Water Supplies Acre-Feet (AF) 

Table A  18,740 

Water Transfers/ Exchanges 0 

SWP Carryover Water  0 

Lake Del Valle (Carryover + New Yield) 5,100 

Livermore Valley Groundwater Basin  
(AF above Minimum Thresholds) 

122,600 

Kern Storage and Recovery Programs 106,400 

Total 252,840 

 

Groundwater (See Table 3 and Figure 5) 

• The Livermore Valley Groundwater Basin comprises four subbasins. The Basin’s 
estimated maximum storage capacity is 254,000 AF, including the storage capacity 
below the Minimum Thresholds established in the Alternative Groundwater 
Sustainability Plan. The estimated storage capacity above the Minimum Thresholds 
(operational storage) is 126,000 AF.  

• The Basin storage has peaked and is approximately 97% of operational storage 
capacity. 

• It is important to note that not all the storage above the Minimum Thresholds is 
accessible with Zone 7’s existing wells, as 80% of Zone 7’s groundwater facilities are in 
the Amador West subbasin. Furthermore, the presence of Per- and polyfluoroalkyl 
substances (PFAS) compounds in the groundwater basin has limited the use of some 
wells.  

• In November, the total pumping from Zone 7’s wellfields was approximately 1,000 AF, 
making up 51% of the treated supply. 

• Estimated groundwater basin outflow on the west side of the Basin was 29 AF in 
November. This groundwater spills into Arroyo De La Laguna due to a high groundwater 
level near the Arroyo.  

• In November, Zone 7 released 200 AF to artificially recharge Arroyo Valle and maintain 
a live stream as a condition of Zone 7’s water rights permit.  
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Stream Outflow (See Table 3) 

• Surface runoff exceeded the 10 cubic feet per second (CFS) baseflow at Arroyo De La 
Laguna at the Verona stream gauge for most of November, resulting in approximately 
2,300 AF of outflow. 

• Note: Some surface outflow from the Livermore-Amador Valley is mandated for other 
downstream purposes. 

Local Precipitation (See Figure 7) 

• 1.87 inches of precipitation was recorded at Livermore Airport in November. 

• As of December 1, Livermore has received 3.76 inches of rain for the water year to date 
or 161% of average. 

Sierra Precipitation (See Figure 8) 

• 7.7 inches of precipitation was recorded in the Northern Sierras in November. Historical 
average precipitation in November is 5.3 inches.  

• Cumulative precipitation in the Northern Sierra in Water Year 2026 is 10.7 inches, or 
126% of the average. 

Sierra Snowpack (See Figure 9) 

• As of mid-June, DWR stopped reporting Sierra snowpack. It is anticipated that DWR will 
resume snowpack reporting around December 2025, pending storm activity.  

Lake Oroville (See Figure 10) 

• As of November 30, 2025, Lake Oroville storage is at 51% of total capacity, 
representing 100% of average storage conditions for this date of the year. 

o Storage: 1,761,235 AF 

o Storage as a percentage of total capacity decreased by 2% over the month of 
November. 

San Luis Reservoir (See Figure 11) 

• San Luis Reservoir is a joint-use facility between the State Water Project and the 
Central Valley Project. Its total storage capacity is 2,041,000 AF, and the SWP’s share of 
the total capacity is 1,062,180 AF. As of November 30, 2025, the total reservoir storage 
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is 1,282,603 AF, of which approximately 905,000 AF belongs to SWP. Currently, the 
SWP's share of the reservoir capacity is 85% full. DWR’s recent modeling indicates a 
likelihood that DWR will fill their share of San Luis Reservoir in the next few months. 
Staff are tracking this and SWP operations.  

Lake Del Valle (See Table 3 and Figure 6) 

• Lake Del Valle holds 30,800 AF as of November 30, 2025.  

• Zone 7’s estimated water storage in Lake Del Valle at the end of November is 
approximately 5,100 AF.  

 
NOTE: Numbers presented are estimated and subject to refinement over the course of the 
year. 
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Table 3: Water Inventory 

 

2024 2025 2025 - YTD

Jan-Dec Nov Jan-Dec

Source

Incoming Supplies

   State Water Project (SWP) - Table A 23,140 1,310 21,570

   State Water Project - Article 21 0 0 0

   Lake Del Valle Local Water 5,290 0 7,870

   Water Transfers/Exchanges 0 0 0

   Subtotal 28,430 1,310 29,440

From Storage

   State Water Project - Carryover 25,240 0 9,170

   Livermore Valley Groundwater Basin 3,580 1,030 6,950

   Kern Storage and Recovery Programs 0 0 0

   Subtotal 28,820 1,030 16,120

Total Supply 57,250 2,340 45,560

Water Use

Customer Deliveries

   Treated Water Demand 1 35,440 2,040 32,890

   Untreated Water Demand 4,380 100 4,370

   Subtotal 39,820 2,140 37,260

To Storage

   Livermore Valley Groundwater Basin Recharge 6,180 200 3,300

   Kern Storage and Recovery Programs 10,000 0 5,000

   Subtotal 16,180 200 8,300

SWP Transfer 

   Napa County Repayment2 1,250 0 0

Total Water Use 57,250 2,340 45,560

Available Water Supplies

Incoming Supplies End-of-2024

   SWP - Table A (%) 40% 50% 50%

   SWP - Table A Remaining 0 18,740 18,740

   Water Transfers/Exchanges 0 0 0

   Subtotal 0 18,740 18,740

Storage Balance End-of-2024

   SWP Carryover 9,170 0 0

   Lake Del Valle Local Water 8,550 5,100 5,100

   Livermore Valley Groundwater Basin 3 124,000 122,600 122,600

   Kern Storage and Recovery Programs 101,900 106,400 106,400

   Subtotal 243,620 234,100 234,100

Total Available Water 243,620 252,840 252,840

Watershed Conditions End-of-2024

Precipitation at Livermore Station (in)4 16.1 1.87 9.76

Lake Del Valle Local Water Net Yield 9,290 0 4,580

Measured Change in Groundwater Basin Storage 0 -500 -1,400

Surface Water Outflow 5 43,910 2,320 15,860

4 Local precipitation reported in Table 3 for 2025YTD is reported on a calendar year basis. 
5 Surface Water Outflow is estimated based on flow at USGS gage Arroyo De La Laguna at Verona.    

Water Inventory for Zone 7 Water Agency

Note: Values are rounded. All units in AF unless noted otherwise. Subject to adjustment over the year.

1 Includes a small amount of unaccounted-for water.

3 Storage volume is based on most recent groundwater level data; amount shown excludes 128,000 AF of storage below the minimum thresholds.

2 In 2024, Zone 7 repaid Napa County for a water exchange agreement executed in 2020.
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Figure 1: Monthly Treated Water Production in Acre-Feet (AF) 

 

Figure 2: Monthly Treated Water Production 
in Average Million Gallons Per Day (MGD) 
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Figure 3: Pleasanton Estimated In-Lieu Demand  
(Based on 2018-2021 Pumping) 

 
*Pleasanton’s pumping data for November is not yet available and will be reflected in future inventories. 

 
Figure 4: California Water Service Estimated In-Lieu Demand 

(Based on 2018-2021 Pumping) 

 
*Cal Water’s pumping data for November is not yet available and will be reflected in future inventories. 
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Figure 5: Livermore Valley Groundwater Basin Storage* 

 
*The estimated groundwater basin storage represents the combined total storage from all four subbasins. 

 

Figure 6: Lake Del Valle Storage 

 
Source: https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWR-Website/ 

https://water.ca.gov/-/media/DWR-Website/
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Figure 7: Local Precipitation 
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Figure 8: Cumulative Precipitation in the North Sierra    

 
Source: http://cdec.water.ca.gov/cgi-progs/products/PLOT_ESI.pdf 

 

Figure 9: Sierra Snowpack   

 

DWR has stopped reporting snowpack for the season.  

Snowpack reports are expected to resume in December 2025.  

 
 

Source: https://cdec.water.ca.gov/reportapp/javareports?name=swccond.pdf 

 
 

file://///zone7-file.floodzone.zone7water.com/working_files/Integrated%20Planning/02_Projects%20and%20Programs/08%20Water%20Supply%20Planning/Water%20Inventory%20Template%202025/Source%20:%20http:/cdec.water.ca.gov/cgi-progs/products/PLOT_ESI.pdf
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/reportapp/javareports?name=swccond.pdf
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Figure 10: Lake Oroville Storage    

 
Source: https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=ORO 

 

Figure 11: San Luis Reservoir Storage 

 
Source: https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=SNL 

https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=ORO
https://cdec.water.ca.gov/resapp/ResDetail.action?resid=SNL
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